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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, February 16, 1967
(36)

The Standing Committee on National Defence met at 8:10 p.m. this day, the
Chairman, Mr. Groos, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Andras, Churchill, Deachman, Ethier, Fane,
Forrestall, Foy, Groos, Harkness, Langlois (Chicoutimi), Laniel, Lessard, Loi-

selle, Macaluso, McIntosh, McNulty, Nugent, Rochon, Stafford, and Mr. Winch
(20).

Also present: Messrs. Herridge, Hopkins, Kindt, MacRae, Moore (Wetas-
kiwin), Pugh, Rock and Mr. Stanbury.

In attendance: General Charles Foulkes; From the Department of National

Defence: Honourable Paul Hellyer, Minister; Honourable Léo Cadieux, Associate
Minister. { b

The Chairman introduced General Charles Foulkes who read a prepared
statement, copies of which were distributed to the members. General Foulkes

was questioned concerning subjects referred to in his brief, his military career
and on other defence matters.

At 10:10 p.m., with the questioning continuing, the Committee adjourned
until Friday, February 17, 1967 at 9:30 a.m. Lol
Hugh R. Stewart,
Clerk of the Committee.

Fripay, February 17, 1967.
(37)

The Standing Committee on National Defence met at 9:40 a.m. this day. The
Chairman, Mr. Groos, presided.

Members present: Messrs. Andras, Churchill, Deachman, Ethier, Foy, Groos,
Langlois (Chicoutimi), Laniel, Lessard, Loiselle, Macaluso, MacLean (Queens),
MacRae, McIntosh, McNulty, Nugent, Rochon, and Mr. Stafford (18).

Also present: Mr. Johnston.

In attendance: General Charles Foulkes; From the Department of National
Defence: Honourable Paul Hellyer, Minister; Air Marshal F. R. Sharp, Vice-
Chief Defence Staff; Major General M. R. Dare, Deputy Chief Reserves.

General Charles Foulkes continued to be questioned during this sitting of
the Committee. The questioning concerned his presentation to the Committee at

the previous sitting, his views on the implications of Bill C-243, and related
defence matters.
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The Committee agreed to table a letter from Admiral Welland, dated
February 17, 1967, which the Chairman read (Exhibit 1). The letter referred to
the question of privilege raised by Mr. Deachman at the morning sitting on
Thursday, February 16, 1967. Mr. Deachman stated that the point had been
clarified to his satisfaction and the question of privilege was withdrawn.

The Chairman announced that a meeting of the Subcommittee on Agenda
and Procedure would be held at 12:30 p.m. this day.

With .the questioning of General Foulkes to be continued at the next sitting,
the Committee adjourned until 2:30 p.m. this day.

AFTERNOON SITTING
(38)

The Standing Committee on National Defence met at 2:35 p.m. this day, the
Chairman, Mr, Groos, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Andras, Churchill, Deachman, Ethier, Foy, Groos,
Langlois (Chicoutimi), Laniel, Lessard, Loiselle, MacLean (Queens), MacRae,
McIntosh, McNulty, Nugent, Rochon, Stafford, and Mr. Winch (18).

Also present: Mr. Pugh and Mr. Woolliams.

In attendance: General Charles Foulkes; Mr. K. R. Patrick; From the
Department of National Defence: Honourable Paul Hellyer, Minister; Honour-
able Léo Cadieux, Associate Minister; Air Marshal F. R. Sharp, Vice-Chief
Defence Staff; Air Marshal E. M. Reyno, Chief of Personnel.

The Committee completed its questioning of General Charles Foulkes as the
first order of business at this sitting. At approximately 3:35 p.m., the Chairman
thanked General Foulkes for his testimony and the witness retired. The Com-
mittee recessed for five minutes.

The Committee resumed at 3:40 p.m. and the Chairman introduced the next
witness, Mr. K. R. Patrick of Montreal. Mr. Patrick read a prepared statement,
copies of which were distributed, along with the witness’s biography.

Mr. Patrick was questioned by the members concerning his brief, his Service
and business background and related defence matters.

The Chairman announced that the witness appearing on Monday, February
20, 1967, will be Lieutenant-General R. W. Moncel, and that the v&_ritnesses on
Tuesday, February 21, 1967, will be Air Marshal C. Annis and Air Vice-Marshal

M. Hendrick.
The Committee adjourned at 4:35 p.m., until February 20, 1967 at 3:30 p.m.

Hugh R. Stewart,
Clerk of the Committee.




EVIDENCE
(Recorded by Electronic Apparatus)

THURSDAY, February 16, 1967.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we have a quorum

As you know, we have with us today General Foulkes, former chairman of
the Chiefs of Staff Committee. I do not think General Foulkes needs any
introduction to anyone on this Committee. He is my former boss as chairman of
the Chiefs of Staff Committee, and he is now a neighbour of mine in Victoria.

I will ask General Foulkes if he will be kind enough to present his brief, but
before he does so I would like to make my apologies to him for delaying his
appearance before us. The fault was entirely mine, General Foulkes, and I am
very glad to see you here this evening.

General C. FouLkes (C.B., C.B.E,, D.S.0., C.D.): Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

First of all, I want to apologize for the miserable piece of paper that you
have before you I did not intend to provide this, but I was talking with your
clerk and he said that you would appreciate any piece of paper to save you
taking notes, even though it had a lot of mistakes in spelling, and in English, and
S0 on.

The truth of the matter is that I did not expect to be called as a witness
before this Committee. My written and spoken views on integration have been
quoted and misquoted on both sides of this controversy, and I had come to the
conclusion that nobody wanted to hear anything more from me on the subject. As
a result, I was able to read myself into the picture only when I arrived from
Victoria and was able to get the relevant documents. I have had to work around
the clock to make these few observations. Since I have no secretary, or stenogra-
pher, I had to pump these out on a very old-fashioned portable typewriter that
does not even know how to spell! I hope you will excuse these remarks, and I
hope I did not make any rude remarks in pencil on the sides of this, which I did
not intend you to see.

As you all well know, I appeared before this Committee three years ago. At
that time I put forward my views on some of the current defence problems. At
that meeting on October 22, 1963, as the result of a question put to me by Mr.
Winch, I put forward an outline plan for the integration of the armed services. I

am therefore gratified that you have given me the opportunity to comment on
the final stages of this enterprise.

I thought it might be of interest to you to know that the outline I presented
three years ago was based on a paper I was asked to produce for the RCAF Staff
College Journal, I was down there giving a lecture and they asked me to produce
a paper. This paper was rejected and returned to me as being too revolutionary
for the RCAF Journal to take the risk of publishing. However, that plan did not

visualize penetrating as deeply into the combat elements as does the plan before
you.
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Furthermore, the method of implementing the plan visualized a much
slower pace and a less rugged approach. When this integration scheme was first
introduced I was quite surprised that it was accepted so readily. However,
perhaps this was only too obvious. The choice was between an increase in
defence spending or the streamlining of the military machine; and of course, the
choice for the government, as well as for the taxpayer was very easy.

After a very enthusiastic start, however, there arose a spate of rumours in
the press and elsewhere about the slipping of morale and frustration and
confusion in the officer corps. The confusion and frustration may have been the
result of the over-emphasis on the forcible retirement scheme, but in my view
the absence of an outline plan indicating the extent and ramifications of this
scheme was also a prime factor.

It is my view that a lot of the frustration, confusion and criticism could have

‘been avoided if more time had been spent in planning and producing at least a
tentative outline plan, showing the various stages of the operation prior to
commencing its implementation.
; To illustrate what I mean, I was in Ottawa during the early stages of the
implementation of this scheme. I naturally asked a question about an outline
plan. I was interested because I was aware that a copy of my outline plan, in
'some detail, was available in the headquarters. I was told that there was no
blueprint, there was no phased plan, and that the details would be hammered out
as they arose. It appeared to me that with such a complex problem, affecting the
future of a lot of Canadians, more suitable implements would have been a sharp
pencil and a big, big, big eraser. Mistakes made with a hammer are quite
permanent, and they can sometimes, be quite painful.

Another issue which has come in for a lot of criticism has been the lack of
authentic information. Information was replaced by rumour and conjecture,
which no doubt disturbed the morale of the forces. A feeling has grown up that it
is the system that is all-important, that everything else must give way to the
adoption of complete uniformity. In this frenzy for uniformity it seems to me
that we have forgotten that the services are made up of individuals, of Canadians
with likes and dislikes, who do not like to be pushed about or treated as numbers
or as punch holes in a computer card. This, Mr. Chairman, in my view, is the
surest way of breaking down the morale of any force.

So much has been said about this question of morale, some of it by those
who have neither knowledge of, nor experience in, combat. That I hesitate to add
any views of mine. However, I would like to quote from an unquestionable
source, and a real expert in this field of morale. One of the foremost exponents in
the development of high morale is Field Marshal Montgomery. As you are all
aware he took over the command of the Eighth Army at a time when morale was
at a very low ebb as the result of the retreat back to the borders of Egypt.
Within a few weeks of close personal relationship between “Monty” and his
troops, a better morale was established. After a terrific battle at E1 Alamein,
Rommel’s forces were defeated, the tide of the war in the Middle East was
changed, and the morale of the Eighth Army was never higher.
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As many of you know, “Monty” used to visit his troops and explain his
battle plans in this kind of a vein—he used to say: “Battles, battles; I love
battles. Let us talk about this big battle.” He would say to the troops:

There are only two people important in this battle, I, Monty, who
make the big plan, and you Joe Snooks who carry it out; in between there
are a lot of other people, you know, generals and staff officers, but they do
not count for much; it is you and I who are the important people in this
battle.

He would go to no end to explain the general outline of his battle, and what
he wanted the troops to do. Then he would say: “You know what I want. I am

sure you will provide it.”” He knew the psychology of the soldier, and he got the
best results.

I am just beginning to wonder if we are not forgetting about this question

of understanding the psychology of the fighting soldiers. In his memoirs, “Monty”’
says this about morale of the serviceman:

He can think, he can appreciate, and he is definitely prepared to
criticize. He wants to know what is going on, and what you want him to
do, and why and when. He wants to know, in doing it that his best
interests will be absolutely secure in your hands.

Mr. Chairman, I strongly urge that those responsible for implementing
unification ponder over these remarks, especially over the last sentence:

He wants to know, in doing it, that his best interests will be absolute-
ly secure in your hands.

Another factor contribiting to the deterioration of morale is the lack of
authentic information on the extent and the implications of this scheme and of
its effect on the career and livelihood of every serviceman. Both Field Marshals
Montgomery and Slim, in their discussions on the maintenance of high morale,
stress the constant need for authentic statements by the man at the top in order
to combat rumours and conjectures that breed uncertainty, fear and resentment.

This question of keeping men fully informed is not just an army morale
problem. Admiral Arleigh Burke, former Chief of Naval operations in the U.S.,
and a man who had a very distinguished career during World War II, writes
about the sad effect of the lack of information. Actually, Mr. Chairman, this

appears in the appendix of the procedures of this Committee. This is what
Admiral Burke says:

In every case of a breakdown in discipline or morale, four major
factors have been present:
1. Lack of information. Subordinates were not kept informed of the

problems or of the reasons why organization was required to take the
action it did.

It is my view that this integration scheme could have been sold to the
troops, and their worst fears would have been removed, if clear and precise
briefings had been given. But who could do this? The Chiefs of Staff had been
removed; the new Chief of the Defence Staff was immersed in the re-organiza~
tion of the headquarters; and the commanders at the various commands were as
much in the dark as the troops. There is no doubt that a titular head of each
service should have been maintained, even in a temporary capacity, to give some
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assurance to the troops that their interests were being looked after. He could
have badgered the top for enough information to combat rumours and conjec-
tures.

I believe that the steps taken last August, after the spate of criticism about
the lack of information, which was discussed this afternoon, though a bit late,
were in the right direction. It is hoped that through the Canadian Forces Council
the field commanders will be kept thoroughly informed and will be encouraged
to put forward their views and criticize any new proposals before they become
policy.

Mr. Chairman, I want to stress this particular point, that the proposals
should be put to the commanders and that they should be allowed to discuss the
proposals and criticize them for all they are worth. If they can find fault with
them, what will the enemy do? Then, when they become policy, everybody gets
behind it and pushes it. If that is not done, and somebody says something about
policy that they have not heard of before, they are accused of being disloyal. The
way to avoid that is to make sure that all the proposals are put to these
commanders beforehand and that their criticism and views are wanted. You then
will have a policy that everybody will support.

I am sure, in this way, the views of those who have to carry out these
policies can be heard, and a closer touch maintained between the combat
elements and the staff.

Another point that has distressed me, and, I believe, many other former
officers, has been the comparatively large number of experienced senior officers
who have severed their connections with the services at a time when experience,
knowledge and insight are of such importance in solving the vast number of
problems which will continue to arise before unification is completed.

I am well aware that the emphasis today is on youth, but senior officers with
command experience are becoming scarce. Although there are many brilliant
young officers coming forward with briefcases full of theoretical answers, the
successful completion of this experiment requires the levelling influence of those
who know the exacting demands of active operations and the steps that are
necessary to prepare the troops to meet hostilities. I am aware that senior officers
are classed as “Blimps” and are accused of always preparing to fight the last war.
However, I would remind you that some of the most brilliant leaders in the last
war, such as, MacArthur, Marshall, Alexander, Montgomery and Slim all had
distinguished careers in World War I

It is hoped that very soon this question of unification will be finalized in
Parliament and that the acute differences between the politicians and the mili-
tary will disappear. Then perhaps the politician will regain confidence in his
military advisors. I can assure you, gentlemen, that nothing has disturbed me
more, having been a chief of staff for 15 years, than seeing this deterioration of
the close relation that should exist between the military advisor and the politi-
cian.

It is not implied that the politician should always agree and not probe very
deeply into the military advice he is given, and, indeed, overrule this advice if, in
his opinion, the political considerations are paramount and the government is
prepared to take the military risk. On the other hand, the politician must not
become his own advisor, or discount, or downgrade, responsible advice, on the
grounds of conjecture and opinion, arising from other sources. Even the great
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Churchill, who had an abundance of military knowledge and practical experi-
ence, and who gave his advisors a very tough time, never overruled them on
military grounds. Field Marshal Alanbrooke, who was his chief of staff through-
out the war, says this in his memoirs:

At Whitehall, because power rested with the defence minister, who,
though not in awe of his service advisors and ready to harry them
mercilessly, would never in their own sphere override them, or allow
them to be overridden.

As I mentioned earlier, Mr. Chairman, I sincerely hope that the difficult days
between the politician and his military advisors are over.

I would now like to make a few observations about the bill and its support-
ing papers. I would remind you that I had very little time to give these the
scrutiny that I would have wished.

After studying the bill, the explanation in Hansard and the papers submit-
ted by the staff I have been left with the impression—and I want to emphasize
that this is an impression—that modern techniques, efficiency and tidy adminis-
tration seem to be the predominant features. I am allergic to the expression and

the meaning of “tidy administration”, because of my own experience with it in
the war.

Perhaps I should explain this. In Italy, because of the shortage of reinforce-
ments, and to save the staff a lot of trouble, it was proposed to me that we should
have a tidy system of reinforcing, and that we should abandon the other system
we had whereby units were reinforced only through men from their own
units—from the 2nd battalion, or the 3rd battalion, or people from the base, or at
least from their own province. Now, I refused to accept this tidy scheme that
they proposed to me, where they would keep them in a general pool and send up
to the units anybody they liked. I did this on the ground that such action would
place new recruits, who had never beeen under fire, among strangers—with men
with whom they had few common contacts—and that this would not build up the
men’s morale.

Perhaps this is not the right thing for me to say to a federal body, but from
my experience in war we are still a very provincial country. To have placed a
Cape Bretoner with the Queen’s Own would have caused a riot in both camps.
Combat operations have made it quite clear to me that men fight much better if
they are beside people who have the same characteristics, the same likes and
dislikes and who talk the same language. We cannot get away from this human
element in combat. I believe the aims of tidy administration often mean that men
are being pushed about to make it easier for staff officers. I suggest that this
Committee should look extremely carefully at the idea of tidy administration
and having everybody working on rule-of-thumb, without bearing in mind that
they are individuals.

Mr. Chairman, after reading the supporting papers I find myself a bit
puzzled about just what our military roles are today. I may be a bit behind the
times, but it seems to me that you cannot decide on the organization and the
management until you have crystal clear what you are going to do; what the
tasks are that you are going to carry out. Some years ago we used to say that all
our defence resources, both in being and potential, were for the defence of the
NATO area. Actually, we used to show all our defence appropriation as expendi-
tures for NATO and, perhaps we still do; it does look good in NATO circles. But
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on participation in collective defence arrangements our role is limited to raising,
training and equipping force contributions. Strategic planning for NATO is done
by the NATO military authorities in line with strategical guidance given by the
Council. The operational planning is done by the supreme allied commanders.
Even in peace-keeping activities the Secretary General provides the strategic
and operational guidance for the forces.

As T said earlier, I hope this is just an error and not a notice of an intention.

I am somewhat concerned also by the vague statements in the White Paper,
and in some recent publicity about the mobile force, regarding the provision of
air ground support, which appears on page 22 of the White Paper and is also
reflected in other papers.

In the White Paper, at page 22, it says this:

The plan calls for the squadrons stationed in Europe to be associated-
...more directly with the army brigade group. It is recognized, however,
that this kind of association on a national basis may not be practic_al
without some adjustment in the present NATO military organization in
Europe.

I would have liked to have seen a period after the word “practical”.

Such an adjustment, if necessary, will be the subject of consultation
with NATO. Squadrons in Canada would be available for training in close
association with ground forces. Thus, ground and air forces would com-
plement each other in a manner which has not been possible in the past.

This is perhaps a very laudable national slogan, but it constitutes a considerable
waste of air support, and it would create the most chaotic air situation if every
brigade in Europe decided to have its own private air support.

Anyone who has exercised higher command in war, or who has been
engaged in planning at SHAPE, or who has even been exposed to SHAPE
exercises, will be aware that the cardinal principle dealing with the operation of
air forces is that of maintaining the maximum centralization of these forces.
Parcelling them out in penny packages is most wasteful and creates complete
chaos in the air over a battlefield and a grave risk that many of our aircraft will
be shot down by the neighbouring forces.

During the last war, when close support was developed to a very high
degree, air force groups were never centralized below army. If the corps, or
division wanted air support they were alloted a certain number of sorties over a
fixed time, and an air controller would arrive at the headquarters and he w_ould
control the air strike as dictated by the ground commander. On certain occasions,
under ideal conditions—that is, where the weather was excellent and where we
knew exactly where our forward troops were and where they were going to
move—they sometimes would set up what is known as a cab rank—five or six
aircraft immediately above the area where you were fighting—and these could
be called down for strikes in front of our own troops; but this was an exception,
and had to be done extremely carefully, because what you wanted to do was to
kill the enemy, not your own troops. But control of the air forces would
immediately go back to army as soon as that operation was finished.

Those who have not had experience, and who aspire to be pseud9-expe1't§,
would benefit by reading Lord Tedder’s recent book, “With Prejudice”. This
most distinguished air commander outlines the problems of dealing with air
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forces, both large and small, and he continually emphasizes throughout his book
the necessity for centralized control of the air elements.

Some recent publicity indicates that Mobile Command visualizes the use of
close aircraft support for ground troops in flank protection, similar to the
exercise which was carried out in Norway by the Black Watch. This appeared to
be a feasible operation, provided a rough air field had been smoothed off, and
also defended, and that arrangements were made with the Norwegians that they
would be allowed to use it.

Here, again, I think the principle of collective balanced forces should be
exercised, and that we should ascertain whether we could not make arrange-
ments with the Norwegians who could much easier have air forces available than
to take them from Canada to do this kind of a task.

We know a lot about conditions in northern Norway. It may surprise the
Committee to know that the Canadians were committed to Norway on two
occasions during the last war and that on both occasions they were withdrawn
because the conditions were such that General McNaughton felt that we would
be tied there for the whole war. Anyone who has been in northern Norway will
know just how difficult the conditions are for the operation of troops, especially
with air support.

Therefore, I think we should realize that even though it looks all right to
say, “We will support them with air support,” there may be days when, because
of flying conditions they will not get any support. Therefore, an alternative type
of ground support may have to be provided in any case.

I think it might be helpful to this Committee if one of these cost effective-
ness studies that we hear about were carried out to show the relative costs of
providing ground support for a force going to Norway, by missiles, and then by
aircraft.

There is no doubt that if close support is to be provided by the air force a
training squadron is necessary, but it is equally important that our forces should
stick to the established NATO system of using ground support, so that any of our
forces could accept ground support from any of the Allied force elements.

I would remind you that when we start training on air support ourselves we
are apt to think we can do it better than somebody else and develop a system of
our own, but that is not very good if you are going to have to operate with other
troops. It is far better to have a less efficient system which is understood and
known by all the Allies.

On page 23 of the White Paper the use of ground support in air defence was
suggested. It says this:
Some of the squadrons stationed in Canada would also contribute to

air defence as required, thereby eliminating the necessity of acquiring
special aircraft for this purpose.

I presume that this suggestion will now be cancelled because the high perform-
ance aircraft mentioned in the White Paper have been replaced by the CF-5.

Mr. Chairman, I have a few more comments of the matters in Hansard in the
explanation of the bill.
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On page 10828, it states as follows:

The force structure is comprised of force units which may be used
individually or in combination, depending upon the military task under-
taken. The force units are the infantry companies. . .

To say that the basic infantry ground force unit is an infantry company, that it
may operate separately from its battalion with not only a variety of supporting
arms but can be expected to operate with support from other force media, is to
say the least, a very novel idea, and looks to me to be unification with a
vengeance.

Most company commanders whom I have contacted find they have enough to
do in keeping their platoons moving forward and keeping the battalion informed
of their position so that our own artillery will not shoot them up without
suggesting that they should be able to accept and control close ground support.

The only situation which I have been able to dream up where a company
may operate with other media would be in the nature of a commando operation
where a certain group of infantry soldiers would be put on a ship, perhaps to be
landed on a beach, or to carry out some remote operational task; but these are
specialized operations and not the normal operations of ground troops.

Here again, in spite of the suggested change in emphasis put forward in Air
Marshal Sharp’s paper, our main ground force effort is still in NATO. We have a
whole division’s worth committed to NATO, but in a rather confused circum-
stance. We cannot glibly go around and abandon the accepted and well-proven
principle of using the infantry division as the basic ground element. Brigade
groups were used, as I well know, in 1939, in the United Kingdom, in a scheme to
repel invasion. This was done because communications were scarce and extreme-
ly vulnerable.

Similar use of small groups was tried in the desert in 1943, with rather
disastrous results. One of the first things that “Monty” did when he went to
Egypt was to forbid any operation of brigade groups, or of columns, or any of
these other fancy things that they had put into effect. He laid down the dictum
that from then on we would fight with divisions; and that stuck. He wanted it
made quite clear to everybody that in his view, and there is no doubt it is not an
isolated view, the division is the smallest ground element that can fight a
sustained battle. You can add to it but you cannot split it up.

I am well aware of the difficulty in Canada because we have not got a
division, and therefore we do try to make our brigade groups look like little
divisions. Now we are going to try to make our battalions and companies look
like—well, I do not know what.

I think this needs a great deal of looking at, because it breaks down all the
principles which have been used over the many years in fighting battles.

I would like to make an observation now on this “Career Serviceman
Concept” which was mentioned this afternoon. This concept calls for an initial
engagement for 5 years, followed by an indefinite period of enrolment. While
this concept is very satisfactory for the sedative positions in the force, it fails to
appreciate the military necessity of keeping the combat elements youthful, alert,
virile and efficient. These categories include combat pilots, platoon commanders
and other close support offices, as well as NCO’s and men.
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Our experience in the last conflict showed that very few front line combat
officers could stand the strain beyond the age of 27 or 30. Judging by the reports
from Viet Nam combat is still a young man’s business.

Therefore, a requirement exists for short-term commissions and for en-
hanced retirement schemes for those who become too old for combat and cannot
be placed in sedative employment.

For men and NCO’s the five-year engagement would look to be ideal from
an age standpoint, but would create quite a training problem. To re-engage
junior NCO’s and men for an indefinite period would tend to worsen the
problem. A short engagement requires the Commanding Officer to make a
reassessment of the man’s capabilities for continuing in combat training for

another period. The man’s age is always considered carefully, and if there is any
doubt the man is not re-engaged.

By this proposed system, once a man is re-engaged he would have to be
dismissed if he starts to slip at the start of his new engagement. I do not think
this is very fair because if a man is dismissed it will place upon him a stigma
which would not be an asset when seeking civil employment.

This problem of keeping the combat element of a voluntary force youthful
has never been solved. It is solved in other countries where they have compulso-
ry military training because you get your recruits and your junior officers all
coming up very, very young and all leaving after their term is up. In a voluntary
force you do not get that, and therefore we have to look at the situation as it
exists and not try to deal with it, as you would through a computer, that
everybody should be able to do his task up to his age limit.

It seems to me, in looking over these papers and plans, that this idea of
looking after the combat element has been almost completely forgotten. I was
amazed, in reading Air Marshal Reyno’s paper, that I could not find the word
“combat” at all, and not a word about what is going to be done with the combat
officer who gets to be a little too old.

As I pointed out at the beginning of my testimony, I feel some responsibility
in this field because I have been recommending integration for a good many
years. I am rather concerned that, in the urge to create the most economical and
efficient and ubiquitous system, the primary purpose of military management
has been overlooked. It has been forgotten that the main purpose of the system is
to assist in every way the serviceman to do his front line task where and when
he is required to do it.

Mr. Chairman, with your indulgence, this “Blimp” would like to conclude
his remarks with a few words to those who are responsible for implementing the
final stages of unification and for translating the agreed policy, whatever it is,
and the import of this bill into regulations and guidance for the commanders of
the unified force. Here they are.

There will be many new and difficult problems, many unusual situations,
and a host of unseen difficulties to be overcome. There will be an incessant urge
in this mechanical age for uniformity because it looks better on a graph; fits
better in the computer system and provides for tidy administration, But you
must ensure that the human element is considered and that the regulations serve
as well as restrict the servicemen.

The staff officer must continue to remind himself that he is the servant and
not the master of the combat forces. It is they who will win or lose the battle.
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These combat troops are all volunteers who think for themselves, abhor
being treated as numbers and holes in a punch card, to be pushed about and kept
in the dark, and then expected to do their damnedest when they go on the
battlefield.

Experience in three wars shows that the Canadian will rise to the occasion
and commit himself well if he is properly trained, properly equipped, well led,
and has confidence in himself and those who lead him; but if any of these criteria
are neglected he is confused, dejected and disinterested in fighting the battle.

If this unified force is to be the success its sponsors hope, if it is to satisfy the
Canadian defence requirements of the next decade, it must not only meet the
wishes and ambitions of those serving today but must be able to attract the
youth of tomorrow. Therefore, the image of the new force must have appeal,
plenty of advantages and the fewest possible restrictions, if it is expected to
attract the youth of tomorrow to serve in the ranks, and the college student to
seek a career in this new force.

This will be the first test of the unification scheme. I sincerely hope that the
ultimate test of battle is never made necessary.

Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN: I am looking around for questioners now. I have Mr.
Andras, and Mr. Laniel and Mr. McIntosh.
Are you ready to answer questions, sir.

Mr. FOULKES: Any time.

Mr. ANDRAS: General Foulkes, may I congratulate you most sincerely on
your very comprehensive, sound and down-to-earth presentation. I think it is
one of the ones with the most meat on policy issues that we have had. There is a
little nostalgia in reading it when you refer to cab ranks and air support to
infantry, and so forth. It rather takes me back to my days as platoon commander,
when I was most appreciative of bringing in Typhoons and so forth, but a little
worried that they were coming awfully close to us, too.

Sir, as I would interpret your general thought behind this, you are in
favour of the reorganization of the forces but are a little concerned, perhaps,
about the method that has developed and the controversy that has developed;
that you have a great desire to see the military and the civilian authorities
forget their bruised feelings; and a certain apprehension about the role.

I go back, sir, to your conviction, as expressed on October 14, 1961, which
starts off with something that certainly I, in my brief study of the situation,
would agree with, which is that drastic changes are needed, or I would say, were
needed, in the organization of the Canadian defence forces.

Later on you explain some of the frustrations, perhaps, and the problems
that you encountered as the chairman of the Chiefs of Staff Committee in seeing
this program furthered; because I understand that at that time, sir, you did draw
up a plan yourself, or in consultation with other officers. When you were with
the Chiefs of Staff Committee you did draw up a plan to integrate Canada’s
armed forces in 1961; is that correct?

Mr. Fourkes: That is correct. There is a paper.
Mr, ANDRAS: I beg your pardon.

Mr. FourLkes: That is the paper I referred to. It was in the possession of
National Defence when they started this.

\ l
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Mr. ANDRAS: What was the reaction in 1961 to the proposals that you must
have made at that stage?

Mr. FouLkes: Well, let me make this quite clear. By 1961 I had retired and
the paper I mentioned was one that I prepared for the RCAF Staff College
Journal. The Staff College Journal rejected this paper as being too revolu-
tionary—I had spent several months preparing this comprehensive paper, in-
cluding the various stages, and so on, and one day, in a very loose moment, I
gave it to a journalist who said that he would like to publish a popular edition.
That is what you are referring to, I presume.

Mr. ANDRAS: Yes.

Mr. FouLkes: The popular edition appeared in the Toronto Star Weekly.

Mr. ANDRAS: Yes, in the Star Weekly; that is the extract that I have. In that
article you go into the problem that lead to the statement that drastic reor-
ganizations were needed and you say: “The problem can only be solved by the
complete unification of the three services, with one Chief of Staff, one chain of

command, one ladder of promotion and one uniform”. Basically, as a principle,
do you still feel that that is a sound approach to it?

Mr. FouLkEs: Yes; I have not changed my mind on the necessity for change.
I think that there has been too much stress on the last item, but I agree that
there needed to be a change.

There are various versions of how far that change is necessary, on which
you can question me.

Mr. Anpras: Further on you mentioned that it seemed—and I presume that
you were referring to that time when you made certain recommendations—that
one single Canadian armed service was about to be born at any time, and then
suddenly it was dropped. You also indicate that certain obstacles were encoun-
tered from then on.

Could you give us some information on the type of obstacle that at that

stage seemed to be preventing the furtherance of this program that you say that
you believe in?

Mr. FouLKES: I went into this subject very thoroughly on October 22, when
I gave the history of this problem. I will go over it again, if you wish.

Mr. Anpras: I would appreciate it if you would, sir.

Mr. FouLkes: As I pointed out at that time, when Mr. Brooke Claxton took
over as Minister of National Defence he decided to push the three services
together. At that time the army was separate—the army and the navy had been
under one minister before that—and the air force had its own minister. Mr.
Claxton was appointed as the first minister, and he decided that he was going to
have organization of the services into one.

He set about and reorganized the administration. As you know, formerly
there were these deputy ministers. He put the whole thing together and he had
one administration on a functional basis.

At the same time he suggested to me that he would like to do the same
thing with the services, and at that time we drew up a plan for one service.

I do not know the real background of this—I can only suspect it—but when

1 did talk to Brooke Claxton one day about how far he was going to go with it he
25770—2
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told me then that he would have to drop it; that he had expected to come into the
department for a short time, knock the chiefs of staff’s heads together to get
them thinking alike and then he was going to be moved to another department.
The story had it that Mr. King told him that he had made a very good bed and
that he had better sleep in it. Mr. Claxton found that he would have to wait a bit.
He said that he had enough troubles on his hands, and that he was not going any
farther with integration.

That started the set-up of a whole series of committees. That is when the
committee fever started; in other words, integration by committee, and the start
of committee hearings.

Mr. ANDRAS: When was that?
Mr. FouLKES: That was in 1946 and 1947.

Mr. AnpRrAs: General Foulkes, with radical or drastic change, and people
being human, would it not be natural to run into the resistance of a very sincere
affection for tradition, and so forth? If I correctly read the tone of your article in
1961, it is one of recognition of the fact that anyone attempting to make this
novel, radical and, as you said, revolutionary recommendation would naturally
run into some considerable resistance; that it was just almost inevitable that
there would have to be some upsets and possible effect on morale and so forth;
that the ultimate goal that you were espousing would make it worthwhile, but
one that would have to be prepared for a rought time in the middle?

Mr. Fourkes: I think you will have to realize that there was a lot of
groundwork done on integration. As you all well know, in the National Defence
Act discipline was all put on one basis. A great deal of work was done long
before this integration, in the expectation that some day or other we would reach
this goal.

Actually, while I was still chairman of the chiefs of staff I set up a
committee on the staff level, headed by then Brigadier Rothschild, and he held a
series of meetings with the services over a period of three or four months to
discuss an outline plan for integration not too different from the one we are
talking about. This was discussed at the chiefs of staff level on many, many
occasions.

In 1963 when I was here, I think I remarked that the attitude of the chiefs
was: “Yes; we believe in integration, but please do not do it while I am here. I do
not want to be known as the chief of staff who ruined these services.” This was
the natural attitude of an officer who had come all the way up through the
service, who was responsible for the welfare of this service, and not only to those
in the service but to the institutions which supported it. Although they all
Sl&ppm"ted it they were not so keen to go ahead with it during their tenure of
office.

When Mr. Pearkes became Minister this plan was put to him and it received
favourable consideration, but again it was felt that it was a bit too revolutionary,
and Mr. Pearkes decided to start at the bottom and see what he could do about
getting common services. This led to the amalgamation of the medical service
and the chaplain service. It did not do much good. All we did in the chaplain
service was to create two new brigadiers.

Mr. HARKNESS: That was a religious problem rather than a military problem.
Mr. FOULKES: There are two ways to Heaven!
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Mr. ANDRAS: I have taken the view, sir—and I would not presume to suggest
that I have anywhere near the knowledge of others—that in order for it to work
an integrated process of command almost had to start from the top and work
down, rather than work up. I just do not see how it would be practical for it to
work the other way. Would you agree, or disagree, with that?

Mr. FouLKESs: I entirely agree; and this plan shows that.

Mr. ANDRAS: In your presentation of 1961 you said:

After my nine years as Chairman of the Chiefs of Staff, trying to
co-ordinate the rival services, I am convinced that we can’t achieve much
more by the present road. Attempts to integrate the three services by
persuasion have been going on ever since 1945. They have woven a huge
spider’s web of committees, which are rather like foreign ministers’ meet-
ings where rival powers try to reach a compromise.

You then go on to say:

The problem can only be solved by complete unification of the three

services, with one chief of staff, one chain of command, one ladder of
promotion and one uniform.

I know this is a leading question but, generally speaking, I presume you
would still agree with that statement of policy-conviction, at least?

Mr. FouLkes: That is correct; and I do not think in my statement tonight
I refuted anything of that.

Mr. ANprAS: Thank you very much.

Mr. Foy: If I could ask a supplementary question you could take me off the
list. It arises from Mr. Andras’ questions of the General and I do not propose to
be repetitious.

Referring to the Star Weekly article about the single unified Canadian
armed service general, could you tell us if there is any difference between your
thoughts then, and the single unified Canadian armed forces in this present bill?

Mr. FouLkes: I think there are degrees to unification, as I tried to point out
tonight. I must say that I am very, very alarmed when unification goes down to
the company. This, to me, does not make any military sense whatever. Bring the
forces together, by all means, but when you get down into an organization like a
battalion and they are suggesting that you break up battalions, and you have
companies running around—this does not make too much sense. Even in the
army’s ground forces theory, we did not break up battalions; we fought in
divisions. I must say that the view that I had on integration, which appeared in
this paper, was that we would form task forces. For instance, for air defence
there would be task forces of air forces, and of ground troops if we were going to
do rocketry or something like that; from Maritime forces there would be air
forces and naval forces; but it did not visualize getting down to saying that we
were going to mix them all completely so that you would have companies trying
to be unified. This, I think, is a completely new concept to me.

Mr. Foy: I appreciate that. Thank you very much, General.

Mr. LaNIEL: General, I think that you have made a very fatherly approach
to this problem of unification and integration. You have given us your advice and

recommendations and you have also told us of your worries about possible
25770—2}
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mistakes. Do you feel that up until now there have been very, very great
mistakes made at the level of integration of command by the elimination of the
chiefs of staff of the three services and by the changes in the composition of the
chiefs of staff defence council?

Mr. FouLkes: As far as the organization is concerned, of course, I am
entirely in agreement that there should be one chief of staff this is the only way
you could make it work.

The comment I made tonight and, again, they are mainly on the way to
implement this—and in the plan that I proposed was to keep the chiefs of staff in
being, along with the chairman, because I foresaw all kinds of difficulties and
service problems which would have to be solved by someone who has really an
expert in the particular service. I also foresaw that we had to keep up the
morale; and, furthermore, if we got into difficulties that we ought to get down on
our knees and thank the Almighty God that we did not get into war while this
confusion was going on, because we would be completely useless, having no one
at the top.

It is my view that you could have accomplished this by keeping the chiefs of
staff there and making them responsible for implementing these changes and
then having the chairman take over at the last part of it.

The first thing that I foresaw to be done was to reorganize and get all the
personnel into a personnel command and to get all the administration unified;
and when the administration was unified and you had the logistics in shape you
would then abolish the chiefs of staff and have one chairman.

Mr. LANIEL: Yes, but—

Mr. FouLKES: So any organization that I know of if you cut its head off you
are going to have trouble.

Mr. LANIEL: The concept of one single chief of staff does not exclude his
getting advice from the commanders of the different commands?

Mr. FouLKES: But there are no heads. The head of the service can get all the
advice he likes, but when you have the air force, or the army and you take away
the top, the man whom the troops look up to as the man who is going to look
after their interests, then, as I say, who is going to inform the troops of those
decisions? You cannot get along in an organization without a head of some k_md,
and until you are ready to move them all into one you must keep the organiza-
tion which can control it.

Mr. LanieL: How could you really integrate and unify and keep three chiefs
of staff, one for each service, if the services are unified?

Mr. FOULKES: It takes some time to unify. The plan unification is not settled
yet, and we have had no heads of the services for two or three years.

Mr. LANIEL: But you must admit that integration is a first step towar{is
unification. That is what was said and what was meant to be. However, I will
leave that topic for the moment.

My next question relates to your last remark that there was a lack of
authentic information at different levels. Do you not agree that for a project of
this size and magnitude everything could not have been planned in detail, and
because the Minister stated in the White Paper that the project was not an
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immutable one—that it could be altered or adapted to meet the reguirements of
the changing circumstances—is it not re-assuring that nothing will be done to
upset everything before the right solution is discovered step by step.

Mr. FouLKES: You made a remark that it is not possible to make an outlined
plan. Let me suggest to you that I was able to do it—an outlined plan in three
stages. I am sure that if the staff had been given the job they could have sat
down and made an outlined plan. I am not suggesting that the outlined plan
would reflect the final solution, but it would be at least a design. When you start
to build a house you insist on the contractor bringing you a fairly detailed plan,
and it is rather costly. You can make changes on it—you can put a verandah on
and make the cellar smaller, but you must start out knowing exactly where you
are going. If you want to have the confidence of people you do not say that you
are just going to make changes; you explain what the changes are and what you
have in mind. I think this is what has caused some of the trouble. You may say
that it is better to keep flexible and not reveal what you have in your mind, but
that is very upsetting for the people in the organization.

Mr. LANIEL: Yes, sir, but I imagine even your plan was quite general and it
would not have satisfied all the levels of our military forces because each level
would want to know what effect it will have on them.

Mr. FouLkes: This is it. Mind you, the final plan is not so very greatly
different than what you have today; the broad concept is pretty much the same.

Mr. LaNIEL: The reason you seem to still give, maybe with reservation—I
do not know; I did not get that impression—support to integration and unifica-
tion after all that has been said, I imagine, is influenced by the fact that you must
still have confidence in those men who are there to implement it and you must
have confidence that they will take into consideration the advice of experienced
military people like yourself and others on military matters. In your brief you
also put emphasis on the personal feeling of the combat men.

Mr. FouLkes: Let us get this quite clear: I am still an ardent advocate of
integration—I always have been and I always will be—but the issues I am
raising today relate to the questions of implementations, not the question of
unification or integration at all. Some of these changes are quite radical and I
want to make sure that they are not implemented without giving adequate
consideration to those whom it effects. This is my concern, and mind you, I
certainly have had plenty of correspondence on this matter over the last three or
four years. I am sometimes held as the one responsible for introducing this
scheme. As a matter of fact, one newspaper published an article saying that I

was in the pay of the Liberals. If T am I just want to remind Mr. Hellyer that he
is five years behind in his credit.

Mr. LANIEL: To go into another area of questioning, you said that you had
reservations about our future military policies, as set out in the White Paper in
different priorities. I think that you look at this in the concept of a big general

war or an emergency that might happen. Do you believe that such an emergency
could happen in this world of today?

: Mr. FouLkes: I was not looking for an emergency; I was just quoting what
is in the White Paper and trying to interpret it, and to point out
that in my view it is not definite enough. I would like to see a clear and
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concise statement as to where we are going to stand in regard to our commit-
ments in Europe. We have one brigade in the forward role, as I pointed out,
committed with heavy equipment; we have two brigades that are going to be
re-equipped and retrained on a mobile basis, yet we still have a commitment to
provide a division to NATO. How are we going to do it? Is the government
proposing to change the role of that brigade forward and make it a completely
mobile brigade so that we can have a mobile division, as I have suggested, or
what is going to happen? There has been no indication of what the situation is
going to be there, and certainly I am concerned about this concept that we are
going to have a couple of brigades ready to go anywhere in the world to settle
disputes. We have not really thought about or, if we have, we have not really said
how this is going to be accomplished. This is what worries me—the indefinite-
ness.

Mr. LANIEL: I see your point, but do you think that a country the size of
Canada could have an army that we as Canadians would be proud of in
peacetime? I am thinking of a force that could be made available for different
purposes. In this way we could show to the rest of the world that we want to
assume our small share of responsibility by providing either a deterrent or
peacekeeping force with the defence of Canada and things like that in mind. Is it
possible for Canada to have such a force?

Mr. FouLkes: I am not one of these people who believes that Canada should
be trying to show the world how good we are. I am talking purely about defence.
What we should do is to try and make the best possible contribution that we can
to keeping the peace; that is our greatest aim in the military field. We have tried
to do that by making contributions to NATO, and I think we have done a very,
very good job. What I am worried about is the suggestion that we are going to
change our emphasis and that we are going to slacken up on our support of
NATO and put that support somewhere else. I do not know about this kind of
vague talk, but it is up to the Minister to change the emphasis and so on. I think
we want to be quite sure what we are going to do or our staff officers cannot
interpret that into plans. I think it is just a bit too indefinite.

Mr. LANIEL: But do you not think that even NATO itself is changing—
Mr. FouLKEs: Yes, it is changing.
Mr. LANIEL:—because of political situations in Europe?

Mr. FouLkes: But should we not be changing our views on NATO too?
Should we not withdraw that brigade from the forward role, where it is not very
_good? And T do not want to argue this case here because we would be getting
into _secu.ri.ty. problems. We would have made more sense, if we had our whole
mobile division, providing a mobile brigade in Europe with two mobile brigades
hgre. That seems to me to be a pretty sensible military order but today it is
mixed up. We have two brigades and we do not know what they are going to do
in Europe. You may know but I do not know because I have never been told.

Mr. LANI!P: May I ask one more question, please, When you spoke of our air
support you said that we want to cut it down to the lowest level. How can we do
it when we have a good part of our air component assigned to NORAD, some
assigned to anti-submarine warfare, and whatever we have left at this time
earmarked to NATO unless we change and try to build up a fourth component of
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the air force—a big component. How could we completely support an army, if
our brigade was back in Canada? If we brought our brigade back to Canada
would we have to bring also our air force?

Mr. FouLkes: I think you misunderstood me completely. I was suggesting
that our brigade in Europe should stay there but in a mobile role, not in a
forward heavy role; and that the two brigades here should be equally equipped
and so on so that we could make them into a mobile division. As it is now, we

still have a commitment to send a division to NATO and we cannot meet that
commitment.

Mr. LANIEL: I see your point.

Mr. FoUuLKES: As far as the air force is concerned, it is the last thing I want
to do. All I am suggesting is that we do not break them up into penny packages.
If we are going to make a support to NATO make it a support to collective
forces. When we went into this NATO business I recall the instructions I
received from the Prime Minister at the time, Mr. St. Laurent, and they were to
provide NATO with the best kind of contribution that Canada could make to the
NATO forces, and to make quite sure that this was what NATO wanted—a
contribution as a nation, not necessarily the kind that would make Canada look
better, but the kind of thing that would help the alliance. I think our thinking
has moved away from interdependence; we are trying to think what we can do
by ourselves. Canada has never been able to do anything by herself. I heard a
discussion this afternoon as to whether the air materiel command could support
it. Let us get this clear: In operations we cannot support ourselves anywhere. In
World War I the British supported us; in World War II the British supported us
again; in Korea we had to get support from the United States. We cannot
support our forces overseas with anything like the kind of economy that is
necessary. We have to depend on our allies. If war was declared tomorrow our
brigade in Europe is still supported by the British; our air division is supported
by the United States. We in Canada, with defence expenditures of about $1}
billion, cannot support forces overseas; we have to depend on our allies.

Mr. McINTOSH: General, I was going to begin my remarks by telling you
how much I appreciate the information that you have given to us but I see my
time is limited so I will just endorse the opening remarks of my colleague, Mr.
Andras.

I would like to make this comment: You said that some of the press has
accused you of being in the pay of the Liberals. I just might say that although
you would be politically opposite to what my beliefs are I wish that you still
were in the pay of the Liberals.

During the opening part of your statement and practically all through it,
you seemed to be dealing with the term “integration” and, did so with a great
deal of confidence. However, you became very vague toward the latter part of
your brief when you started dealing with the word “unification”. I think perhaps
one of the problems that has confronted this Committee has to do with the
difference between “integration” and “unification”.

Could you give us your definition or understanding of what you think
unification means.

Mr. FouLKES: It is completely beyond me. I thought I knew what integration
meant when we used to talk about it but I am beginning to have some doubts,
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after visiting this Committee, where integration stops and unification begins. I
think I made myself abundantly clear when I said that I am greatly alarmed
when a suggestion is made that we start to unify or integrate, or whatever you
like to call it, down inside an infantly battalion. I just shudder to think how
you ever would control a battle if that ever happened. I do not know how this
crept in; it is something completely new to me. I think that this needs to be
looked at very, very, very carefully. I know that it is quite easy when you start
to look at a problem like this, to let the problem get away from you. I think
you ought to come back to the fundamental principles that if we have to go to
war we will have to fight with allies who have divisions. Therefore, we have to
be able to fit in with divisions; we have to fit in with air groups of other coun-
tries; we have to fit in with navies of other countries because we are not going to
do it—at least I hope that we are not ever going to try and fight by ourselves.
Perhaps it is a laudable idea but it does not make any military sense to me.
As I have said, we cannot support ourselves.

Mr. McInTOsH: In defence of a paper which you wrote for one of the defence
books—in answer to a question of my colleague—you said: “That is virtually
what we have today”, and I think that you were talking about integration as you
had defined it. What is your definition of unification, and could you tell the
Committee what we would have once unification is complete, as the government
seems to understand it.

Mr. Fourkes: I will be quite frank with you. I do not understand it, so I
could not explain it. My concept of this game was that you would have a unified
staff and under that staff you would have task forces to do certain tasks. Those
task forces could be varied, but there would still be brigades of infantry, as far
as Canada is concerned, because we have no divisions, squadrons of aircraft,
flotillas of ships, and so on. This is my view, but I am not up to date enough on
this, as I pointed out, to know what it means to unify, or even to pretend to do
S0.

Mr. McInTosH: Well sir, you were chief of the general staff, and I presume
that you got that position because of your capabilities, and particularly your
ability of seeing things that possibly were more difficult for junior officers to see.
What is your impression of the position of the junior officers still in the force
when you say, as a former chief of the general staff, that you cannot understand
unification?

Mr. FourLkes: I was saying I cannot understand what it means by unifying
down to companies, and I imagine that he will have some difficulties too.
Remember, a company commander has only a few years experience, and to
suggest that he can or should start to deal with the control of air support, just
does not make military sense.

Mr. McInTosH: I did not intend for you to go down that low in the officer
class. How could the officers in formation headquarters and above understand it
if you, as a former chief of the general staff, do not understand it. Do you think
that they will have difficulties?

Mr. FouLkEs: Oh, I imagine that they will have difficulties. My view of this
all along has been that one should make as little change in the operations units of
our forces as possible—make as little change. They function well as they are; we
ought to be justly proud of them, and I do not think that we can improve too

{
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much on striving to make them any more refined. Our brigades function well in
Europe; our Navy people function well in the North Atlantic and the Pacific, and
I do not think that we can improve on this.

Mr. McINTosH: You have mentioned the Minister’s speech in the House, as
well as the presentation made by Air Marshal Sharp, and then in spite of that—I
assume that you have read both and studied them—at the top of page 2 some of
your criticism is directed forward a lack of authentic information. Do you feel

that we, as politicians, have not sufficient information to make a decision on this
bill yet?

Mr. FouLKES: I was referring to the lack of information given out in the first
two years before they had this armed services council, and I imagine you have
heard enough about that from Admiral Landymore. There was a distinet lack of
information at that time. Mind you, there might be good reason for it because
everybody was busy doing something else. However, I think that it had a very
disastrous effect on the acceptance by the troops of integration. I was only trying
to point out that in my view some of this could have been avoided if they had
had a titular chief of staff for at least the first two years. Then, when they were
ready, the whole thing had to be sold to the services. Then, when the administra-
tion and other plans were worked out, phase out the chief of staff and let the
boss boy take over, when he was in a position to control.

Mr. McIntosH: Do you agree with this concept of phasing out—which
actually has taken place now—the defence council, as it were, the three heads of
the different services?

Mr. FouLkes: That was inevitable. The timing of it is the only thing with
which I was in disagreement.

Mr. McInTosH: You mentioned that two years ago there was a lack of
information. Might I suggest to you now, because of your reply to my question
asking you to define unification, that there is still a lack of information
—because you, as a former chief of the general staff, apparently do not under-
stand what unification means either. Is that a fair assumption? You spoke also
about morale, and I was just wondering how high on the list you would consider
the morale of the forces. How important is it to the forces?

Mr. FouLkes: Well, if they are going to fight it is all important—all
important; there is nothing more important. If you have not a high degree of
morale in your forces you might as well not put them in the field.

Mr. McInTosH: You also spoke about the experience of senior officers. I
think that you had reference to senior officers we have lost before their period of
service had, shall I say, expired unnecessarily. Can you convey to the Committee
in a little more detail than you have in your talk, how essential this experience,
rather than theory, is to a fighting force. Can you give any instances where
because of experience Commanders saved lives of troops?

Mr. FouLkes: I do not think that I can go into the details of saving troops
and so on. I would point out that there are a lot of things about exercising the art
of command that you cannot get out of a book. You have to have somebody with
at least a levelling of experience. As I pointed out, even in the last war—al-
though we put an emphasis on youth—some of our most brilliaht commanders
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were fellows who had had pretty good records in the first world war. There are
some things that you cannot learn from a book; you have to learn from
experience. As we all know, some people never reach a position of high command
because there is something in their makeup or experience that does not fit into it;
it is something you cannot really put your finger on. What I am really concerned
about is that we have only a small force, and if we start and eliminate most of
the top, which we have been doing pretty rapidly, we are going to get down
where we have all theoretical soldiers and nobody with practical experience who
could look at these problems—who can look, for instance, at the problem I raised
with you about recruits, about the need to have some consideration given to
keeping the battalions and the combat units young. Now it is only somebody who
has had experience in operations that understands that kind of thing. Now I
found, some two or three years ago when I went to visit my own regiment, being
Colonel of the regiment, that we had Company Sergeant Majors of 42; we had
subalterns of 36, and I almost blew a fuse, because if we went to war those
fellows would not last one or two days.

Mr. PucH: The 36 year old’s?

Mr. McInTosH: I think this has been proven. I mean I do not think that, the
average age of our generals in World War II was over 36, if it was that.

Mr. FourLkes: That is not the way I see it because I was not a Corps
Commander until I was 43.

Mr. McInTOSH: I am not going to argue with you.

On page 6, you said that you were puzzled about just what our military
roles are today—and you said that you were concerned about something else
too—and I would ask you to elaborate on that. Do you agree with our system of
collective defence—continental defence, for Canada? Do you see some ulterior
motive, if I may put it that way, in the Minister’s speech which would do away
with our role today and then our forces would be used for some other purpose?

Mr. FouLkes: No, I do not think that anyone who really has the interests of
Canadian defence at heart is going to do away with our NATO commitment or
selective defence arrangements. What I suspect has happened is that they have
been trying to find some kind of a role that looks a little more attrac-
tive—something that will get the “eager beavers” working. It is a rather nice
concept; the planners will have a wonderful time, searching all over the world to
ascertain how to use two mobile brigades. However, I think that we want to be
careful when we say that we are lessening the emphasis on the commitments
that we have accepted; I think that that is one of the things that does wear.
Perhaps there is not too much harm in letting the staff officer play with the
free-wheeling around the world, but I am a bit concerned, if we are going to
lessen our NATO commitments, unless it is agreed in the NATO organization
that everybody slims down. The amount of military value, training and opera-
tional value that we get out of being a member of NATO is enormous. We draw
all our best information, for instance, in Maritime warfare from the United
States. We have a wonderful opportunity; the advantages that we reap from
Imt_erdcpendence is enormous.

- Mr. McINTosH: You mentioned that we could not sustain our force as it is
right now and that we had to have help from, say, one of the other larger
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powers. In regard to our commitments to these alliances that we have now, do
you believe that Canada has the manpower to form another force capable of

keeping the peace any place else in the world and still live up to commitments
that we already have?

Mr. FouLkes: No; as a matter of fact, I am one of the people that said we
have one brigade too many.

Mr. McINTosH: Why have we one too many?

Mr. FOULKES: As you remember, we formed an extra brigade to go to Korea.
Mr. McINTOsH: Right.

Mr. FouLkes: After the Korea show was over, I proposed to the then
Minister that we get rid of that brigade because it was not necessary—it was
arranged especially for Korea. However, the chief of the general staff at that
time did not want to be the one to say that he was cutting down the army; I
* think we had an election coming on and, therefore, the Minister was a bit
worried about disbanding it, and we have a brigade that we really have not a
job for. We have four brigades, and to meet our commitments we only have to
have one brigade in Europe in peacetime and two at home. We could have well
got rid of this, but we have not. It would have saved a lot of money. This is the
point I am trying to make: If we look at our commitments, as well as develop an
efficient system, we might be able to save some more money. We would save
some more money if we could get out of this forward role. For instance, we
would not have to be training on heavy tanks.

Mr. McINTosH: Then you would not agree with the statement made by Air
Marshal Sharp, in his appreciation, when he said that there were only two
courses open to the government: to increase the expenditure, or cut down on
operations and maintenance. If we followed your suggestion, we would not cut
down on operations nor maintenance, although there would be a drop in mainte-
nance, and we would not have to increase the vote of the department.

Mr. FouLKES: I do not think I quite said that.

Mr. McInTosH: No, but Air Marshal Sharp said there were only these two
courses open to the government. I asked a former witness if he agreed with the
statement that there were only two courses; he said no, and he agreed with me
that it was a false premise and that if the appreciation was based on a false
premise, then the conclusion was false. Do you agree with that?

Mr. FouLkes: Of course I have not studied Air Marshal Sharp’s brief well
enough to say. What I was trying to say was that there are other ways of saving
money. It is pretty hard to make a case for keeping four brigades, and if you
could get rid of one brigade it would save a lot of money. As I mentioned earlier,
we want to get more specific as to what our commitments are, and once we know

what our commitments are you can make a much better plan as to how to
manage it.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Mclntosh, I will have to cut you off. Mr. Harkness is the
next questioner. You had more than fifteen minutes.
Mr. McINTOosH: Let me finish one question,

The CHAIRMAN: All right.



1238 NATIONAL DEFENCE Feb. 16, 1967

Mr. McInTosH: What you are trying to say, General, is that there are more
ways to save money or defence expenditures than by implementing unification.

Mr. FouLKES: There are other ways.

Mr. McInTosH: Do you think that they are better ways?

Mr. Fourkes: No; I will come back to my original statement, that I have
always been in support of integration.

Mr. McInTOSH: We are not talking about integration General; we are talk-
ing about unification. I understand what you mean by integration. I agree with
most of it.

Mr. MAcALUSO: It means the same thing.

Mr. McInTosH: Integration and unification? The Minister has not said so.
This whole Committee is about the definition of unification and what the Min-
ister means by it. I would like to go back to the Minister’s speech in the House
where I say that he says one thing one time and he always ends off the
paragraph by contradicting himself.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. McIntosh I will put you down for the next round. Mr.
Harkness is next.

Mr. HARKNESS: Just on this last point, General Foulkes: If we are going to
continue a peacekeeping role for the United Nations and put at their disposal
available troops for various operations such as the Congo, Cyprus and God
knows what else, would you not agree then that there is a case for this fourth
brigade?

Mr. FouLkes: Well, you still have two brigades in Canada.

Mr. HARKNESS: Yes, but those two brigades, as you stated, are committed
really to NATO.

Mr. FouLkEs: They are committed to NATO but they do not have to go until
a major war breaks out. As a matter of fact, they are only committed after
D-day, and surely if we are doing peacekeeping, the peacekeeping would just
stop if a major war started.

Mr. HARKNESS: If your two brigades were committed to some peacekeeping
task I do not think that you would be able to get them back to put them into
Europe or to carry on with their NATO role.

Mr. FouLkEs: Let me suggest to you that we have never had anything like
two brigades on peacekeeping. We have never had even three battalions. We
have had a small detachment in Egypt which are not combat troops. As you
know, they would not let us send combat troops to Egypt. And, we have
somebody in Cyprus.

Mr. HARKNESS: In Cyprus and in the Gaza Strip we now have a combined
total of two battalions actually.

Mr. FouLkEs: That is a long way from six.

Mr. HARKNESS: It is a long way from six, but I think there is also the matter
'ofprotecting Canada itself which I do not thing you would envisage leaving
without any troops at all?

Mr. FouLkEs: We would be entirely safe.

Mr. HARKNESS: Would you?
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Mr. FouLKES: As long as we were putting our forces where the fighting was
going on, we would not have to worry about what was happening here.

Mr. HARRNESS: Well, I do not know. I think a considerable number of people
would think that you need some troops for the local protection of the country,
maintenance of order and God knows what else. However, this is not the line of
questioning that I had in mind; I just followed this up because of the remarks
that you had made to Mr. McIntosh.

I think that nearly everybody believes that a certain amount of integration,
particularly as far as the administrative and supply services are concerned—the
integration of staffs, a unified command, particulary in any specific operation of
war—is a desirable objective. They are aims toward which, as you have indicat-
ed, we have been working for a good many years. However, when you come to
this final step, which you said that you advocated in this paper that you
produced, the formation of a single service, which is what I at least take as being

. what is meant by unification, do you think that that will save any money? Of

course savings can be made in respect of manpower and otherwise in the various
integration processes which have gone on, but do you think the formation of a

single service rather than a separate navy, army and air force will result in any
financial savings?

Mr. FouLkes: Well, I am not being very good on this question of how much
could be saved. I gather, from reading the proceedings of this Committee that
you can make figures talk several different ways. The big saving we have always

talked about would be accomplished by streamlining headquarters and stream-
lining administration.

Mr. HARKNESS: Yes, what is generally referred to as the “integration
process”, but not from this process of forming a single service rather than the
three that we have had.

In what way do you think a more effective force would be produced if we
had the sea element, the land element and the air element in one single force
rather than in three separate forces, each operating in its own environment?

Mr. FouLkes: Well, of course, some of these are mixed up now. They are
mixed up in Maritime Command; they are going to be mixed up in the mobile

command. You will have to wait and see whether or not you are going to get any
spectacular results from this.

Mr. Hargness: Well, I think you would agree that there is still in effect
going to be a navy or the equivalent of it; there is going to be an army or the
equivalent of it; there is going to be an air force or the equivalent of it—no
matter what you call it. Is there any advantage whatever in putting these people
into a single force and calling it a defence force rather than having them in the
three separate components in which they have been accustomed to operating?

_ Mr. FourLkes: Administratively, there might be decided advantages; I do not
think, technically, that you will get any decided advantage.

Mr. HARKNESS: You are coming back then to what you decried in your paper
as “tidy administration”. I would agree with you that there is no tactical
advantage, but T would also ask you if you do not think that there would be,

from this step, considerable disadvantages, particularly from the point of view of
morale?
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Mr. Fourkes: I think one has to weigh very carefully the disadvantages,
especially in certain fields. No doubt, there is no need for me to add anything to
what you have already heard about the disadvantages in the naval field. One of
the things that always has worried me is that our Navy does operate in a
medium almost by itself with the Air Force, which they have been doing for the
last 10 years. We set up operation control which really meant that they were
working as a team 10 years ago—this is not something new—and it has always
worked out extremely well.

Mr, HARKNESS: Yes.

Mr. FouLkes: It was opposed at the time we put it up but that was easily
settled by telling the Navy that if they did not agree, we would put an air force
man in command. This has worked wonderfully well and I do not think you can
improve too much on it.

Mr. HARKNESS: This is the very point I would like to make: I do not think
you can improve very much on the present situation.

Mr. FouLkEs: I am not talking about administration; I know precious little
about it. However, I know an awful lot about operations in the field.

Mr. HARKNESS: That is right.

Mr. FourLkes: And I know a lot about operations under SACLANT in which
our Navy takes an important part. I think that we have to be very careful that
we do not lose something with the Navy in this role because they work much
more closely with the United States Navy in this role than they work with the
Army. With the Air Force, of course, they are together as a team. I can well see
some decided difficulties in respect of the Navy in this particular role, and I
would have preferred to have gone very cautiously with this step.

Mr. HARKNESS: The bill provides for a single service. Do you think that the
components of that service will be able to work as satisfactorily with our allies in
NATO or in any other operation which, as you said, is really the only way tpat
we can work? We are not going to go to war by ourselves; we are always going
to be working with allies of some sort—presumably, as far as you can see at the
moment and in the foreseeable future, with the people who are presently associ-
ated with NATO, or with most of them at least. I think one of the critcisms which
has been made of this concept of a single force is that under that form of
organization, our forces will not be able to work as effectively with the forces of
our allies, and they will not be able to integrate or co-operate with them nearly
as well.

Mr, FourLkes: Well I think one can make a statement on that, but when you
look at it specifically, I do not see any trouble with our ground forces operating
in Europe with the ground forces because there is to be no change; in any event,
we operate as an integral part of a British division now and I presume we will
continue to do that, and there is to be no change in the Army. The Air Force has
a separate role at the present time but it works very, very closely with the
United States Air Force and 4 ATAF. However, I gather, from reading discus-
sions in the House, that it is more or less considered that when these aircraft
wear out the present role they are being given will disappear and they will be
given another role, which is hinted here as ground support.
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Now I can foresee a great deal of difficulty if we try to impose a small
Canadian Air Force, no matter what you call it, to support our own troops and
then try to stick those in the middle of the British Tactical Air Force which is
now giving us support. This will really create a lot of difficulties and I think we
should be awfully clear before we go far. I am not aware, of course, what
discussions the Minister had with General Lemnitzer, but the White Paper
suggested that he was going to have some. Knowing the situation in Europe, and
knowing General Lemnitzer, I am just surprised he did not have a stroke
because the one thing that we have tried to do in NATO, the whole time NATO
has been there, is to try and get the forces to work together in the best location
to suit the whole thing, not just to suit a particular nation. We are being used as
an example, that “Canada will do the task we give it"—and we have been used
as a startling example. I certainly would have some qualms about a suggestion
that we should stick our support in there so that we could be supported by our
own forces. It sounds well but it does not do too well in the Alliance because it
makes everybody feel that we do not think that we will be properly supported,
and on the Minister’s side of it, at least, it would be extremely upsetting.

Mr. HARgNESS: To come back to what you said a few minutes ago, that you
believe, in effect, we will continue to have much the same sea, land and air forces

that we have, what is the value to be gained by putting them all into one single
force?

Mr. FouLKES: As far as the fighting elements are concerned, I never visual-
ized this, as I pointed out before. I visualized that we would have task forces
made up of brigades, air force troops and so on, with as little change in those
fighting elements as possible, and I have never ever given any serious thoughts

to the idea of breaking up battalions and this kind of thing and making us
ambidextrous.

Mr. HARKNESS: I personally do not think that it is a practical proposition,
and I think that most people would agree on that.

Along this same line, you were mentioning particularly that you could
foresee considerable difficulties as far as the Navy is concerned. What do you
think of the proposition in this bill to change the navy’s rank structure and to

make one single rank structure for the navy, army and air force. Do you foresee
difficulties in that regard?

Mr. FourLkes: Well I can see the difficulties—and mind you these are not
new ones. As I pointed out before, when I used to discuss integration with the
Chiefs of Staff, they all suspected, and did not mind saying so, that what I
particularly had in mind was the army taking over the other two services. One of
the former Chiefs of Staff reminded me of that the other day and said it has just
happened. I think that this is one of the things that will cause a lot of trouble
because it looks as if the ground forces—and I was with the ground forces so I
can talk this way—had more or less taken over and pushed their ranks onto the
Navy—more or less the rank structure. This is another area where I suggest that

the reaction on the troops has not been given as much consideration as it should
have been in order to achieve a tidy administration.

Mr. HARKNESS: Would you agree that it would be better to leave the navy as

it is, with its present rank structure, rather than trying to impose the army rank
structure on them?
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| Mr. FouLKES: I have to be careful about this because I am batting on a very
difficult wicket, especially with the Chairman being a naval type.

Mr. HARKNESS: Oh, he will not bother you.

Mr. FouLkes: In my discussions with the Navy about rank structure when I
was Chairman of the Rank Structure Committee, they used to impress upon me
that the one thing that I did not understand was that to fight a naval battle you
had to have what is called a “happy” ship. Is that not it?

The CHAIRMAN: I have heard that expression before.

Mr. FouLkEs: Meaning that everybody on the ship, because of close confine-
ment and so on, has to be of such a type and temperament that they can get
along with each other, because, when they get into an emergency, the doctor,
and the man who stokes the fire, and so on, have to do all kinds of jobs. I be-
lieve it is a problem that does not affect the other two services as much as it
does the navy. That theory of a happy ship, I think, has some substance; they
have a specialized problem that ought to be given very careful consideration.

Mr, HARgNESS: Now I come back to the direct question: Do you think it
would be advisable to leave the navy rank structure as it is, rather than to
impose the army rank structure on the navy.

Mr. FouLKES: You are talking about names of ranks.

Mr. HARKNESS: Yes.

Mr. FourLkes: Certainly I would not have done this because I would have
foreseen that this kind of thing would bring forth irritation—in other words—it
would be doing more harm than good.

Mr. HARKNESS: I do not know whether you can see any good that it would
do, but I certainly cannot see that it would do any good.

Mr. FouLkES: I know that I would abhor it if I was now called an admiral.

Mr. HARKNESS: Yes.
An hon MEMBER: That would be asking to lower the morale.

The CHATRMAN: Well, he has already said that. Mr. Harkness—

Mr. HARKNESS: Mr. Chairman, I have only this one question. What do you
think is the effect of the present re-organization that has taken place, and what
is the likely effect of this further step toward a single service, as far as leaving us
with a mobilization base upon which we could expand our forces in the event
of the worst happening?

Mr. FouLKEs: Of course, we have to be a bit careful about this. We can talk
about the necessity of a mobilized base, but if we are really realistic one
wonders, if we get into another conflict, whether we are going to have time to
form a base, or have a need for a base. Certainly, if it is a nuclear conflict, we
will be ,d°i“g everything else but forming a base. In the last few years I have
never given much consideration as to how we are going to expand the forces. I
think what we want to make sure of is that the forces we have at the time can
provide the greatest possible contribution to the deterrent; that is our only hope.
Igats!elis thing ever breaks out, we will not have time to mobilize on any kind of a
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Mr. HARKNESS: You are speaking now of a full scale nuclear war, and I
agree with you. Actually under those circumstances, the chief job of the armed
forces—at any rate, those in Canada—is going to be a salvage operation, which
will occupy their entire energies, attention and so forth. However, would you not
admit that it is quite conceivable, if we get into another type of war—

Mr. FouLkes: I do not know. If you are talking about the major powers, I
think you just have to put yourself in this position: If war breaks out—and
suppose we get an agreement that we will not use nuclear weapons—you start to
fight with the conventional weapons you have; you start to lose, and you have
the nuclear bombs just behind you—what are you going to do? Pull them out
and use them. Where the vital interest of a nation is concerned, it is going to use
everything in its power not to be over-run. You may start with the idea that you
are going to keep war clean—I do not know how you do that—but once you have

started to use force, there is no way of preventing that force from being accel-
erated until one side or the other quits.

Mr. HARKNESS: You have an example at the present time of a very consider-
able war going on in Viet Nam, which we, of course, are not engaged in.
However, it is quite conceivable that we might be engaged in a war of that
nature, which would require a very considerable number of troops and as far as
we are concerned, a mobilization base. In this particular case there has been no
escalation to nuclear weapons, and it does not look as though there is going to
be.

Mr. FouLges: I certainly would think that you would have an awful time
convincing the Canadian people to go into that kind of a battle. We only fight
when our vital interests are affected. I do not think you would get Canadians to
support the United States in their anti-Communist crusade.

Mr. HARKNESS: We fought in Korea; what vital interest was affected then?
An hon. MEMBER: Did we fight alone?
Mr. FouLkEs: We fought with the U.N.

Mr. HARKNESS: I know we fought with the U.N., but it is just as conceivable
that we might be fighting with some of our allies in—
Mr. FouLKES: In the U.N.?

Mr. HARKNESS: No, not in the U.N., with NATO in another conflict of the
same nature.

Mr. FouLKES: In NATO?
Mr. HARKNESS: Yes.
Mr. FouLkes: If war breaks out in NATO, and we want to keep it conven-

tional, our conventional forces will last 24 hours—a 24 hour battle, and that is

all. You are not going to have any time to reinforce or mobilize for that, if that is
the premise.

Mr. HARKNESS: We are now getting into the various theories in respect to

the war that we might have, and I think it is a profitless exercise for us at this
time.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you want to leave it, Mr. Harkness?
25770—3
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Mr. HARKNESS: I notice the witness is looking at his watch.
Mr. FouLkEes: Oh, I do not mind; my time is yours.
Mr. CHURCHILL: Is the witness appearing before the Committee tomorrow?

The CHAIRMAN: The witness is prepared to come before the Committee
tomorrow morning. We have the room available at 9.30 in the morning. We seem
to be only half way through the questioners. What is the wish of the Committee?

Mr. MAcALUSO: Do you have another witness on tomorrow?

The CHAIRMAN: We have someone who is available, yes, but General
Foulkes, who has been waiting to appear before us at our request, says that he is
able to remain for further questioning tomorrow morning.

We will adjourn until 9.30 tomorrow morning.

Mr. MAcALUSO: Is my name first on your list for tomorrow morning?
The CHAIRMAN: It is, Mr. Macaluso.
Mr. MacaLuso: Thank you.

EVIDENCE
(Recorded by Electronic Apparatus)

FripAy, February 17, 1967.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, when we adjourned last night at 10 o’clock, Mr.
Harkness had just finished questioning General Foulkes. Mr. Macaluso is the
next on my list.

Mr. MacAaLuso: General, do you agree with Admiral Brock’s statement in his
Defence Policy Proposals, and I quote:
Possession of nuclear arms in any form does not enhance the flexibil-
ity of our armed forces, but, on the contrary, diminishes their usefulness in
fulfilling their primary objective in support of Canadian external policy.

- You will recall Admiral Landymore rejected this view and I am interested
in the other side of the pcture as far as the Army is concerned and also as far
as your experience in the field is concerned.

General FouLKEs: Of course, none of us had any experience in nuclear
weapons.

Mr. MacaLuso: Yes, I realize that, sir.

Mr. Fourkes: I do not think there is any question there. The position
I have always taken with regard to nuclear weapons has been, and is, well
known;. that if the Canadian government accepts tasks which are required to
be carried out by nuclear weapons, there is no alternative but to provide those
nuclear weapons. Now, as I pointed out yesterday, with a country like Canada,
which is only providing contributions to the collective defence organization,
there is a lot of leeway in those contributions. If it is government policy that it
does not want to be involved in nuclear weapons they can select, fairly well,
tasks that are still to be done which do not involve the use of nuclear weapons.
My objection before about nuclear weapons was that we had tasks which had
been accepted and which required the support of nuclear weapons. Furthermore,
I would suggest to you that in Europe, for instance, in a forward role where we
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are likely to be attacked by superior forces, you need every kind of support you
can get.

Mr. MacaLuso: My point concerns the flexibility or inflexibility of the
statement. Admiral Brock says:

Possession of nuclear arms in any form does not enhance the flexibil-
ity of our armed forces . . .

This is what I am concerned with. Does it enhance flexibility? Does it make
our forces inflexible or more flexible?

Mr. FouLkEs: I really do not understand this statement because when you
talk about flexibility it is not necessarily a discussion about the type of weapons
which you are carrying. For instance, whether the navy have depth charges with
nuclear warheads or not, does not, I think, affect the flexibility of that particular
ship.

Mr. MAacaLuso: Thank you, General.

Now, General, you prepared your own plan. Could you tell us fundamental-
ly what is the difference, if any, between your plan and the present plan.

Mr. FouLkES: As I pointed out yesterday, in the final analysis there is very
little difference; that is, in the setup. The difference in the plan that I proposed
some years ago was more in implementation.

Mr. MACALUSO: More in the mechanics of using the single force. Is that it?

Mr. FouLkes: No, not at all, because the plan I proposed was in three stages
and the final stage looks very much the same as the diagram that you have. In
other words, you have a completely integrated headquarters at the top, and then
underneath you have task forces and those task forces will be made up of the
forces that are required to do that particular job. Now, mine were not exactly
the same names. I had: Maritime Transport, Air Defence Transport, and the one
which is now called Mobile Command I had as a Strategic Reserve, but its
functions were exactly the same. The difference was mainly in the way that I
foresaw the implementation of this scheme. May I take five minutes to quote
this?

The CHAIRMAN: Please do, sir.

Mr. FourLkes: I would just like to read this, because there has been a great
deal of loose talk about what I intended because it all has been from that popular
article that appeared in the Star Weekly. I will read exactly from the document.
In describing it I said:

There are three stages. The first stage deals with the development of
a single administration, the amalgamation of all common administrative
functions including standardization of all administrative procedures, rec-
ords, special services, and the unification of all service establishments to
create a single list of all service personnel. In order to ensure the whole-
hearted co-operation, especially in the initial steps of amalgamation, and
to be able to deal expeditiously with the unexpected problems which are
bound to arise, it is considered prudent to involve the whole of the Chief
of Staff Committee as a policy and co-ordinating group during the first

two stages of integration. The Chiefs of Staff would turn over their day to
25770—3}%
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day business to the Vice Chiefs in order to be able to devote as much time
as necessary in dealing with the problems of the first stage of integration.

I foresaw that you would have serious morale problems arising from even

the announcement of integration. The best way, I felt, to go and satisfy the
services that they were not going to be disbanded or replaced by somebody else
was to do it by their present titular head. And also there was another view. I
thought that the Service Chiefs would work as a team because none of them
would know whether they were the fellow to be selected for the top job, so we
were bound to get full co-operation.
' The first thing which I foresaw should happen would be the appointment of
a Chief of Personnel and a Chief of Logistics and they would take up the
positions of a co-ordinating group. In the matter of policy, the co-ordinating
group—that is the Chiefs of Staff sitting in permanent session—would be the
co-ordinating group, and the day to day business would be done by the Vice
Chiefs.

The present collection of administrative committees would be abolished as
soon as practical but the committees involving outside representation—that is,
outside of Canada—working with the United States and with NATO, would be
left as a policy group to take action.

During the implementation of the first stage, the operational and training
functions would remain with the services. The Deputy Chiefs of Personnel
would continue to function as a Deputy Chief of Naval Personnel, the Adjutant
General and the Deputy Air Member for Personnel until the beginning of Phase
II. This precaution I felt was necessry in order to make provision for a quick
switch back to service control if we got into difficulties.

Now, as a military planner I could not put forward a plan which did not
make provision for us immediately going to war. A politician could take the risk
of saying: Well, we are not going to have a war for two or three years and
therefore we can go along with a disturbed condition. A military man could not
make any such recommendations, so I had to work out a plan whereby, if we got
into difficulties we could immediately switch back. We still would have the
Chiefs there and all we had been doing was getting the organization amalgamat-
ed which would break into three pieces very easily.

The second stage would be to appoint what I would call the Commanders in
Chief; commanders of the various task forces. My concept of this is a little bit
different. I call them Commanders in Chief:

responsible for all operations and training above wing or individual
standard. They would be responsible for all operation of forces at home
and abroad. The Commanders in Chief would be the advisers to the Chiefs
of Staff and the Minister on all aspects and functions of their respective
command, such as, maritime, ground and air defence.

In other words, we would not have between the Minister and the Command-
ers in the field anybody else except the Chiefs of Staff. In other words, he
would not have any need to meet his staff. They would do all the planning, all
the advising and everything else. This means that you would have contact with

{
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them almost all the time. I think this is one of the essentials in a close-knit
organization.

They would receive operational direction from the Chiefs of Staff and
would deal directly with the Chief of Personnel and Logistics on day to
day administration. However, on policy of manpower, provision of equip-
ment and composition of task forces, that would be dealt with by higher
authority. The task forces would be a functional group composed of
elements required to accomplish a particular task accepted by the govern-
ment.

Now, the final stage: After—and only after—the administration and the
logistics were completely set up and working, you would abolish the Chiefs of
Staff Committee and then appoint the Chief of Staff of the Armed Services. I
was not very good, and I did not feel I could dream up the type of headquar-
ters I would require to handle the task forces until the task forces were set up
and I could see how they were working and what was required, beyond the
Commanders of those task forces, to control in Ottawa. That is the reason that
I started this way. Then the Chiefs of Staff would be abolished and what was
left, after the Commander in Chief’s organization was set up and working
satisfactorily, would have to be grouped together under what I called the
General Staff; in other words, exactly the same as what is now the Vice
Chief’s department in the present setup. Then you would select your Chief
and the show would run, but I would not put the Chief in charge until the
show was running.

Now, that is the plan which I have been talking about. It is different only in
approach to the plan you are bound to here.

Mr. MacaLuso: As I say, the difference is a matter of approach. This is my
last remark, General. The final results of your plan and the present plan outlined
in Bill No. C-243 are the same.

Mr. FouLkEes: Yes, with this reservation: I foresaw no interference with the
combat forces at all. I would keep the combat forces with as little change as
possible. I could not see how you could very much improve on our combat forces
and certainly, until the show was running fairly well, I would want to leave
them with the assurance that they were still going to fight the way they were
fighting before, and I did not see there was any need to do any unifying or
integrating in the combat element.

Mr. MacaLuso: General, in the matter of your last remark, you mentioned
last night the interference in combat elements, but I re-read Hansard last
evening—I do not know whether you had the opportunity—where the Minister
stated there was no such interference in those elements. I am just wondering
whether you had the opportunity to read that also.

Mr. FouLkes: I re-read it and re-read it again this morning, and outside
of not understanding the fourth paragraph on page 1834, I find myself in com-
plete agreement. But I just do not understand that paragraph; if anybody else
understands it and can explain it to me I would be very grateful.

Mr. MacaLuso: Thank you, General.
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Mr. DEACHMAN: Mr. Chairman, I have just one question to address to the
General about something that arose yesterday. General Foulkes, towards the
top of page 11 of your brief you say:

On page 10828 of Hansard it states as follows: The force structure is
composed of force units.

And it is at this point that you go on to expand the idea that unification
would break a military component down below the level of a battalion and we
would find ourselves pulling apart the battalion formation. I was worried about
this because it was the first time I had heard his idea put forward, and I looked
up Hansard last night and have it before me this morning. There is one short
paragraph which contains this quote and I want to read it. I am not sure it
wholly clears it up, but I think it should be on the record.

The force structure is comprised of force units which may be used
individually or in combination depending on the military tasks to be
undertaken. These force units are the infantry companies, the armoured
squadrons, the artillery batteries, the engineering squadrons, field ambu-
lances, the air squadrons, warships and the support ships, to mention a
few. None of these will be changed in moving to a single service from
three separate services. They will continue to be trained and equipped for
their particular roles. Moreover, a single service will involve no change in
the organization of these force units into formations such as brigades, air
wings, or squadrons of ships. On the other hand, the deployment of these
units and formations is directed by a single command chain in accordance
with the missions assigned, and under a single command responsible for
these missions.

Now, I think I could interpret that to mean that there would be no breaking
up of the organization below the level of brigades, air wings or squadrons, but
I can also see room for the interpretation which you put on it. I wonder
whether you have had any opportunity between last night and today to clarify
that point or think about it, because if it cannot be cleared while you are
before us, I certainly think it is a question that ought to be raised when the
Minister and his departmental people return. That is the substance of my only
question this morning.

Mr. FouLKES: Mr. Deachman, this is the subject which we were just talking
about. I entirely agree that certainly I can live with the latter part of that
paragraph. The part that upsets me—that I cannot understand—is the first two
sentences. The reason I raised this is that if I do not understand it, having
considerable experience, I am afraid a lot of other people who have not had my
experience will not understand it as well. I was just concerned because you can
read into this that the battalions are going to be broken up and operated as
individual companies, and I am sure that would disturb the morale of any
battalion.

Again, I may be wrong in that, but if I am wrong I do not understand what
it is there for. As I pointed out yesterday, you can see a situation where you
might send a few troops off in a ship to do a commando raid or something like
that, but that is not the normal. I take this statement of the Minister as a
directive of the normal procedure that is going to be followed, and that was the
issue I was raising. I entirely agree that these forces will be made up of brigades,
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and air wings, and squadrons, but it was just these first two sentences that were
puzzling me.

Mr. DEaAcEMAN: They still continue to puzzle me, sir, and I will raise it when
the Minister is before us again.

Mr. FouLkes: May I add one word regarding the purpose of raising these
issues. They may appear to be small, but I am sure that you did not bring me
here just to have me talk about all the wonderful things that have been done.
There are many, like the trade structure, and so on, but those are being said
with much more emphasis in other places. I was quite sure what you wanted
me to do was to take a critical look at this from the standpoint of the people
that have to carry it out, and that is exactly what I am doing. If things are not
clear to me I am sure that those a little farther down are going to have the same
trouble in understanding it, and it is much easier now to clear it up than
after it has become regulation. As I pointed out earlier, the next stage is for
the staff to turn-this directive into regulations, and once it goes in regulations
anybody that does not follow them or disagrees with them is subject to mili-
tary law. I think we want to be careful that we have the right kind of context
and it is fully understood, so that when these are turned into regulations and
directions and there is no recourse but to obey them, the matter is quite clear.

Mr. DEAcHMAN: I have just one other short question. At the top of page 10
of your brief is a reference to the possibility of a chaotic situation if we
developed a force in which every brigade had its own private air to ground
support. In reading some background material about these matters I ran across
an idea that the Australians are putting forward. In the Viet Nam theatre they
find the American operation so big and they are so willing to take risks and to
use masses of equipment that the Australians are rather overwhelmed by the
whole thing. They are conceiving the idea that they would be far better off if
they were to operate a sector of their own with their own complete forces and
put in a task force, and make themselves responsible for that area and go it
alone.

I just wonder whether or not we, as a much smaller nation than the major
powers, if engaged in a major operation would not find ourselves looking at the
same problem as the Australians now face with their 5,000-man force in Viet
Nam, vis-a-vis the massive forces of the United States.

Mr. FouLkes: There are two things I would like to say about that. One is
this: You are talking about Viet Nam where a very small force is working with a
very large one. It is rather similar to the Korean operation and there were
similar situations in the Korean operation and, as you all know by reading the
history, we were not too happy on certain occasions about what the big partner
was doing. But I think in a partnership like that where you have to depend on
your support—Ilike we did in Korea—on forces all from the United States, there
are certain things you have to put up with.

Mind you, I think representations can always be made to the Americans who
do not look at things in exactly the same way as we do, I did not like the way the
Americans who operated with me in Europe handled their divisions, but they
were given to me for a particular operation. They have a different approach to
things than we do. In NATO it is quite different. There you have a group of
nations but one is not dominating the whole situation; you are partners and we
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always talk about equal partnership in NATO. Therefore, I think the tendency,
as I mentioned yesterday, should be towards making contributions to the whole.

I realize that this paragraph on air forces might mean something different
from my interpretation and certainly, if I had been writing this paragraph, I
would have said something like this: “It is the intention of the government, as
and when the strike role is no longer suitable to go into the role of ground
support and to that end we intend to form a ground support unit to support t.he
NATO forces. We hope that it can be placed in such a position where it will,
besides supporting some of the other al'ies, support the Canadian brigade.” If
that is the context I have no objection to it, but from the way it is worded the
particular thing that struck me was this mass flying.

An hon. MEMBER: What page is it on?

Mr. FOULKES: It is on page 22 of the White Paper. It is particularly the last
sentence that made me feel we were going to do something else. It states:

—Thus, ground and air forces would complement each other in a manner
which has not been possible in the past.

Now, while that is nice to say, the troops on the ground do not know whether
Canadian aircraft are flying over and supporting them, or UK. aircraft or
something else. All they know is that they are getting air support. I would hate
to see us even suggest that we are going to put in air support just for the
Canadian brigade. Mind you, when you want air support you want a whole lot;
you do not want to have just one squadron. When you need it you want a whole
lot—all there is—if you have a serious situation. At other times you do not need
any and it should be available to go to support another part of the area.

That is what I was trying to get at in this question of air support; to try to
give the full support to the man who is fighting the battle. It might be Canadians
doing it one time or somebody else, but that is the air force’s function. This gave
me the impression that we were trying to say we were going to make sure our
Canadians were supported by Canadians but, of course, that may not have been
the intention. But again, I suggest that when it gives me that impression it might
also give it to somebody else.

Mr. DEACHMAN: Thank you very much, sir.

The CHAIRMAN: Before we move on, may I just say personally how very
nice it is—and I am sure the rest of the members of the Committee will
agree—to see two old members of the Committee back again—Mr. MacLean and
Mr. MacRae. The next questioner is Mr. Churchill.

Mr. CHURCHILL: Do you mean by that you would prefer to have them here
rather than some of the new members?

The CHAIRMAN: Never!

Mr. CHURCHILL: General Foulkes, I was very much impressed with your
presentation last night and your emphasis on the end result of our defence
forces; namely, the combat part. With your experience, your remarks on morale
and the combat essentials, I think, carry a great deal of weight with the
Committee. The importance of hearing from a person like yourself, sir, is
that—as you, I think, mentioned—we are soon going to be running short of men
in the services who have had active war experience, and full advantage should
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be taken at this stage of massive re-organization of those who have had active
war experience, and you are in that category.

Would you mind, for the permanent record, giving us a rundown of your
career? The reason I ask is that while we know it ourselves, people will be
reading the Committee reports now and in the future and they may wonder who
General Foulkes is and whether he is speaking with the voice of authority, or
whether he is a sort of an honorary general who had no experience of any
weight. Would you mind just giving us a brief outline of your career?

Mr. FOULKES: This is a little bit embarrassing.
Mr. CHURCHILL: I know, but it is important for the record.

Mr. FouLkes: Perhaps I can put it this way: I had the opportunity of
commanding 1st Canadian Corps in the latter stages of the fight in Italy and the
final stages of the battles in Europe, including the surrender of the 20th German
Army to the 1st Canadian Corps in Holland. Immediately after the war I was
brought back to be Chief of the General Staff. I was Chief of the General Staff
from 1945 until 1951. During that period I had to deal with the demobilization of
the overseas forces and the setting up of the new army and also thé setting up of
the Defence Research Board. Actually, if you read the history of the Defence
Research Board you will find that it was the army that did most of the work on
organizing the Defence Research Board.

I became Chairman of the Chiefs of Staff as well as CGS in 1947. In 1951,
which was the time of the Korean war and the setting up of the forces in NATO,
it became apparent that there was room for a full-time job as the Chairman of
the Chiefs of Staff. The government took the decision that the Chairman of the
Chiefs of Staff would be a separate job and I was relieved of the responsibilities
of commanding the army. I remained as Chairman of the Chiefs of Staff until
1959, when I asked to retire. I asked to retire because I had completed 35 years
service and I felt if I stayed on any longer it would interfere with other peoples’
promotion.

Now that you have given me this opportunity—perhaps you did not realize
what you were doing, but you opened the way for me to say anything—I do want
to point out at this particular time that I had the opportunity of serving under
three prime ministers and five defence ministers and, while we never always
agreed, during that whole period of time I was never asked to resign or did I
ever feel like putting in my resignation. I feel quite strongly on the point that
there is a great need for a genuine—I do not quite know what the right word
is—but a co-operative working between the military and the politician. Unless
we can do that in a small country like Canada I think we are going to get into a
great many difficulties. I see no reason why it should not be possible. It has been
possible in the past and I am quite sure were there to be give and take on both
sides that we should be able to establish the closest possible relationship between
the military and the political leaders.

I do not agree with some of the statements that were made yesterday on this
matter. The military give advice; they do not make decisions—they give advice.
The government can take as much of that advice as it likes as long as it
understands at the same time, that it is taking the military risk. I think a point
we have to bear in mind is where one begins and the other ends. Quite often I
have found in my career that the military are apt to put a proposition to the
Minister or to the government in a very direct military way. They say: “Here is
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the problem; here is the military solution.” I have found in my career that if I
wanted to get something accepted I never just put up one proposition for a
“Yes” or “No” answer—because you get “No” so quickly. But if you put up a
proposition and you have one, two, or three difficult answers, I have yet to see
the politician who will not show how good a chooser he is by picking one of
those. So, you kept your scheme in—you may not have got exactly what you
were trying to get—but you at least got one of the ones that would suit your
purpose. The military are really to blame for a lot of their difficulties by putting
things up in that way and not giving enough scope for consideration of the
political factors that enter into every Minister’s decision. I went much further
than you asked me to go.

Mr. CHURCHILL: While we are on that topic, you always conceived it to be
your duty to put frankly before the political leaders your views from the
military point of view?

Mr. Fourkes: I did not, by any means, always get concurrence. I do recall
one time, when I came into a Cabinet Defence meeting, that Mr. St. Laurent
—who was, perhaps, the easiest man I have ever worked with—looked down to
the other end of the table where I was sitting. He pointed his finger at me and
said: “General, how many times do I have to say, No?” So I do not think one
should get the impression that—

Mr. CHURCHILL: I will not be able to exhaust my questions in 10 minutes but
I would like to concentrate on just one matter at this moment. In some respects,
sir, you represent the chief witness for the government on the process of
unification and you know we are involved in a little political controversy over
this. I gained the impression last night, when you were questioned by Mr.
Meclntosh, that you did not understand the unification as proposed in the White
Paper or in the Minister’s speech and yet the press report which I read this
morning states that General Foulkes approves of unification. This, of course, is
the achievement of the object that the government has in mind, because with
your support of unification and the weight of your authority, then the rest of us
obviously will have to give ground. Is the report that you approve of unification
correct, when you told us last night that you did not understand what the
Minister meant by unification.

Mr. FouLkes: First of all, Mr. Churchill, let me correct one thing. I am not a
witness for the government.

Mr. C_HURCHILL: I know you are not, but the government is relying on you,
sir, as I will point out in a moment.

Mr. FouLKES: I do not know anything about that, but I did not want the
Minutes to show that T was a witness for the government. I have had no
correspondence with the government on this at all; the invitation came from the
Chairman of your Committee.

Now with regard to what appeared in the newspaper, I have not studied the
newspaper so I do not know what it is, but I can make this quite clear, as I
thought I did last night. I am not too clear myself on what is unification and
what is integration, but I have no qualms at all in saying, categorical'y, that I
agree with the _integration as I understand it, and the integration as I read it in
Hzmaard; that is, the forming of a top headquarters and command. But I have
raised issues here, the things I did not understand and did not agree with, and
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they appear to be only rather minor interpretations of what is meant, for
instance, by company groups, how they are going to use the air force and so on.
Those are the only reservations I make. I do not think there is any question
about the fact that I have supported integration from the beginning; talked
about it since 1945, and I have not changed my views on it at all. I have been
critical about the way it is being implemented, but that has nothing to do with
the principle of integration as I see it today.

Mr. CHURCHILL: When you appeared before our Committee in 1963 you
dwelt at some length on integration and I have been reading it over again. At
that time you said nothing to us—and yet there was ample opportunity—about a
single unified force wth everyone in the same uniform and an amalgamation of
the three forces. In fact, your submission then, like your submission last night,
emphasized the need for maintaining the combat forces in the role in which they
now operate. You made no suggestion to us that the identity of the navy should
be destroyed. In fact, in 1963 you put considerable emphasis on increasing the
activity of the anti-submarine role. You said nothing to us about destroying the
identity of the air force. On the contrary, you were suggesting a modified role for
it, and you said nothing to us about destroying the identity of the army.

But the unification proposal that we have in front of us now is precisely the
destruction of the identity of the navy, the army and the air force, and every-
thing you said to us last night with regard to morale and from your own war
experience—we realize the importance of that—puts greater emphasis, I would
think, on retaining the identity of these three services. My understanding of your
position has been: integration, yes—but retention of the combat functions of the

three services with their identity sustained. Is that a fair summary of your
position?

Mr. FouLkEs: Not quite. The question of the identity of the forces is one
which has never given me too much concern because, as I have repeatedly said, I
foresaw the construction of the forces remaining as it is. In other words, I fore-
saw brigades of infantry, flotillas of ships, and so on. You may be taking away
the name of the force, but there are still going to be infantry battalions, and
there are still going to be infantry brigades. You would have some difficulties, I
think, if you tried to maintain the complete identity in that regard.

I did say, in a glib moment, something about uniforms, but again I suggest
to you that in any scheme like this, you may have to change your mind. I feel at
this particular stage, where there is a great deal of opposition being raised,
perhaps it is not the time to bring in questions of a common uniform, nor do I
think a common uniform has any significance whatever, We do not wear a
uniform when we fight; we fight in combat clothing and, as I understand it, that
is not going to change, and if it is I do not know why. We do not fight any more
in uniform, we fight in combat clothing, and that is all that really interests me.
What a man walks out in really does not matter.,

I know you will remember that during the war the Highlander always
wanted to wear his kilt, and when we turned a former Highland Regiment into
an anti-aircraft unit, they still wanted to wear the kilt, and Harry Crerar almost
had a cat fit—fancy a gunner in a kilt! In order to maintain its morale it still
kept its kilt—it liked its kilt. Now, if a highlander will fight better in a kilt, as
far as I am concerned give him a kilt or give him anything else. It seems to me
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that these are the kinds of thngs that do not add to our efficiency but annoy
people a bit, and I think we should try to avoid them at this particular time.

Now, you might reach a stage 20 years from now when everyone woulq say
that they wanted to have a common uniform, but for my money it is not an issue
that is worth while upsetting people about, because it does not affect their
fighting efficiency one iota.

Mr. CHURCHILL: When you say that it is not an issue that is worth while, it is
not an issue that is worth while from the standpoint of higher command or
government, but it is an issue that is recognized as being important to the
individual—the man that you so emphasized last night, the individual soldier,
sailor or the airman—for his morale, Let the highlander have his kilt; it satisfies
him. Let the airman have his light blue uniform. »

Mr. FourLKEs: That is what I said, but apparently I did not get it across.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I was saying, sir, that without your support the people who
are propounding this idea of a single unified service would not have much to go
on. Your words, which you said in a loose moment you permitted the Toronto
Star to write up, have been imperishably recorded in Hansard, sir, on January
31, 1967 and you must give full credit to Mr. Jim McNulty. If he were serving in
the forces you could mention him in despatches, because he has recorded on
almost three pages of Hansard the complete record of the Toronto Star weekly c_>f
October 14, 1961. His supporters got a great deal of satisfaction out of this
paragraph and I quote:

The problem can only be solved by complete unification of the three
services, with one chief of staff, one chain of command, one ladder of
promotion and one uniform.

So, I take it that you are not quite so impressed at this moment with that
statement which was extracted, I suppose, from your document of 1961?

Mr. Fourkes: I just want to read to you what I said about uniforms in the
document of 1961, I said:

There is one aspect of this problem which remains unsolved and that
is the question of a single service uniform. However, this omission is
perhaps in line with other matters of national identity such as the national
flag and so on and I presume will be decided some time.

I did not make any strong recommendations. As I have pointed out, this is
not a matter of grave import in the integration scheme and it has always been
my concept that if it were going to upset someone, I certainly would not put it
into effect. I think one has to look at these schemes. One makes an outline
plan—the general policy statement—and then you start to work it out and if
something becomes a bit difficult, then surely you can adjust your plan. And
certainly, under the present conditions, I would not have recommended a change
in uniform or anything else at this stage.

Mr. CHURCHILL: Let us say that with the benefit of your long experience, sir,
as a serving soldier, a commander and staff man at headquarters, you have

shown flexibility. I have many other questions, Mr. Chairman, but I will have to
defer to someone else.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Mclntosh, you are next.
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Mr. McInTosH: General, I want to pursue Mr. Churchill’s interpretation of
what was in the paper this morning. I took it for granted last night that you
made an admission that you were somewhat confused between the two terms,
integration and unification, and I would like to get it perfectly clear. There may
be reason for this confusion; it may be the Minister’s paper, or it may be that the
term “unification” is used in the British forces and other forces where we have
been using it as “integration.” I think that we in the opposition have made it
clear that we agree to a certain amount of integration, but this word “unifica-
tion” is a mysterious word to us. We do not know what it means and actually I
would say that you are making an assumption that there is going to be no change
in the combat forces and all your remarks are based on that premise. Now, I
would agree with you but, as you said yourself, we are politicians, and we have
to be very careful what is put into these acts.

Now, I would refer you to the Minister’s speech under the heading; Con-
tinuation of Units and Elements. He goes on at great length here to tell you that
there will be no change in this, and no change in that, just perhaps a little
change in the name. But the very last sentence is what concerns us and this is of
deep concern to us. We do not know what it means and it makes us very
suspicious. The last sentence reads that there be no change whatsoever, and I
paraphrase the rest of the paragraph:

—until the force structure within the unified force is developed.

What does he mean by that? That is what we are afraid of in unification,
Have you got that sentence there?

Mr. FouLkES: Yes, but I am afraid, Mr. McIntosh, that I am not one who can
interpret what the Minister means. I think this is a question that you should put
to him when he comes on the stand. I took it that this paragraph meant that we

were going to have little change in—as you say—the combat element of the
forces.

Mr. McInTosH: We put this question to the Minister and to everyone we
could think of and we have not had a satisfactory answer, and that is what leads
us to believe that the Minister has dreamed up this term “unification” and he is

going to try to fit the forces into something afterwards. We are concerned about
our combat troops.

I will leave that and give you an idea of what our concern is about this, even
with regard to what you say about integration and unification. I would say that
perhaps the press is giving a wrong impression of your evidence, because I do
not personally believe that you are in favour of unification. You state that time
and time again. You are in favour of integration.

In a Canadian press release you made reference to the discharge of 500

newly trained pilots. You said that this was a grave error and it was a waste of
$100 million. Would you care to elaborate on that statement?

Mr. FourLkes: I think, perhaps, while you read that statement you also
should have read the retraction I made of that statement. I had wrong informa-
tion about these pilots and I should have checked it. I did not take the trouble to
check it—being in Victoria I had no way of checking it—and I published a
retraction and an apology two days later.

Mr. McINTosH: All right, that is a fair answer to that.
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Also in your statement you said on page 7:

As you are all aware Canada’s offer to provide combat troops in
Egypt was turned down.

Now could you tell us whether you have any information of why these
combat troops were turned down in Egypt?

Mr. FouLKES: If you remember the circumstances of the Suez difficulty, Mr.
Pearson at that time, as you know, worked out a plan to put in a force with the
UN. It was the first real experiment with the UN and at the time we had a
stand-by battalion ready to go. However, the stand-by battalion was not accept-
ed. I have no information as to why the Egyptian government would not accept
it. I think I stated publicly that my own view was we selected the wrong unit.
Here the Egyptians and the British were having a tangle and we were not smart
enough: we selected a unit with the name “Queen’s Own” which is pretty hard to
swallow. I think this had just about as much to do with it as anything else.

Mr. McInTosH: It was the name “Queen’s Own?”

Mr. FouLkEes: Yes, if we had used the Royal 22nd or something—perhaps
the RCR—I do not think we would have had the same problem. However, you
can imagine the reaction in Egypt, having trouble with the British and then
having to accept the mediation forces, one of them known as the Queen’s Own.

Mr. McInTosH: Would it have anything to do with flying the Red Ensign at
that time?

Mr. FouLKkEs: Oh, I would not think so.

Mr. McInTosH: Would it have anything to do with the colour of the uniform
at that time which was khaki?

Mr. FouLkes: Well, the troops we did send still wore khaki. We sent
administrative troops. What happened, as you know, was that they said they did
not want a battalion but they would like us to send administrative troops, so we
organized an administrative force and, as you know, we sent it, complete with its
equipment, in the Magnificent.

Mr. McINTosH: You said you thought the reason was because the name of
the unit was the Queen’s Own.

Mr. FouLkes: They said they did not want combat troops so we did not,
therefore, send any combat troops.

Mr. McINTosH: Would it not also follow, then, that because the British had
khaki uniforms and the Canadia forces had khaki uniforms, they did not want
that likeness in the area?

Mr. FouLKES: Let me suggest, Mr. McIntosh, that I do not know of a country,
except perhfaps in South America, where the ground forces do not wear a khaki
uniform. It is almost universal. I do not think that had anything to do with it.

Mr. McInTosH: Well the people you fought against in the Second World War
did not wear khaki?

Mr. FOULKES: No, no; they had grey.

Mr. McINTOSH: You said this morning, also, that all combat uniforms were
the same. I just want to point out they are not actually all the same.
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Mr. FouLkes: I was referring to the combat clothing the forces have now in
which I understand there is to be no change. That is what I meant. Perhaps I
used to wrong word when I said the “same”,

Mr. McINnTosH: Where do you get the understanding, General, that there is

going to be no change in that uniform? Is that laid down any place as what the
Minister has said?

Mr. FOULKES: I am sure the Minister has made a reference to the fact that
the operational uniforms are not to be changed. As a matter of fact, I think it is
in his speech somewhere. But I do have a definite recollection of reading it.

Mr. McInTosH: I would like to point out to you again, General, that the
Minister has said a great deal in his speech but our interpretation of it is,
apparently, different from someone else’s interpretation, and we can point out, as
well as the other side can point out, the Minister has said this and we can point
out in his speech where he contradicted what is brought up. It is a yes and no
speech. He can point to any part of his speech and say: Yes, I did say that and I
did say this. :

In the paragraph I just referred to he said there is going to be no change in
the forces whatsoever, but again I say he ends up: “until the force structure
within the unified force is developed,” which would lead you to believe there is
going to be a change sometime; or this would lead me to believe so.

Mr. FOULKES:-Again, I say that is a matter you should put to the Minister.

Mr. McInTosH: Right, I agree with you. Now, at the top of page eight, you
make this statement:

This proposal regarding the change of emphasis away from NATO,

gives the impression that we are departing from a policy of interde-
pendence inclining towards a policy of self-conained national forces.

Further down on the same page after referring to a statement contained on
page 10835 of Hansard you say:

If this statement really means what it says—

You are having the same difficulty we are having with the minister’s speech.

—it would take away from the Supreme Commanders, NORAD and the
UN the responsibilities of strategic and operational planning of the
various Canadian contributions to their respective commands. How the
unified headquarters could do this is completely beyond me.

Would these two statements indicate to you that it is Canada’s intention to
opt out of any of our alliances?

Mr. FouLkes: No. Perhaps I am a bit allergic to military people using
phrases like, change of emphasis. That may be all right on the political side but
military people do not do things in half measures. If we are going to provide
forces in Europe then we provide forces in Europe. There is no question of how
much emphasis. You are not going to do just half of your job. The statement I
was referring to was made by Air Marshal Sharp; that there was a change of
emphasis. To me, that means a slowing down or not doing the job so well. Now if
it does happen that the position in NATO is such it is agreed among the partners
that the forces there can be whittled down, well and good. But that is a decision
which is normally taken as an alliance decision. But a military suggestion that
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we are not going to put as much emphasis on it as we did before, that we are
going to let it slip a bit, is not, it seems to me, a thing the military should do.
Surely we should fulfil this commitment, whatever it is, or cut the commitment
down in agreement with our NATO partners. But, whatever we do, do it well.
This seems to me to be suggesting we are going to let it slip a bit and put more
emphasis, as he says, on this other role which I must say I do not understand.

Mr. McInTOSH: You are saying, then, that Air Marshal Sharp’s presentation
to this Committee is not clear as far as you are concerned?

Mr. FouLkEs: Not this particular bit of it.

Mr. McInTosH: Is that what led you to say further down on that page:
I hope this is only an error and not notice of an intention.

Mr. FourLkes: No, that is not referring to Air Marshal Sharp’s statement;
that refers to a statement which appeared in Hansard. It appeared in Hansard on
page 10835 at the bottom of the page. It has to do with management and
strategical planning. Again, I emphasize that I was looking at the NATO problem
here. This is strategic and operational planning; it is not a Canadian function
with regard to the forces that are placed under NATO which are the bulk of our
forces. I was hoping that this was not some kind of an idea that we were going to
try to tell the people in NATO how to do their strategic and operational plan-
ning. I hope that was not the case. We are part of the alliance and contribute
towards the strategic concept. We extend our views on it but we do not do it.
That is done collectively. I was just wondering, since there has been emphasis on
a tendency to have national organized forces, whether this was some other kind
of it. It can be read that we participate in the strategic and operational planning.
It was not quite clear to me. But, as long as there is no intention of our not
accepting strategic and operational planning from the Supreme Allied Com-
manders I am quite happy. But again, this is a matter I am sure the Minister will
explain when he makes his speech because I have raised it.

Mr. McINTosH: From your remarks I would take it that you had some doubt
when you used the words “I was hoping” and “I was wondering”. Now, has the
situation been clarified since your recent visit to Ottawa, listening in on the
Committee proceedings, and so on? Do you still have that doubt? Are you still
hoping, are you still wondering?

Mr. FOULKES: You mean about strategic and operational—

Mr. .MFINTOSH: Well there are two points there that we raised. You said: “I
hope this is .only an error” and then you also said, “If this statement really
means what it says” and two different points were brought out in the brief that

iou t;ad doubts about. Now, have they been clarified since you have been down
ere?

Mr. FouLkEs: Yes, I am quite prepared to look at it this way; that this
strategxc and operational planning put in here was really more rhetoric than
anything else.

Mr. MCINTOSH: Could I ask you what convinced you, because this is what we
are looking for ourselves. A great deal of weight is going to be put on your
testimony by the public of Canada and we are going to take a second look at all
the remarks you have made here because we want to be convinced. We want
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the assurances that you apparently have received now, and how are we going
to get them? What convinced you?

Mr. FouLkes: First of all let me say that I feel you over-emphasize my
importance to this Committee.

Mr. McInTosH: This is my opinion, General, so I do not over-emphasize
that.

Mr. FouLkes: What I am trying to do is to point out things that are not clear
to me with the purpose of making sure that this Committee comes up with the
best possible solution to this problem. As I pointed out in my opening remarks, I
did not expect to be called before the Committee. I had about 24 hours after I
got these papers to prepare a critique on them. Therefore, I have not been
able to take every phrase and examine it with great care. But, I pointed out
to the Committee the things that have not been clear to me, because they
may not be clear to you and I am sure that when you question the Minister you
can get clarification of what is meant by this because this is the Minister’s
statement. I do not think anybody else but the Minister can interpret this.

Mr. McInTosH: I did not want an excuse, General, I.wanted something
concrete that I could work on when I fulfil my responsibility as a member of
parliament who is charged with the responsibility of voting for or against this
bill. You, as a military expert for whom I have a regard, are going to throw a lot
of weight on what I do, regardless of what my colleague over here says.

Mr. FouLkes: I am still unclear on the question you want to put to me.

Mr. McInTosH: Let me put the first question, then. Do you think unification
is good for the armed forces?

Mr. FouLkEs: Yes, that is, on the understanding, as I have explained my
view, that I cannot tell the difference between unification and integration.

Mr. McInTosH: I will not pursue that. On page 9, General, you say:

Parcelling out the air facilities in penny packets is most wasteful and
creates complete chaos in the air over the battle field. ..

I think it is a maxim of military training that no commander, regardless of
what level, is to dissipate his forces in small packets. My thought on this is: Is
Canada trying to opt out of the alliances it already has, for another purpose, or
are we spreading our forces too thin over what we intend to do?

Mr. Fourkes: Well, I have already spoken about that particular paragraph
in answer to a question by Mr. Deachman, but I can repeat it. You will recall
that I emphasized the fact that Canada makes contributions to NATO. I am
repeating it because I am dead sure that we should continue this kind of support
for NATO. Our recent contribution was an air division. That air division,
originally, was an air defence division. When these troops were put into NATO, 1
do recall the direction we got from the government of the day was that we
should make our contribution to this appear to be defensive and not offensive.

When the air defence role became redundant and General Norstadt suggest-
ed a strike role, this was not accepted with very much enthusiasm by the St.
Laurent administration. They did not like the idea that we were leaving what we
had said we would do—defence of Europe. We were looking now as if we were

going to strike. They were making quite a difference of it. Therefore, there was
25770—4
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no great enthusiasm to take over the strike role, I can assure you. But, as this
was what the Supreme Allied Commander wanted, both governments—the
Conservative government and the Liberal government—agreed to provide it.
Now, this role is going to be phased out and the government has made a decision
to change the role. This does not say that in words, but surely a decision must
have been made or we would not have ordered the aircraft. So the decision has
been made—Ilet us put it this way—to replace the strike role with a ground
support role which is a very worthy thing to do. It suits our purpose because we
get out of the nuclear business which is not fully supported in Canada.

Mr. MAcALUSO: Was that Mr. St. Laurent or Mr. Diefenbaker?
Mr. FOULKES: Who?
Mr. MAcALUSO: You just mentioned Mr. St. Laurent.

Mr. FouLkEs: You see, this question of changing the role came up before the
Liberal government was defeated. It was under study but no decision was taken.
I am just pointing out that it was not received at that time with great en-
thusiasm. The idea of a strike role with nuclear weapons was not considered the
kind of thing the government had in mind in supporting the alliance. The
alliance was always put up, as you know, as a defensive organization and it
looked pretty hard to explain being defensive when you are going to throw
atomic bombs on them. That is the point I was trying to make.

Now I see no difficulty in this. The difficulty I saw in using words like
“squadrons will be stationed” and so on, which gave me the impression that we
were not going to just transfer the air division from the role of strike to the role
of ground support and station it in Europe wherever it could be arranged with
Supreme Allied Commander. This looked to me as if there were some idea of
doing it in a different way of just spacing a couple of squadrons. Now, that again
may be a wrong interpretation of this paragraph. If the interpretation of the
fQCtS you put to the Minister is that we are going to form a close support air
division and that it is going to be put into Europe—and we hope it is going to be
put in a position where it can support our own forces—well and good. But, this
gave me the impression, especially the last sentence, that our concern was not in
continuing to put as much support behind NATO as possible, but to get Canadian
aircraft supporting Canadian troops, which I thought was not as worthy an

object as putting the best possible contribution from Canada to Europe for
aiding the deterrent.

Mr. McINTosH: General, when you started you said the purpose of NATO
and Canadian national defence policy then was a defensive one. Is that not the
basis of all national defence policies of all countries?

Mr. FouLkes: That is right.

Mr. McINTOsSH: Were you suggesting, then, that there is an inference here
that the role of Canada could be changed to an offensive one?

Mr. FouLkes: No, I was just raising the issue that on the political side they
did not l§ke the idea. Before, we had an air defence role and now it is a strike
role. It did not fit too well—politically, not militarily. It is a political question.

Mr. McINTOsH: I have one last question. On page 12 you speak of an evil

genius of administ}-ation. Do you feel that Bill No. C-243 is putting too much
emphasis on administration at the sacrifice of the combat troops?
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Mr. FouLkes: I raised this issue because, in going through the papers,
reading Hansard and what Air Marshal Reyno said to you, I did not find much
—or any—reference to the steps being taken for the combat troops. There is a
great deal in there on trade structure, and so on, which is all well. But I was
wondering whether, in this business of trying to make sure we have the best
trade structure and best arrangements for specialists, and so on, we were not
forgetting about the man that really counts—the man who fights the battle. This
is the reason I was raising this issue. It is a thing that happens all the time, if
you do not watch it, especially in a big headquarters, because you get absorbed
in the particular problem of looking after tradesmen specialists, creating careers,
and so on, but there still is no use having the best headquarters in the world

unless you have the fighting troops able to fight. This was the point I was trying
to make. .

Mr. McInTosH: Thank you general, that is what we were wondering about.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): General, it seems to me that one of the difficulties
of the Committee, and one of the difficulties of understanding this whole problem
all the way through, is the need for definition of the terms, unification and
integration. You will have to excuse me; I am not as familiar as I should be with
your proposed reorganization that you term unification. Bud did I understand
you correctly when you said that in your plan you visualized the combat troops
of the three forces could continue to exist pretty much as they are now, and that
the question of uniforms and rank structure—whether you call a man a colonel
or a group captain or a captain—is not the important matter? Have I understood
you correctly?

Mr. FouLKES: Yes. Again, let me use an example. In Maritime Command, for
instance, which is the easiest one to look at, I foresaw the commander of
Maritime Command having under his command all the navy forces and a part of
the present air forces. They would become a Maritime Command and the
commander would be responsible for everything that goes on in that command
—everything.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): Exactly.

Mr. FouLkES: In other words, the navy may have lost its CNS at the top but
it still has a father in Maritime Command because it has all the navy there, and
so on. What you call them is, in my view, rather academic. The changing of
names of ranks, I do not think is important. If it upsets somebody, then let us not
do it, because the rank of a fellow or what he has on his shoulders or his sleeves
has nothing to do with his efficiency in battle. Therefore, in my view, it is not a
matter that is urgent or really affects carrying out our job. I certainly would
relegate those kinds of things down to a pretty, low priority. If it disturbs
somebody I certainly would not have gone ahead with it.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): Mr. Chairman, on the basis of that your plan, in
the terminology we have been exposed to, is not unification but integration and
we have already passed that stage pretty well. The act that was passed some
time ago brought into existence a plan roughly comparable to that which you
propose. But what we are concerned with now, it seems to me, is a further step

which has been called unification as delineated in Bill No. C-243, It is this matter
25770—4}
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that I am chiefly concerned with at the present time. For example, Bill No.
C-243, page 2, clause 2, reads:
The Canadian forces are the armed forces of Her Majesty raised by
Canada and consist of one Service called the Canadian Armed Forces.

I visualize this as the complete obliteration of the three arms of the serv-
ices as we knew them in the past and the substitution therefor of one force,
presumably wearing the same uniform if it is going to be one force, and having
one rank structure throughout although there may be specialists in various
branches of it who, because of their special training, may have to remain in
that special branch. Now, I am concerned with the implications of this. I will
ask you a hypothetical question: If you were still the Chairman of the Chiefs
of Staff, how could you interpret that clause? How would you interpret the
implications of this bill to the armed services?

Mr. FourLkes: I do not know how much more I can say on this particular
subject. My reading of the paragraph you were referring to meant that there
was going to be no change in the groupings of what we now call the army, navy
and air force and that they would be formed into task forces and perform their
jobs as they had been doing before. I can well see that you do not want to leave
them under the names of army, navy and air force or you are going to have the
same old problems that induced us to go into integration, and that was, we
wanted to have enough flexibility to move people from one sector to another if
this was necessary.

I think I gave you an example of where we had radar specialists in 1963
who were surplus in the army and we could not move them into the air force,
who were training people for this same purpose, because the services could not
agree. Now, I think you have to have flexibility to move specialists and so on,
and so give them better career opportunities and also save on training expenses.
Now, if you are going to do that you cannot stick to a rigid service structure.
This concerns specialists and people of that type.

But when it comes to infantry battalions, and so on, I must insist that I see
no sense in it, and I do not think the paper intends that these are to be changed
at all. We will have brigades of infantry still commanded by a brigadier, and so
on. Their functions and operations will be exactly the same.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): I wish that I could have the same faith in the
results of the bill as you have, My mind would be much more at ease if that were
the case. Up to this time when there where three separate services, the ceilings
ax;d strengths of these services were usually considered separately. In other
words, there was a mix of the defence dollar with respect to the three services
and how much was going to be expended on each. But now, quoting page 2 of the
bill, under “Organization”, it says:

The Canadian Forces shall consist of such units and other elements as
are from time to time organized by or under the authority of the Minister.

Under this bill, if it becomes an act, it would seem to me that the Minister
would have the authority, on his own to vary the balance or even to completely
phase out what we now consider to be one of the three services.

- Mr, Fourkes: Well, the Minister may have the authority but as long as he
has to carry out the tasks which are laid down in this paper, he could not
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possibly do it. For instance, you could not phase out the air force and still keep
up the maritime role. You could not phase out the air force and still carry on the
air defence role. Now, as far as I recall, the Minister or Governor in Council has
always had the authority to raise or disband units. As I pointed out yesterday, I
was very anxious to get a minister to disband an infantry brigade which was
quite within his authority. I see no real concern there, because you have the
task that has to be fulfilled and a minister responsible for fulfilling those tasks

agreed to by the government, and to provide the forces to do it. I do not see
any concern there.

Mr. ANDRAS: Mr. Chairman, I have a quick supplementary question.
The CHAIRMAN: Well, Mr. Andras, we have not got to the end of our list.

Mr. ANDRAS: Well, it is related to this. Would Mr. MacLean permit me?

General, I have the feeling that some slight confusion may have been
created this morning with regard to your position. Is it correct to say that you
have for many years favoured the unification—or amalgamation, if you prefer
the word—of the three services into a single service with a single chief?

Mr. FouLKES: In that broad outline, yes.
Mr. CHURCHILL: Well Mr. Chairman—
The CHAIRMAN: Yes, Mr. Churchill?

Mr. ANprAS: You still believe in that concept of a single service?
The CHAIRMAN: Order, please.

Mr. CHURCHILL: Mr. Chairman, I raise a point of order here. This is really a
loaded question. Combining the two terms, unification and integration, and

getting the General to say, yes, is to my mind a propaganda effort. Let us restrict
these terms.

The CHAIRMAN: In view of the fact that the bells are ringing and this opens
up a matter which probably could not be clarified in the time that is available to
us, I ask that we temporarily end the questioning now. Mr. MacLean still has
some questions and, no doubt others, and also Mr. Nugent. This is the situation,
gentlemen, and perhaps we could clarify it before we return to the House. Mr.
Patrick, who has been asked to attend, is waiting and he has a paper which I
understand from his secretary will take about half an hour. We have nothing on
Monday; we have nothing this afternoon; we have a meeting of the Steering
Committee today. What is your pleasure? General Foulkes has a wish to return
to Victoria this evening, one which I can understand, and he is available for
further questioning this afternoon. Is that not correct, sir?

Mr. FouLkes: Until four o’clock.

The CHAmrMAN: Would you agree to meeting some time after lunch to
continue with this? There is one further matter. Since I came in this morning I
received a letter from Admiral Welland addressed to the Chairman of the

Standing Committee on National Defence dated 17 February, and I would like to
have it tabled.

Mr. DEACHMAN: Mr. Chairman, on a point of privilege. If I understand you
correctly, you have a letter from Admiral Welland with respect to the matters
raised yesterday. Is that correct?
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The CHAIRMAN: That is, in fact, what it is.
Mr. DEacHMAN: Well if this is going to be tabled, I think it would be my—
The CHAIRMAN: Well, I can read it.

Mr. DEACHMAN: —privilege to have it read before there is a motion to table
it.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, it is fairly short and I will read it to you. It is
addressed to the Chairman, dated 17 February:

Dear Sir,

The Secretary of your Committee telephoned me yesterday forenoon,
asking if I would attend the session then sitting. I was not aware until
that time that I would be invited, and declined.

I am now aware that my presence was considered desirable by some
members, owing to a discussion that developed around a statement made
on page 17 of Admiral Landymore brief to your Committee: “Mr.
Deachman, of your Committee also knew of the retirements for he and
Mr. Groos called on Admiral Welland to get confirmation of what I had
told them.” The following may help to clarify the matter.

It is correct that Mr. Deachman and Mr. Groos called on me on the
evening of the 12th of July. I recall the gist of the conversation well,
because at that time it was not entirely clear to me whether I would be
retired or not. Because of this I volunteered no information on my private
affairs, nor on those of any other person. Neither of my visitors asked me
about myself or my intentions. The subject of retirements did not come
up.

Yours truly,
Robert Welland,
Rear Admiral.

Have I your permission to table this?

: Mr. DEACHMAN: That satisfies my point of privilege and on the questions
raised yesterday. I am prepared to drop the point of privilege which could have
been settled yesterday had Admiral Landymore been willing to phone Admiral
Welland when I gave him the opportunity. Thank you for your efforts.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, Admiral Landymore was being questioned at the time.
Gentlemen, we shall adjourn until two-thirty this afternoon.

AFTERNOON SITTING

Fripay, February 17, 1967.
The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, I see a quorum.

Whgn we adjourned this morning Mr. MacLean was asking some questions
of the witness, General Foulkes, so I will continue now with Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): As I recall, the last question I asked was a question
concerning the keeping of a proper balance between the various armed forces
functions. I have a very high regard for the general’s professional experience in
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this field and I do not think there is any substitute for experience, but he may
consider this outside his field and if it is an unfair question I will not pursue it.

At the present time, sir, do you consider that we are fulfilling all our
commitments or that we have the facilities to fulfil all our commitments? I am
thinking especially with regard to our contribution to NATO and SACLANT and
also whether we have the capability to establish, from the military point of view,
our sovereignty properly over our coastal waters, taking into consideration that
it is the policy of the government to declare large bodies of water such as, the

Gulf of St. Lawrence, Hecate Strait, Dixon Entrance and some others as national
waters.

Mr. FouLKEs: As far as I can see, we are fulfilling out NATO commitments.
As I pointed out before, NATO commitments vary and there is a procedure in
NATO whereby governments can vary their commitments by agreement. As I
mentioned this morning, we changed over from a role of air defence to a strike
role and the indications are that we are going from a strike role into a role of
ground support. In NATO that is the accepted business of negotiating with the
supreme allied commanders when you want to make changes, and normally the
council are told and that is the way it is worked. As I pointed out, in Canada’s
position we have plenty of room for flexibility because we are only making
contributions. Unlike the Belgians, the Dutch or the Germans, we do not have a
border to defend and therefore, it seems to me, we are living up to our
commitments there.

As to the other point you raised with regard to the maritime field, if you ask
a military man whether he has enough he will always say he has not; we always
could get along with a great deal more than we have. I have never seen a
military man yet who has ever been satisfied. What we want to make sure of is
that within the funds that parliament provides we are making the best possible
use of them. Whether we should be doing more in the maritime field and less
somewhere else is a question on which I think only the maritime commander
could make representations; I certainly could not because I have not been in
touch with that matter for the last five or six years.

I have always felt, however, that the maritime role is a very important and
good one for Canada because we operate from our own coast, we do not have to
go overseas to do it. We are able to operate from our own ports and we are not
only contributing to the deterrent, we are also defending our own coast line.
Furthermore, it is perhaps one of the closest associations with our bigger ally,
the United States, and with that close affiliation with the United States we have
access to a great deal of the work being done by the United States in the
maritime field and the research field, and so on, and I think this is a very, very
important field. I have felt—not because I have been living in British Colum-
bia—that very shortly we are going to have to take another look at how much
we are doing on that coast because that again, depending on what happens in
China, is going to be quite a problem. Let me give you an example. If it so
happens that we get a détente in Europe and we are able to withdraw some of
our forces, or do it a little differently so that we are saving money there, there is
still lots of room for putting more into the maritime role. I am sure that any of
you who have been briefed by SACLANT are aware of the fact that they think
they need a great deal more than they have at the present time.
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Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): Naturally in deciding in which field you are going
to expend your resources you have to weigh the various propositions that are
advocated by those military experts who perhaps naturally tend to put forward
the aspects of it in which they are most interested. Now, do you feel there will be
in the new organization an adequate channel for presenting the demands of
Maritime Command, for example, to the decision-making level, whereas they
may not be an expert or a specialist in that field directly in the policy-making
role?

Mr. FouLKEs: Mr. MacLean, you remember this morning when I was talking
about how I would like to see these organized I said that the Maritime command-
er would be the adviser to the Chief of the Defence Staff and to the Minister on
all Maritime matters, and I am fairly sure that this is what is going to happen. In
that way he would put his case forward, which would be considered along with
the case put by Mobile Command, Air Defence Command, and so on, to be
weighed in the picture. It seems to me that he is the one to put forward those
views and if we give him the proper status so that he can really put forward his
views strongly, then I see no difficulty there at all. As a matter of fact, I see a
decided improvement because you would have the man right on the spot putting
the case instead of the man on. the spot having to put a case to his own boss, and
then he having to put it to the chiefs of staff. I think this should be an
improvement,

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): At the present time there is only one link between
the services and the Minister.

Mr. FOULKES: Yes, but the head of that link has also just arranged to have
what we call an armed forces council, into which these people are going to be
brought. I view this armed forces council—I may not be right about this—not
only as a means of getting information but as a means of giving information to
the Chief of Staff and the Minister on the conditions and requirements of the
Maritime Command.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): This leads me to another question. This morning
you were speaking of the advice given to the civilian head of the Department of
National Defence, and that naturally you could not expect acceptance of your
recommendation at that time there was a lack of civilian control of the armed
services. There has been loose talk to the effect that the taxpayers have built an
automatic juggernaut over which they no longer have sufficient control, and that
the senior officers have set up their own empire and are chiefly concerned with
continuing it. Now, knowing a large number of senior officers in the services, I

:Onts’ider that kind of criticism very unfair and not at all consistent with the
acts.

Mr. FouLkes: Certainly not in my experience. As I mentioned this morning,
I worked under five defence ministers and I never found one that I could push
around, I can tell you that—not that there was any desire to push them
around—but certainly they were determined characters who could look after
themselves. I never saw any suggestion whatever that the Canadian officer corps
was not completely loyal throughout. As you know, this idea of a revolt was
tried out at the end of the war by Mr. King when he was having a little trouble
with his conscription issue. He rather gathered up this idea that there was a
generals’ revolt. If you read what Professor McGregor has written about this you
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will find that in his research into this problem there was no such thing as a revolt
of the generals and this does not sit well in our Canadian life at all. I am sure
you will all agree that Canada is in no way a banana republic that is in any real
danger of the military ever taking it over.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): I agree with that point of view entirely. During the
period that you were chairman of the Chiefs of Staff, or at any other time as far
as that is concerned, did you feel that there was a likelihood that certain
decisions would be so unpalatable to senior officers that they would accept
retirement in considerable numbers rather than continue, if they had this choice.
In effect, would you consider it a normal situation where this would happen?

Mr. FouLkes: As you know and as I pointed out before, we had real
differences at the time of the Arrow. I do not know of any experience I have
gone through in my career that was more exasperating than the Arrow situation
because there was no really good answer to the problem. Certainly there were
many views expressed on both the political side and the military side that were
miles apart. Cool heads were kept, and it was realized that this was a tough
decision not only for the military, but a tough decisién for the government. We
had to accept that fact. We knew very well that if we insisted on going ahead
with the Arrow there would be no funds for anything else unless the defence
budget was pushed up and in a situation such as this question of whether the
military decided to quit or not it always seemed to me that the place of the chief
was to sit there, because they had to sell this to their troops and get this thing
understood. I remember we had a bit of a time with the Chief of the Air Staff at
that time, but that was to be expected because this again was something that was
hurting his service.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): I just have one more question. On the other side of
the coin, do you think, sir, there is a danger that a political head in the
Department of Defence—which, of course, is normal in our system—can be in a
position where he is too vulnerable to perhaps completely invalid but popular
notions of public opinion and where the popular thing for him to do would be to
insist on some course of action that might be, from a military point of view,
completely unsound. Do you think that there would be any validity in perhaps
doing something to protect the Minister from these winds that blow—political
winds, if you like, in the broader sense of the term—that might force him, in a
case of self-preservation, to press something that is not, from a military stand-
point, particularly sound? Might it be advantageous to recruit the Minister of
National Defence from a more protected area where he would not be dependent
on getting elected in the next election, for example, and would it perhaps be

advisable to recruit the Minister of National Defence from the Senate rather
than from the House of Commons?

Mr. FouLkes: Of course, what you are really suggesting is that in Canada
there should be a system similar to what they have in the United States, where
the ministers who are appointed are not members of the legislative body.
However, this is a matter that I suggest is out of my province. I am sure any

suggestion from me about re-organizing the government of Canada would not be
too acceptable.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): I would not go that far. My suggestion would be
perfectly possible under present conditions. I am finished.
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Mr. NUGENT: General I do not pretend to be a military expert and perhaps I
am a little slow in understanding some of these finer distinctions, but I wonder if
you would see if I am right in my understanding of the military situation. The
Minister has said, and I believe you also said the same thing, that even in a
unified force the naval people would be fighting as naval units and the army as
army units and the air force as air units, and I wonder if you could tell me what
economy will be achieved for the Canadian taxpayer by having them as one
unified force although fighting in the same way, as distinct from having them
as separate forces with unified command?

Mr. FouLKES: I am not in a position to comment on savings because that can
only be done by the people who plan this. I could not give you an answer to
whether you are going to save any money or not; that is really outside my
province. I have not been in touch with it that closely.

Mr. NUGENT: Then, sir, could you give me some illustrations of how this
might result in increased efficiency?

Mr. Fourkes: That is, increased efficiency with regard to the forces being
under one—

Mr. NUGENT: Being a unified force rather than having a unified command
structure. This is what I understand by integration.

Mr. FouLkEes: Where the forces would be more efficient.

-Mr. NUGENT: Yes, some illustration of the way in which we would get more
efficiency, because we now have one force instead of three separate forces.

Mr. FouLkes: I did not think that this was based on the question of making
our combat forces more efficient. I think I said this morning that I thought our
combat forces were just about as efficient as you could make them, and no
matter where they have operated, whether it was in Korea or whether it was in
the Gaza Strip or whether it was in Cyprus, or anywhere else, their conduct in
operations has been pretty well beyond reproach. As I said earlier I have always
looked at this integration business as a system of finding more money, and not
necessarily that our forces will be more efficient if they did this. I will admit
there will be a greater flexibility in regard to tradesmen and specialists, and so
on, who can be moved from one service to the other on promotion, or something
like that, or if there is a shortage, and I suppose you can say that will add to the
efficiency because it will mean that your training stream will be much less, but 1
would not say that our combat forces are going to be altered at all by either one
or the other.

Mr. NuGenT: This is getting down to where Admiral Landymore had some
difficulty with this problem of unification. As I understood his argument, it was
simply that he was principally opposed to unification, because of the effect on
morale and that the Navy, of course, would take serious objection to the Navy
disappearing as a service and to the uniform disappearing. I believe your
position on the uniform was—and correct me if I received the wrong impression
from your testimony—that it should not matter what uniform they fight in, and
as it is not an essential part, why bother to do it if it is going to upset people. Is
that about right?

Mr. FouLkes: I think that is pretty well what I said.

[ .. .
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Mr. NUGENT: So far there is no real difference between your approach and
that of Admiral Landymore. It has been a few years since you were out so that
you would not be able to comment as to how effective some of the major
integration steps have been, but would you agree with Admiral Landymore’s
general stand that he cannot approve of unification because he can find neither
increased economy, nor increased efficiency in unification as distinct from
unified command with separate fighting forces.

Mr. FouLkes: I think that is Admiral Landymore’s opinion and, as I have
not sat through his evidence and heard the arguments, I am not really in a
position to challenge his statements at all. I was not here.

Mr. NUGENT: General, would you comment on this statement of his, which is
the general argument that usually results when you are trying to discuss some of
the monetary or other advantages of the question of unification. He said:

Under questioning, the proponents of unification invariably fall back
on the advantages of integration to support their stand.

Would you agree that that is a fair summary of the situation that exists today?

Mr. FouLkESs: As I said before, I am not too clear on where integration stops
and unification begins. It has always been a bit of a puzzle to me.

Mr. NUGENT: So, that probably gives a little strength to the convention that
in trying to decide the pure question of unification we first find it too hard to get
that concept strained of the impurity of integration.

Mr. FouLkES: You can have it that way if you like.

Mr. NucgenT: I wonder if you would care to comment on Admiral Lan-
dymore’s concern over the fairness to the officers and men presently serving in
our three armed forces. It is the admiral’s contention that as Bill No. C-243
creates one new force and abolishes the three existing ones, that it would be
unfair to those who have joined that new service for parliament to wipe out that
service and put a new one in without giving them the option of going or staying.

Mr. FouLkEs: Well, as I read this anybody can go or stay within six months.
Mr. NuGeNT: I think that is fair enough.

Mr. FouLKES: Well, you could argue that perhaps it should be two months or
three months or four months, but I would not consider it a grave hardship if a
man has to wait six months. Usually he would require that time anyway to
search around for employment.

Mr. NuGeNnT: I think that is all I have at the moment.

Mr. WinNcH: Mr. Chairman, a number of questions which I intended to ask
have now been asked by Mr. Nugent, but as I have not as yet asked any
questions, I would like at this time to make mine a little more specific. I do so
recognizing that the general and I have been friends for a great many years—I
hope I can put it that way—sometimes as antagonists and sometimes as protago-
nists. The general has been kind enough to tell me more than once that it was
because of my questioning when he appeared before our committee in 1963 that
he presented a position to the effect that he was then and always had been in
favour of integration, unification and a single service. I listened most carefully to
the general’s presentation last evening and I gathered from his presentation that
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he has not in any way whatsoever changed his mind from what he told us in
1963, that he was wholeheartedly in support of integration, unification and a
single service.

Mr. CHURCHILL: On what page does that appear?

Mr. WiNcH: It appears on three different pages. This is what it says:

All these tasks could be carried out from Canadian territory with no
Canadian troops stationed permanently abroad. These tasks would allow
the services to work together as a team in all activities. There is no doubt
that Canada could render a more adequate contribution to maintaining
the peace by concentrating on two major activities instead of trying to
emulate the big powers and attempting to carry out the whole panoply of
military endeavour but in miniature.

The concentration and simplification of Canadian defence aims and
contributions would allow for a greater integration of the services and a
streamlining of the staffs, schools, training establishments and administra-
tion with a considerable resultant reduction in manpower and expendi-
ture. This trend should lead to the eventual complete integration of the
services into one service with one chief, one staff, one administration and
integrated flexible task forces to carry out the agreed contributions, and
what I mean by “integrated flexible task forces”, would be forces to deal
with the naval and air force group in relation to the potential threat, a
mobile reserve of the army, air force and navy.

Then the following question was put by Mr. Chester MacRae:

I have one or two questions to ask mainly for the purposes of clarification,
and I should like to reserve my right to ask further questions at a later
stage.

On the first page of your submission, General, you used the expres-
sion: “Through an abortive attempt to amalgamate the services”.

Do you mean by “amalgamate” the type of integration as you use that
expression later on in your brief? When was this attempt made, and
would you be so kind as to pinpoint the difficulties that were encountered?

And so on. Then he asked, also at page 508:
Mr. MacRae: I understand from what you have said later on in the
brief that you feel very strongly in favour of integration of the services?
Mr. Foulkes: I feel very strongly in favour of integration of the
forces, and I have felt this way for a number of years.
You will find that this is also mentioned in another place, at the moment I
cannot place it.
General Foulkes, did you not state when you appeared before us in 1963 that
you were completely in favour of integration, unification and a single service?
Mr. FouLkes: Correct.
Mr. WiNcH: T am certain, sir, that you said that and it is on the record. I also
understood from your presentation last night that you have not changed the

view you expressed to the Committee in 1963, but you do have very reasonable
and serious complaint to make about the methods used in approaching complete

)
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integration, unification and the establishment of a single force. Also, that you
stress a lack of information to the public in general and to the armed forces in
particular—and I would like you to note this because I am going to be very
careful on it—and you feel that in approaching this objective the department,
the Minister and the government are proceeding too fast and perhaps making
decisions which raise misunderstandings and objections, such as including in the
bill before us, changes in the rank structure as between the services and in the
matter of a common uniform and these are matters which should not be in
legislation and which would normally evolve in the process of evolution. In other
words, sir, you stay by the original principal?

Mr. FouLKES: Where did I say this?

Mr. WincH: I said my impression was that the implementation towards the
objective was proceeding too fast and that there was not enough information
given to the public and in particular to the armed forces, and there may have
been something in the legislation—the way I interpret it—such as uniforms or
rank structure which may have caused a disturbance and which should be left to
the evolutionary process. Now, have I put the pxctute honestly and clearly? If
you disagree with what I have said, will you tell me in what way?

Mr. FouLkes: This was your impression; what is the question?

Mr. WincH: All right, I will put it in three direct questions. One, you
completely agree with integration, unification and the single service, as you did
in 1963?

Mr. FouLKES: The answer is yes.

Mr. WincH: Right. Two, did your presentation last night basically mean that
in the implementation of these three objectives certain procedures have perhaps
been carried out, too fast, and matters not requiring a decision at the moment be
left to the evolutionary process?

Mr. FouLkEs: I made some observations on the way the plan was imple-
mented. T do not think I mentioned the word “legislation” at all.

Mr. WincH: No, but you did bring up the matter of uniform and rank—

Mr. FouLkes: On uniform I did express the view—and I will express it
again—that as this question of uniform is causing considerable difficulty at a
time when it seems to me we should be minimizing the difficulties, I would
certainly want to be one of the first people to say we should drop it. I think we
want to get a good view of this question of uniform because it is a walking-out
dress. Now, my impression of the young recruit of today is that he is not like the
people in the Victorian era when they dressed up like peacocks and went out in
Hyde Park to attract the girls. His off-duty activities can be much better carried
out in a pair of flannels and a blazer than in a uniform.

Mr. WincH: My point is that it is not required in legislation now in order to
reach the ultimate objective.

Mr. FouLkes: Well, what goes into leglslatlon, of course, is something which
I have no right to speak about. All I am saymg is that I do not think it is an issue
that is vital to the integration of the services.

Mr. WincH: Do you feel that we might have progressed a lot further on the

general principal if we had not brought in this question of rank as between the
services?
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Mr. FouLKES: Do you mean that they—
Mr. WincH: Was it necessary to bring it in?
Mr. FouLkEs: The designation of ranks?
Mr. WincH: The designation of ranks.

Mr. FouLkes: You do not mean the rank structure, how many you have,
your are talking about the titles of them?

Mr. WincH: That is right.

Mr. FouLkes: Well, here again I am perhaps a strange kind of a military
man, I am a bit of a pacifist, so that if I found that it was upsetting people I
would not put it into effect, and I think it is upsetting certain people, especially
those in the Navy.

Mr. WincH: Well, my final question is this. As your opinion is exactly the
same in principal as you told this Committee it was in 1963, do you feel that the
mistakes which are made in achieving an objective are incidental matters that
could far better be postponed, and that it is better to proceed slowly and without
antagonism toward your objective than to try to do it to quickly?

Mr. FouLkes: Well, I notice I was quoted to the press as saying that I had
said the matter was going too fast, and I looked through the papers and could not
find where I had made any reference to speed.

Mr. WincH: This was no doubt my impression.

Mr. Fourkes: This is a very complicated and intricate operation, and I feel
you certainly cannot rush it. I could not; at least. It will take a long time and I
think when you are dealing with an emotional question like integration that you
have to get the reactions to certain things you do before you do the next thing.
However, that is only my opinion.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. MacRae?

Mr. MacRAE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have one or two question. I
apologize if I should ask questions that have been asked before but, as you know,
I have merely been in and out of the Committee as an observer. I am pleased to
see General Foulkes again. Our acquaintanceship and relationship goes back 21
years, to when we both served in the same division very early in the war. My
first question is this: The idea of an international police force has been expound-
ed over the years, and very recently by the Prime Minister of Canada and the
Secretary of State for External Affairs, and it would appear that it is not too
acceptable to the United Nations at this moment and it has not got off the ground
recently. I would like to ask General Foulkes if it should happen that we found
ourselves being asked to take part in an international police force role, does he
feel that as our forces are constituted at this moment with our separate services,
and so on, that we could fulfil a satisfactory, efficient and honourable role?

Mr. Fouyxzs: Well, I pointed out yesterday, and perhaps you were not here,
that in my view we have a surplus of a battalion of infantry in our force today,
and I do not think would upset the department the least little bit if we provided
one battalion to an international police force. I am sure that they could find a
battalion fairly quickly for this.

Mr. MACRAE: Or more than that?

v
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Mr. FouLkEs: Well, perhaps two battalions, or something like that, but if
you are going to have an international police force it has to be international and
not too much from one country. However, I would think that if Canada provided
a battalion, in any international police force under the sponsorship of the United
Nations, that it would be a fairly good contribution. I do not say that an
international police force will not fight; it will take on things like Cyprus, that
sort of task. There are tasks which the Canadian soldier carries out extremely
well. He has turned out to be a much quieter and passive policeman than some of
us expected he would be. I think it is a good task for the military. It is certainly a
change of atmosphere and one they do extremely well, but I have no hopes that
you will ever have an international police force in the UN.

Mr. MAcRAE: Thank you. The second question is one that I ask from your
experience. As a member of this Committee over a number of years I have
noticed, especially in the United States, that we seem to be over-ranked. I will
explain that. It seems to me we had a major general or a brigadier there where
normally I felt, with regard to what we were doing there, a major or lieutenant
colonel would have been adequate. The explanation which I received for this—I
read about it and then I tried to observe it—was that especially in our dealings
with the Americans—and this may sound a little touchy at the moment—we had
to have a brigadier there because if he were going to be talking to an American
brigadier general there was no point in sending a colonel or a lieutenant colonel,
and for that reason-we seemed to have officers far above the rank required for
the task that was being performed. I thought that as you are here today I would
like to get a confirmation or a denial of that from your own personal experience.

Mr. FourLkes: Well this, of course, is very touchy because I became the first
active force general in the Canadian force, but even when I was a lieutenant
general I found no difficulties whatever in negotiating with my opposite numbers
in the United States who were sometimes one or two steps above me. I do not
think it is necessary to always have rank for rank. Most Canadians can hold their
end up without any artificial backing such as rank.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, I think I should point out that the General is
looking at his watch. He has fifteen minutes before he has to leave to catch a
plane.

Mr. WincH: I have a supplementary question.
The CHAIRMAN: Well, Mr. McIntosh is ahead of you, Mr. Winch.

Mr. McINTOsH: My question is very short. I have eliminated a lot I was
going to ask and I think that the answer to the question I am going to ask now
will clarify my opinion of the General’s contribution to this Committee.

Some time ago when we were debating second reading in the house,
General, on this one particular bill we objected to giving second reading to it
before we heard these witnesses. One member got up in the house and said he
agreed in principle with the bill but did not understand what it was. I am
confused when I compare your answers yesterday with the answer you just gave
Mr. Winch. Yesterday there was some misunderstanding of your use of the term
“unification”, but the record will reveal that you said you believed in unification,
and afterwards, when I asked you, you said you did not understand what the
Minister meant by it but you had an understanding yourself and you believed in
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this. Now, in answer to Mr. Winch, when he put some questions blankly to you,
you said you believed in unification. Is that right?

Mr. FouLkes: Mr. Winch asked me a question regarding a statement I made
before the Committee when I presented the plan.

Mr. McInTosH: It was after that, General.

He read the statement and there was no mention of unification in the
statement he read, but he asked you if you believed in unification and you said
yes.

Mr. FouLKES: But there was a statement that he read where I said the forces
should be unified, and I was answering his question with regard to the plan that
I} presented at that time and which used the word “unified”. In that context I
certainly agree with it.

Mr. McInTosH: Well, do you believe in unification in the context that the
Minister tried to portray in his speech? Could you just answer “yes” or “no”,
and then I would understand?

Mr. FouLkes: Well, as I said before, I made some reservations before the
Committee in regard to the extent of unification, as laid down in the paper, and
those were the reservations that I had. Those reservations were not terribly big.
I did not understand the paragraph dealing with the question of infantry
companies being used separately, and things like that.

Mr. McInTosH: Well, you have just finished saying to Mr. Nugent, too, that
you are not clear where integration stops and unification starts. Well, if you do
not know what unification is, certainly you would not know where it started.

This is what puzzles me. The press comes out and says that you believe in
unification. I would say from the testimony you gave us yesterday that you did
not believe in unification. You have a term that you use, but we all seem to have
different definitions of the term. I am trying to get an understanding of the
Minister’s intention to see if any two of us can agree on what he means, because
he will not give us the answer.

Mr. Fourkes: But surely this is a question that you should put to the
Minister when he appears before you.

Mr. McIntosH: I will, but I just want to see if I can get two people who will
agree.

Mr. FouLKes: I am sure I cannot in any way forecast what the Minister is
going to say about his views on this particular subject. I feel that we are playing
around with words here more than we are with reality.

Mr. McINTOsH: I agree, but we as politicians have to vote for this bill as it is
presently worded and we are to get our direction from military experts like
yourself. I ask you, do you believe in unification? You are accustomed to deci-
phering orders, and so on, from ministers and you said you worked under five
different ministers, surely you can say whether you understand the Minister’s
explanation of unification in this case. Do you or do you not? You do not have to
answer if you do not want to. I do not care. You are getting directions from the
other side there.

Mr., FouLkes: I do not yet quite understand what you are driving at.

Mr. McINTOSH: Do you understand what the Minister means by unification?
Yes or no?

0
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Mr. Fourkes: I understand what is in the paper with certain reservations,
which I have raised, which I understand the Minister is going to clarify when he
talks to you later on in the week. At least, I presume he will.

Mr. McInTosH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. WincH: I would like to get an answer if I can.

Mr. CHURCHILL: Is the General going to be here any longer? Mr. Winch has
had his turn.

Mr. WincH: The only time—

The CHAIRMAN: Order. I put Mr. Winch down on a supplementary and I put
you down on a supplementary also, Mr. Churchill.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I do not want to delay the General, but how much more
time does he have?

The CHAIRMAN: I believe he has about ten minutes.

Mr. FouLkES: I have about ten or fifteen minutes. I have to get out of here
by a quarter to four.

Mr. WincH: I have just one question and I am going to put it this way, Mr.
Chairman. I hope you will accept it.

General you are a Canadian and a good Canadian. You served Canada for
many years in the armed services; you were Chief of Staff for nine years if my
memory is correct. With all your experience do you now believe that Admiral
Landymore was correct in his admonition to the members of parliament that if
we support the government policy on defence that a minister of defence and the
commander of the mobile forces could overthrow our democratic institutions and
establish a military dictatorship? What is your impression now, sir, as a good
Canadian and as a member of the armed forces?

Mr. FOULKES: Are you asking me whether they have the ability to do it or
whether they would have the intention of doing it?

Mr. WincH: Well, if I can I am going to say, intent and ability.

Mr. FouLkEs: There is no doubt the Minister of National Defence has
the forces behind him to take any military action, but I do not think that really
matters. It is a question of whether you think that any Canadian officer or
politician is ever going to move against the democratic government of Canada.

In my view it is absolutely absurd. I have seen nothing to support any such
contention whatsoever.

Mr. WincH: Thank you.

Mr. CHURCHILL: My question is not just a supplementary, Mr. Chairman. I
thought I would have an opportunity for a second round.

The CHAIRMAN: No. It is the second round. I did not mean to convey
otherwise.

Mr. CHURCHILL: General Foulkes, when Admiral Brock appeared before us
and gave evidence my temporary friends across the way went to great pains to
point out to the Committee that Admiral Brock on leaving the services had
aligned himself with the Conservative party. To balance the record, I trust you
will not object if I indicate that when you left the services you aligned yourself
with the Liberal party. It is the right of any citizen to align himself with a party.

You do not object to my balancing the record in that way, do you?
25770—5



1276 NATIONAL DEFENCE Feb. 17, 1967

Mr. FouLkEes: No. All I want to say is that the Liberal party would not have
me, so that—

Mr. CHURCHILL: They treated you rather shabbily; otherwise you might
have been sitting in the seat of the chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: Heaven forbid!

Mr. FourLkes: Well, I do not think we want to go into conjecture.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I noticed that you were very critical in the paper last night
of the policy of the government and also in the articles which were published in
the Ottawa Journal on October 11, 12 and 13 of 1966, and yet you are being a bit
kind today with respect to this question of unification. I raised with some other
witnesses what I once again call the ruthless purge of senior officers by the
Minister of National Defence, and I judge that this disturbed you quite a bit
because in your article which was published on October 12, 1966, the following
words occur, and I quote:

Never before in Canada or in any other democratic country has a
minister changed his whole staff at the same time and in less than two
years of their appointments. The only other record of wholesale changes
in the military occurred in the Hitler regime. He dismissed every general
who dared to tell him what he should know and not what he liked to
hear.

I presume that your opinion of this rapid change of battle—experienced senior
officers is that it is not really a very good thing for the defence forces of Canada?

Mr. FouLkes: Well, I thought I covered that when I said last night that I
was concerned about it because I feel there are still a lot of problems to be
solved, and what I actually said was that I am well aware that senior officers
with command experience are becoming scarce and while there are brilliant
young officers coming forward with brief cases full of theoretical answers, the
successful conclusion of this experiment needs the levelling influence of those
who know the exacting demands of active operations and the steps that are nec-
essary to prepare troops to go out and meet hostilities. I do not think I can say it
any clearer than that. There is a great deal to be said, it seems to me, when set-
ting up a new force, for having experienced people who had something to
do with it before in action. That is the reason I made this remark.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I was wondering whether you could help us a little bit
further on this line. I think when we examine the evidence we will discover that
you are really suggesting a pause in order to settle down for a while. I notice
that in your article of October 12 in the Journal you said, and I quote:

Evidence given at the Committee on Defence shows that integrated
logistic support will not be fully ready for three to five years. A risk of
this magnitude should not be undertaken unless there are more compel-
ling reasons than political expediency or, as some commentators have
mentioned, the personal ambitions of the present Minister.

I judge that at that time you were thinking that there should be a lapse of time
for these new command organizations to settle into the job before the next step
was taken. Are you still of that opinion?

Mr. FouLkES: Well, this is based on the fact that I have always felt that you
do not want to get in a position to go into operations until your supply
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organization is ready, because you cannot maintain your forces unless your
supply organization is ready. In reading the minutes of the previous meetings I
believe it was General Fleury who pointed out that the integrated supply
organization would not be ready for some three years.
Mr. CHURCHILL: Also on October 13 you mentioned this fact, and I quote
again:
Integration of the headquarters, the direction, control, administration
and logistic support has been accepted by the services and the public.

You are setting out that integration can only succeed if it is accepted by all
members of the forces, but there are many indications that this is not the case,
Then you say what should be done and you list three reasons, and this is number
two. I had better read it again so that it will fit in properly.

Integration of the headquarters, the direction, control, administration
and logistic support has been accepted by the services and the public.
However, if further integration of the combat echelons is attempted there
is a grave risk of chaos if an emergency. arises before the training and
logistic organization is completely ready for operations. No savings will
be made and only the gravest risks will be taken by rushing ahead with
further integration of the various combat forces.

That is similar te the reply you gave me just a moment ago, that from the
military point of view it is unwise to rush ahead too rapidly until you are sure of
your support lines and logistic control. Is that right?

Mr. FouLkEs: That is right.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I will conclude with this. Are you prepared, sir, to recom-
mend to the Committee and to the Minister that the present bill be postponed,
with regard to operation, until a period of time has elapsed, perhaps three to five
years, and until the integration up to this moment has been sorted out and has
become effective and that then, and only then, might the next step be taken of
attempting to proceed with what the Minister calls unification? In other words, a
pause to reorganize.

Mr. FouLkes: I doubt that I am in a position to make a recommendation to
this Committee. As I have pointed out, I have only studied this bill for the last
twenty-four hours and one would have to study it very carefully to see what the
impact of the further moves would be. If the impact is that there is going to be
no change in the combat forces—and this has been indicated—I do not think it is
perhaps necessary to say that there has to be a delay.

At the present time there are three different systems of supply, and those
are being maintained until the integrated system is ready. If there was any
change now in the composition of the forces so that they could not operate on
their single system then it would be very difficult; but I understand that there is
to be no change in the composition of the fighting element of the forces.
Therefore, it is really of no worry to me now so long as that is the case.

Mr. CHURCHILL: Your information appears to be different from what has
reached us.

I wonder, General Foulkes, if you would examine a compromise solution
which I presented to the Minister in the House of Commons with regard to
fulfilling some of our foreign commitments under the United Nations. The Prime
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Minister, the Minister of External Affairs and the Minister of National Defence
seem to be rather keen on fulfilling certain United Nations’ obligations and they
have had the support of Parliament as, for that purpose, the same support was
given by an earlier government. I suggested to the Minister that a reasonable
compromise to fulfill those engagements would be to form a special force in a
special uniform with a special title—an elite force—to do police duties such as
are being done now by our forces overseas.

We have about 2,000 men overseas in any given year, and they are not
engaged in fighting; they are not on a punitive expedition; they have not
engaged in the suppression of revolts of armed conflicts; they are performing
peacekeeping operations. We could have the best of both worlds, I think, if we
had that type of special force, trained, disciplined, drawn from volunteers in the
services and posted overseas for a specified time. At the same time we would
maintain our navy, our army and our air force as they are now, in co-operation
with our allies. As you so wisely pointed out last night, we cannot operate on our
own as an independent nation, but in co-operation with our allies we can provide
naval and army and air forces to assist them.

That is the compromise solution that I put forward and I think it would
satisfy all the people who are involved in this present controversy. I was
wondering if you had had the time to examine that concept, and, if so, whether
or not it had merit?

Mr. Fourkes: I have not heard of this concept before, but at first look one
would hope, from the standpoint of the services, that we would not set up a
special force. It is a good thing to be able to rotate the forces to do these various
tasks; in other words, to do a stint in Cyprus, a stint in, perhaps, Germany and
a stint at home. It seems to me that if this is done so that you always have
trained forces; and the soldier who is trained to fight is also an excellent
policeman. ,

I do not think there is too much advantage in it. It might make a spiteful
force, if a fellow just thought that he was a policeman, unless you are going to
raise that force somewhere else. There have been suggestions that we should
raise a force somewhat like the RCMP and use it; but if it is to be a military
force—I always like to think of a military force as one in which every man is
a fighting man, and which may be used for different tasks.

Mr. CHURCHILL: They would be seconded, in my opinion, for this purpose
and they would not be representing the aggressive combat forces of Canada
abroad. You mentioned to us the difficulty of Suez—just a little while
ago—using a combat force for that purpose and we ended up with administrative
troops. That is what was in my mind when I was saying it would be a special
force—separate and apart in nomenclature—from the fighting forces of Canada.

Mr. Chairman, that is the end of my questioning.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, that seems to complete the questioning of
General Foulkes.

General, I think the extent of the questioning and the interest which has
been shown in your presentation and in your answers are as good an indication
as any of the great interest we have in this problem and of our appreciation for
your coming here, Thank you very much indeed.

Mr. Fourkes: Thank you, gentlemen; I have enjoyed it.
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The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, would you care for a five-minute recess? We
will resume at 20 minutes to four o’clock.

—After recess
The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, could we please come to order again?

Group Captain Patrick has been waiting since yesterday to present his short
brief and he now has a deadline of 4.30. He has asked if he can have a taxi to
take him to a train that he must catch at 4.30; so without further ado I will hand
down a small paper showing Group Captain Patrick’s background of experience
and I will ask him to deliver the brief which we have invited him to present.

Mr. K. R. Patrick, O.B.E., C.D., D.Eng.: Mr. Chairman, gentlemen, may I
sit down to deliver it?

The CHAIRMAN: Please do.

Mr. PATRICK: I say “gentlemen”, there are not many left but all who are left
are gentlemen.

I welcome the opportunity to speak before this very important group on a
matter vital to the well being of Canada. I am honoured as a private citizen, and
as a businessman, to be permitted to express my views before such a distin-
guished group of Canada’s elected representatives.

The Chairman has said that he is circulating some of the things that I am;
but I would like to point out that what I am not is a professional soldier; and I
am not an official. I am one of that breed of hundreds of thousands of Canadians
who, when the defence of Canada requires it, make ourselves available. In
many respects I think I speak for a large percentage of this group.

My remarks today are based on a long association with, and a very deep
interest in, the problems of the “Defence of Canada” (both official and unoffi-
cial). My paper today supports the unification programme as essential, timely,
and logical. To me it is evidence of political responsibility of the highest order.

The logic behind the decision to unify the armed forces is, in my view,
incontestable in the face of the economic and military facts.

It is unrealistic to confuse the “Glories of the Past” with the inevitable, and
in some places “agonizing”, fact that our Canadian Armed Forces must be

re-orientated to meet the domestic and international military needs of 1967 and
beyond.

Interservice rivalry may have at times been a good thing but surely not if it
prevents national military policy from being properly co-ordinated and
managed, or if it results in duplication in installations and equipment.

Military manpower and equipment is so expensive to-day that both re-
sources must be managed with extreme care. While our military equipment
inventory is measured in billions fo dollars, these great resources are the men
and the women in the armed forces.

The unification policy will result in a kind of management which will make
these people more effective, more competent, more stimulated. Our fighting men

will be better equipped, tougher and more respected than at any other time in
history.

New policies of management of personnel have, for the first time in history

of the armed forces, resulted in a rational relationship between the pay of the

serviceman compared to civilian employment and the recognition and elimina-
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tion of many inequalities that existed; not to mention the elimination of the
traditionally rigid pay and promotional structures! ,

Some of the great minds, still respected, were outspoken advocates of
unified defence forces. These are people to whom I have spoken personally:
Admiral Louis Mountbatten, for one, and that the distinguished Canadian,
General A. G. L. McNaughton, and there are others. You might be surprised to
learn that most of the ex-service personnel I know from costs to coast agree
with this.

Unification, after all, is not a new idea—a large number of service personnel
have been advocating this idea for many years.

Before the end of the war in 1945 while I was still serving in the RCAF 1
prepared a paper which I delivered in the “War Room”, right here in Ottawa,
before a tri-service meeting of senior officers, advocating unification as an urgent
post-war program. This was on the basis of what we were then learning about
military hardware. Frankly, some of the “brass” reacted against the idea, but
almost half of the younger officers conceded that the proposition was logical.
That was 22 years ago!

Most of us in the armed forces were not career officers, and very few had
their ideas set in concrete. When most of us joined the armed forces, if we
couldn’t get into one service we tried another. We have seen the pressure of war
produce a direction towards unification. In any event, regardless of our prefer-
ence for uniform, we always ended up in a “battle dress” and some of us became
part of a unified command.

If you think for a moment that the men and women of the armed forces
have low morale because of the “integration” “unification”, I think you are
wrong. The morale question, if any, has been related to the inequalities in the
armed forces rank and pay structure, especially in these days when the consider-
able skills of the individual members of the armed forces are in such demand by
the civilian economy. Although I must not discount the unsettling effect of some
of the criticism that members of the armed forces read in the press.

The reduction from 346 trades in the three services to 97, which came about
only because of the unification process, is nothing less than a masterpiece of
personnel management. I think it happened just in time! Frankly, in another
year it would have been too late and the armed forces would have suffered
irreplaceable losses of many of their best people. The armed forces would have
th?n found it possible to attract only those recruits who were, in effect, the
rejects of “civvy street”.

Almost all of the jobs in the armed forces call for technical expertise, in
addition to the traditional fighting qualities. Today Canadian servicemen, for
example, in Cyprus, Gaza, and other places, must also be something of a
diplomat. Violence was once the principal skill but today he also has to add the
task of preventing violence between others.

The armed forces management techniques must change and are changing. It
is a yas:tl).' different world in which we live and while there must be a hard core
of discipline, morale can be enormously strengthened if the concept and the
organization are based on logic. The leaders have to have more than the officer
and NCO stripes to earn the respect of their subordinates. Blind obedience has
long sin_ce past. It is a glorious opportunity for military management and
leadership and the key people in today’s defence forces are leaping to it.

L1
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Defence is big business and a big piece of the taxpayer’s dollar, yet fgr the
first time the application of modern management techniques is being applied to
the management of this “business”.

It is an age of computers in management with amazingly rapid communica-
tions devices and techniques. The results can be the elimination of an enormous
waste of manpower. Unification produces a single organization with enough
“size” to make the best use of these new management tools.

We know that the era is significant in terms of rapid changes and that these
factors are changing the traditional way of doing things. Political, economic and
social changes throughout the world are having a profound effect on the nature
and the location of confrontations that might lead to war. It is just not radar,
guided missiles and atom bombs that are new. There are, for example, satellite
observations and computer manipulations that enable the Armed Forces to keep
track of all surface vessels throughout the world at any instant and when
necessary to instantly attack this shipping through the use of this data. There are
many similar examples.

Who would have thought that our main concern in a period of tension
between the two great powers would be centered in the events of Cyprus or

central Africa, or that this would be a sufficient threat to world peace to call for
United Nations troops?

I am convinced that the men and women in the armed forces accept the
changes and regard them as progress. There are opponents, to be sure, but I have
vet to see any opposition based on anything other than emotional factors.

We are talking about reaction to change. Human beings react against
change; change removes the comfort people enjoy and the stability in which
they like to bask. Often people who are most against change are those who are
afraid their weaknesses will be discovered.

Reaction to change, in my view, is the root of the eriticism of unification of
the Canadian armed forces.

Bill No. C-90 passed by Parliament, April 1st, 1964 (and passed without a
single dissenting vote) abolished the Chairman of Chiefs of Staff Committee and
the heads of the navy, army and air force.

Mr. CHURCHILL: Mr. Chairman, I am sorry I have a point or order.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I cannot allow the record to stand like that—passed without
a single dissenting vote. It was passed on division, which means that it was not
unanimous; and the record so shows.

The CHAIRMAN: The record will show that, and the record of this meeting
will also show it.

Mr. PaTrIcK: That is fair enough.

Integration, I think—

Mr. McInTosH: On a point of order, Mr. Chairman. I also do not see why
there should be allowed to be read into the record reflections on former soldiers
to the effect that anyone opposing this does so because of emotional factors, or

because their weaknesses will be discovered, and so on. The soldiers who fought
in the war in Korea in 1939-40 were not—

The CHAIRMAN: I think, Mr. McIntosh, that this—
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Mr. McINTosH: Well, may I ask a question before he continues? I have not
seen the piece of paper on which is written the name of the firm this man is
supposed to represent, but I will ask him this: Has he, or his firm, ever sold
anything to the present government?

: An hon. MEMBER: Oh, come now on this is—

Mr. McInTosH: Just a minute; he sounds to me like a salesman who has
come here with the idea of getting a contract from the government. I would like
hom to answer that question now.

Mr. LANIEL: On a point of order—

Mr. WincH: Do you propose to shorten this?

Mr. McINTOSH: Not necessarily.

Mr. LANIEL: On a point of order, Mr. Chairman. I do not seek to prevent the
member from saying whatever he wishes to say, but I think the least he could
have been polite, as we have been with all other witnesses even though we may
have disagreed with their statements. He should wait until the witness has
finished his statement and make his remarks then.

I would ask the witness to carry on with his presentation.

Mr. McINTosH: In no other brief have we had statements like this.

An hon. MEMBER: I think Mr. Landymore’s—

Mr. McInTosH: Landymore’s statement—

The CHAIRMAN: Order, order. I think we should do the witness the courtesy
of hearing his brief, having asked him to come here.

An hon, MEMBER: Was he invited here?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, he was invited here. He was invited by the Committee.

Mr. McINTOSH: By the Steering Committee?

The CHAIRMAN: He was invited by the Chairman. I set up the arrangements
in accordance with the lists that were handed to me.

Mr. McInTosH: Continue, then.

Mr. PATRICK: May I continue?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, you may.

Mr. PATRICK: I would like to repeat my last point, that the first huge step
had already been taken in the unification process.

I believe that “integration” and “unification” are terms that are kicked
around glibly. I think they mean the same thing. It is unfortunate that the White
Paper tabled in March 1964 before Parliament used the two expressions. Again,
in my view, I think they mean the same thing.

For more than 20 years, in my own knowledge, governments have been
endeavouring to integrate and unify Canada’s armed forces. The first timid steps
were taken with the dental and medical corps, and later with the transport
department, chaplain services and so on. It did not work, because you do not
integrate the armed forces from the bottom up; you first establish a policy and
work from the top down. I think that is what is being done today.

~ We are told by some of the critics that this unification is all a great surprise.
Perhaps members of the armed forces may not read government White Papers,
but they are certainly compelled to read Daily Routine Orders! I saw at the
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Officers Mess in St. Hubert on April 2, 1964, the Chief of the Air Staff’s long
statement which said:

“I believe the proposed organization changes an_d .the ultima.te
unification of the three armed services are sound in principle and will
result in maximum military effectiveness”.

On April 2, 1964, Lieutenant General Walsh, Chief of the General Staff also
sent out a notice. I quote from this:—

“The integration is aimed at reducing the overhead taken up in tl.ze
administration of the three services. The unified defence planning will
emphasize the national entity of our defence force, eliminate the duplica-

tion of services and ensure that there is no vacuum in overall defence
policy planning”.

Admiral H. S. Rayner, Chief of the Naval Staff on April 3, 1964, pubhshed a
four page statement from which I quote:—

“The third and final step will be the unification of the three Sex:qus.

It is reasonable to expect that it will be three or four years before u:_ will

be possible to take this action. However, the end objective of a single
Service is firm”.

So much for the critics who say “they didn’t know it was going to happen.”

If we try to arrive at whether the unification process is a good or bad thing
surely we must begin at the beginning and ask ourselves what policy parliament
has set for the armed forces. What is the role of the armed forces? Once this is
clear it should not be difficult to arrive at the appropriate means of fulfilling this
role.

I have heard that Modern military operations are classified as !ollows'
General thermonuclear war X
General non-nuclear war AR
Limited War
Brush fires
Peace restoring
Peace keeping

I see Canadian policy in unification one of extreme flexibility in which we
effectively support our alliances to prevent the general wars and at the same
time develop an organization related to limited war brush fires, peace restoring
and peacekeeping.

Again speaking as a civilian a question frequently asked is why does
Canada have any defence force? (In fact, a substantial body of opinion does not
accept defence as a rational occupation for Canadians). Some of the reasonp
might be: to put down civil rebellion (very unlikely need in Canada); to
defend ourselves against attack by an aggressor. (This is equally unlikely in
view of the massive defence of this continent by the United States); to seize
and hold territory of other nations—Canada has no wish to be an aggressor.

Canada can use her unique position and size and relationship to other coun-
tries to try to build a better world to prevent war.

A major part of Canadian policy appears to be the prmntmn of the big

war, somewhat along the lines of what has been done in the case of Egypt
versus Israel and in Cyprus.
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If the present policy continues to develop, Vietnam’s in the future—and
there may be many—can be prevented. Canada’s role in international affairs
thus puts us in a unique position without doubt, the most valuable contribution
a defence force of our size has been in a position to make in world history.

Canadians want to be proud. They want to stand up and be counted. We
honour and respect our NATO and NORAD alliances. I believe we are contribut-
ing our share to the “Nuclear Deterrent”. I think it has been shown too that
Canada’s armed forces have more fire power now than at any time in her history.
Her forces are tough and competitive and stand second to none.

Canadians now know that the army, air force and navy of the past were
totally separate and unrelated components of the defence force. They lacked
cohesion and inter-relationship. They were physically and organizationally sepa-
rate. The air force had no relationship to the army’s role. The army had no
relationship to the navy’s role. Each pursued certain individual tasks. I am not
criticizing whether this past defence policy was wrong. What I am really saying
is that today unification really makes sense.

You have been given several examples of problems arising out of a tri-ser-
vice concept. I recall a few myself. For example, the RCAF did not believe in air
support for the army!—and as a result, for all practical purposes, the army did
not get any—an incredible situation in this day and age. I recall when the RCAF
ceased to need heavy helicopters on completing the mid-Canada air-lift, the
RCAF retrained these men to jet fighters, and at the same time the navy was in
urgent need of helicopter pilots. They had to start from scratch.

One of the most serious and I think nearly disastrous events in recent
history and this was referred to by your previous witness, was the RCAF
program to build the CF-105, the Arrow. If this program had not been cancelled
by the government in power, the total implications could have reached $4 billion.
This would have left nothing for land and sea forces. The equipment ‘tail’ was
really wagging the dog. In this case the equipment that may not have worked
and may not have fitted into our national defence policy.

I make these remarks about my previous relationship with the RCAF in
spite of a strong personal and even an emotional connection with the air force.

The critics say you can’t have army personnel run a ship or naval personnel
run an airplane. I do not think the question should be raised. As far as I can read
the defence policy has never in any way implied this. It does not mean that a
tank driver has to fly a supersonic jet!

In the past each of these services itself was “unified”. Each had its own trade
structure. In the future it will be possible for specialized groups to do specialized
Jobs that they always have done. Today in the technical trades especially there
are hundreds of common positions which, grouped in a single force, can advance
technical skills and efficiency.

One of the fears expressed about integration which does have a certain
amount of popular appeal has to do with tradition—and tradition is symbolized
by one word, “uniform”,

We do not have a Canadian uniform, just as we did not have a Canadian

flag. Many of the same kind of people who raised such a fuss about getting a new
flag now do so over the uniform and for the same reasons.
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The Canadian navy uniform is a copy of that of the British navy; the
Canadian army uniform is a British army uniform; and the Royal Canadian Air
Force uniform is a British Air Force uniform.

There is nothing distinctively Canadian about any of our uniforms and I
think this has caused problems especially in our peace keeping tasks.

During the last war and during the years since Canadian servicemen have
had a problem to identify themselves as Canadians and I am speaking first-hand.
We want to be identified for good and practical reasons as Canadians. One way of
doing this is with a distinctive Canadian uniform.

There are critics who say the morale of the armed forces will suffer if the
uniform is changed. This is a story that goes way back in history. I would like to
quote from Barbara Tuchman’s famous and authorative book “The Guns of
August”.

Messimy did his best, as War Minister, to equip the army to fight a
successful offensive but was in his turn frustrated in his most cherished
prospect—the need to reform the French uniform. The British had
adopted khaki after the Boer War, and the Germans were about to make
the change from Prussian blue to field-grey. But in 1912 French soldiers
still wore the same blue coats, red kepi, and red trousers they had worn in
1830 when the rifle fired carried only two hundred paces. Visiting the
Balkan front jn 1912, Messimy saw the advantages gained by the dull-col-
ored Bulgarians and came home determined to make the French soldier
less visible. Army pride was intransigent about giving up its red trousers.
Army prestige was once again felt to be at stake. To banish “all that is
colourful, all that gives the soldier his vivid aspect”, wrote the ECHO de
PARIS, “Is to go contrary both to French taste and military functions”. At
a parliamentary hearing a former War Minister, M. Etienne, spoke for
France.

“Eliminate the red trousers? He cried. “Never! Les pantalons rouges, c’est
la France!”.

It is well known that that blind and imbecile attachment to the most visible
of all colours was to have cruel consequences.

There is talk about the new uniform colour and what the style should be. I
don’t think most people really care, so long as it is sensible and functional.

As General Foulkes has just said, uniforms, as we know them, are not worn
in battle.

“Vive les Pantalons Rouges”.

The problem of Canadian identification has extended to our equipment as
well. The RCAF airplane had the RAF Roundel, and after many years the RCAF
placed a maple leaf in the centre of the Roundel, which is not easy to distinguish
at any distance. Airplanes and tanks and other equipment had the Red Ensign
painted on the equipment, but this did not help much either. The navy flew the
White Ensign, the traditional symbol of British naval power and imperialism.

Critics often say that if integration is so good, why don’t the Americans try
it? T have seen at least two issues of the United States Armed Forces Manage-
ment magazine and other armed forces publications, dealing with the Canadian
unification plans in the most laudatory manner.
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Back in 1959 Senator Clair Engle tried to unify the Armed Forces of the
United States, declaring that re-organization on the basis of mission and functio_n
as an obsolute pre-requisite to meeting the challenge of modern warfare. This
was followed up by the House Government Operations Committee, which spught
a merger of the army and the air force to eliminate duplication and waste in Fhe
missile field, short of which it said: “the nation will be exposed to the vitia}mg
effects of interservice jealousies, rivalries and wars for many years to come”.

That was seven years ago. The proposals were stampeded and Congregs
decided that prudence was a better part of valour. Please, do not let us have this
happen in Canada.

The economics of unification are impressive. To hold to the current defence
budget and below to make the substantial and necessary improvements in wages
and to provide for re-equipment is quite an accomplishment in this day and age.
As a businessman I share with the majority of the business people in Canada a
very healthy respect for what has been done and what the emerging policy holds
for the future. Unification makes for maximum flexibility at minimum cost.

In his book “Change and Habit” the world-renowned historian, Toynbee,
makes two pertinent points:

(1) That the advances of technology will not be stopped and
(2) Technology is a unifying force.

They may have been made in a somewhat different context, but they most
assuredly apply to the military today.
I believe Canada is creating a national force with an international task.

Unification means unification of function so that Canadian policy, for the
first time, can be implemented by a Canadian force. This may very well‘break
with tradition, but the tradition of not being able to act nationally, in the
national interest. The national interest, mind you, for Canada means taking up
international responsibility. To be able to take up this responsibility in the
interest of not only our own but the survival of the rest of humanity, may mean
the founding of a tradition which is Canadian, truly Canadian and not taken over
second-hand.

Soldiering is a highly honourable, but no longer a “romantic,” job. It is a
profession, to be performed efficiently, intelligently and perhaps matter of fact-
ly. It has been said that the soldiers of the First World War entered it with a
romantic feeling. Those of the Second with the simple certainty of a job to be
done.

To do a worthwhile job—to keep the peace—and to be able to do so is the
task unification has set itself to do.

Tradition must have meaning and a meaning related to the present and not
just to the past. Otherwise it is moribund, a dead hand, and that is why
unification can become a living tradition for Canada, something we have shaped
for ourselves—something which gives meaning to our defence efforts.

The CHAIRMAN: Would you be prepared to answer some questions?
Mr. PATRICK: Yes, certainly.

Mr. McInTosH: I will give this brief the consideration I think it deserves. I
had an article here about the “Whiz Kids”. I am just wondering if this witness is
one of them.

"
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First of all, I would like to ask the witness of what company he is the
president, and whether it sells anything to the Department of National Defence
or to any of the government departments?

Mr. PATRICK: Sir, my connection as an active vendor to the Canadian
government—and I was an active vendor to the government—is that I founded
the company called Canadian Aviation Electronics. Previous to that I was gen-
eral manager of RCA Victor in Canada, and was privileged to be a contractor
both so far as this government and Canada are concerned.

I sold my interest, I think, six years ago and I am now directly concerned
with many, many companies—

Mr. WincH: You sold it six years ago?
Mr. PATRICK: Yes, six years ago.

Mr. WincH: Then you were dealing with the Conservative government.

Mr. PaTRICK: I cannot think of the exact date, but the last time was about
five years ago, and I was dealing with the Conservative government. I sold
them a great deal of products. I also sold the Liberal government a great deal of
products. I think I am damn proud of what we did. I sold my company and
invested in a number of enterprises, none of which is in the market as far as the
government is concerned. To my knowledge, I have no share-interest in any
company that is doing business with the Canadian government.

Mr. WiNcH: Net in the last four years?

Mr. McINTOSH: I am questioning the witness, Mr. Winch.

Mr. WincH: Well, be honest in your questioning.

An hon. MEMBER: Oh, hear me!

Mr. McInTosH: What do you mean by “be honest in your questioning”? All I
have to say to you is what Dave Walker said to you.

The CHAIRMAN: Order.

Mr. McInTosH: How long did you have this company, Mr. Patrick?

Mr. PATRICK: My recent company, on—

Mr. McInTosH: Your own company; not when you were working for RCA or
anybody else. I am talking about your own company.

Mr. PaTricK: I founded my company in 1950, I believe it was, and I sold it,
as a matter of fact, not very long after the Conservatives came to power. I was a
contractor, among other things. I was the contractor—

Mr. McInTosH: I asked you how long you had the company—from 1950 until
what year? That is all I want.

Mr. PaTrick: I had it until 1959 or 1960. I might be out a year or two.

Mr. McInTosH: During that time what was the dollar volume of contracts
that you sold to the government?

Mr. PaTrick: Well, we started out as a little company, doing about $50,000 a
year; and during the last year we probably did about $4 or $5 million.

Mr. McINTOSH: Yes. Are you in the selling business at the present time?

Mr, PaTrick: No, I am in the investment business in the Caribbean.

Mr. McInTosH: All right; I have no further questions.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I would like to ask the witness this. He said he served in
Canada and overseas during the war, at least it states on the paper here,



1288 NATIONAL DEFENCE Feb. 17,1967

including several command positions. Would you just indicate what they were;
what type of service?

Mr. PAaTRICK: Yes. Well, when I joined the air force I was put into the radar
business and my positions were very often related to night fighters. I was a radar
engineer. I left the air force—

Mr. CHURCHILL: You were not a night fighter?

Mr. PATRICK: I was in the back seat of what was a night fighter, but I was in
the radar end of it, reading the tube, rather than in the front end driving the
airplane. The last time I was shot at, frankly, was in Korea, where I had seven
operational missions. I came back for this particular task.

I joined the reserves—believe me, I was never a career officer—and left the
air force at the end of the war and went into business. I think I ended up as the
senior RCAF reserve officer in Canada for 15 or so years after the war. I was CO
of two or three units.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I was thinking of World War II? Where did you serve, and
what positions did you occupy?

Mr. PATrRICK: Among other things, I was CO of the base at Trenton. I was
assigned to the Americans on their submarine and carrier effort, again on a
technical basis, as a technical officer, and I had the same kind of assignment with
Fighter Command in the United Kingdom. In other words, I was one of the few
people who had some fairly senior responsibility in the introducing of radar
systems and VHF control and so on for both the Americans and the Canadians
during the last war.

Mr. CHURCHILL: Did you serve in England or on the continent of Europe?

Mr. PATRICK: Not on the continent of Europe; in the U.K.

Mr. CHURCHILL: As a fighter—

Mr. PATRICK: When we first put in night fighter airplanes I was sent over on
liaison duty both to learn and to teach the use of this kind of equipment.

Mr. CHURCHILL: You were not actually a combat officer?

Mr. PATRICK: I was never a combat officer. I was shot at, but I was never a
combat officer in the sense that you are getting at.

Mr. CHURCHILL: You speak with quite a bit of assumed authority with
regard to morale. I would like to know on what you base that?

Mr. PATRICK: My opinions—as I tried to tell you at the beginning—are based
on my contact with a large number of ex-service people and the average man on
the street. I travel from coast to coast. I have been down in the Maritimes, for
example, three or four times this year, and I have been to the west coast two or
three times. The nature of my existence puts me in contact with a large number
of people. I have been associated with defence ideas for a very long while, and I
have been invited to speak to reserve organizations. I have been an honorary
colonel in a mess, and we talk there. I am a member of an air force mess, and we
alsi:‘k:alk there. Frankly, I am rather impressed by what the average fellow
th 3

My feeling is that the armed forces people, as a rule, disagree with what
anyone in “brass” or government has to say and I think this is normal. But I
have found that they have been less opposed to what seems to them to be a fresh
and logical idea.
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I had an experience when the Grenadier Guards asked me to be a speaker at
a mess dinner before Christmas. The CO was very much opposed to unification,
and in introducing me he practically instructed all the members to disagree with
what I was going to say. There must have been 200 or 300 NCO’s and officers
there. At the end they all got up and asked very pertinent questions on why I

thought it was a good idea. I would say that 90 per cent of them said that it made
sense.

At the end of it, one of the warrant officers was so incensed at the fact that
the CO had taken what he thought was a discourteous attitude toward the
speaker that he tore up his lifetime membership in the mess. There are strong
views and strong opinions. That is the kind of contact that I have, strictly as a
civilian.

Mr. CHURCHILL: That is one man’s opinion. There are others who have had
long years with the militia or the active forces. In my case it extends 27 years,
and T still have contacts with the militia. My opinion can be balanced against his.

Mr. PATRICK: Exactly.

Mr. CHURCHILL: At page 6 you state:

—There are opponents to be sure, but I have yet to see any opposition
based on anything other than emotional factors.

Are you prepared to substantiate that you have not met anyone whose
opposition is based 6n other than emotional factors?

Mr. PaTrick: I must say that all the people that I have talked to, who were
opposed, were frankly opposed, and even admitted they were opposed, for
emotional reasons. They were willing to admit the logic, but emotionally they
could not connect themselves with this new idea.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I submit that your reaction to this is based on emotion.

Mr. PaTrICK: I think this is true of all of us.

Mr. CHURCHILL: At the top of page 7 you say:

Reaction to change is the root of the criticism of unification of the
Canadian armed forces.

Would you substantiate that?

Mr. Partrick: Documenting this is not easy. I am again referring to my own
experience. I think the nature of a military organization tends to produce a
certain rigidity, especially when there are long periods of peace. Frankly, I think
the armed forces really only make a rapid change under conditions of great

stress, and as a result of the input of some hundreds of thousands of people who
are not regular force people.

Perhaps that is not a very good explanation of my point, but I find that
people do not like to change. They do not want to change their rank structure;
they do not like to change their jobs; it is a nice comfortable situation.

Mr. CHURcHILL: I do not think you have substantiated your general remark
very well. There are quite a number of people in this country, with much more
experience than you, whose reaction to the proposal is not based simply on
reaction and change, but on logic and reason.

On page 7 you went so far as to say that:

Bill C-90 passed by Parliament, April 1st, 1964 (and passed without a
single dissenting vote)—
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You have endeavoured to present to us your great knowledge on these
matters. Why did you put that statement in there and have you repeated this
across the country? Is this part of your propaganda effort? If it is, it is false.

On the same page you say:

Integration and unification are terms that are kicked around glibly as
though they meant different things—, when they really mean the same
thing.

We have spent two weeks endeavouring to settle this issue and now you put
the two together. Do you really think that they both mean exactly the same
thing?

Mr. PATRICK: I certainly do.

Mr. CHURCHILL: Thank you very much. {

On page 8 you quote examples from Daily Routine Orders issued on April 2
and April 3, respectively, by the air staff, the general staff and the naval stal_T.
You create the impression that the general officers issued this because of the§r
enthusiasm for something that was happening. Has it occurred to you that this
might have all come down from the ministerial office for transmission to the
troops?

Mr. PATRICK: Well, I must say that I knew Admiral Rayner—I had met him
a few times—and although his statement was not full of enthusiasm, as you
undoubtedly know, I think the other officers made statements which were quite
categorical and were intended to leave the servicemen who read them with the
idea that this was a good thing. Now, whether they were beaten over the hgad by
the Minister and forced to say this, is pure conjecture. I do not know this; but
perhaps you do. I knew the CAS at the time and I do not think he would have
said this if he did not mean it.

Mr. CHURCHILL: On page 12 you say:

Many of the same kind of people who raised such a fuss about getting
a new flag now do so over the uniform and for the same reasons.

I submit to you that that is an insulting remark.

There was a long controversy in Parliament, and a large percentage of the
population did not accept the new flag. Here you are saying that the fuss and the
objection that are being raised now to the proposals for national defence are
put forward for the same reasons.

There are certain members of this Committee who opposed the flag in the
form in which it was presented to us, and for very sound reasons. Now you are
suggesting that we are objecting to the proposed defence changes for similar
reasons, and these, of course, you dimiss. I suggest to you that you are insulting
members of this Committee, and T would hope that you would withdraw that
statement.

Mr. Lo1SELLE: I do not consider myself insulted.

Mr. PATRICK: May I point out that General Foulkes has just finished saying
the same thing. You did not consider that an insult.
~ Mr. CHURCHILL: On page 17 you say:

It has been said that the soldiers of the First World War entered it
with a romantic feeling,

Where did you get that idea? Were you in the First World War?
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Mr. PATRICK: I certainly was not. I know you were.

Mr. CHURCHILL: I can tell you emphatically that the men who enlisted in
1915, 1916, 1917 and 1918, with the full knowledge that their lives might be
sacrificed, did not enter that war with any romantic feeling. You are casting a
slur on the men of the First World War.

Mr. LANIEL: Mr. Chairman, on a point of order—

Mr. CHURCHILL: It is an insulting document.

Mr. LaNieL: Mr. Chairman, I want to point out that even in official docu-
ments I have seen First World War posters—they were on streetcars—ad-
vertising for enlistment, and inviting people on a trip to Europe.

Mr. CHURCHILL: It does not matter what you have seen or read. I happen to
have been there, I am talking from experience.

Mr. LANIEL: It is still one man’s opinion, though. It was a free trip to
Europe.

Mr. CHURCHILL: There was no romantic feeling; there was no free trip to
Europe. That is an insult to the men of the First Canadian Corps in Europe who
lost their lives.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please, gentlemen. I think probably various members
of the Committee have different interpretations of the word “romantic”.

This is a personal brief and we have almost come to the end of our time.

Mr. Laniel, do you have a question?

Mr. LANIEL: I have three very short questions.

Sir, do you classify yourself as a sincere, respectable Canadian who has done
his share for the defence of this country, and as a taxpayer who has the right,
and even the duty, to be concerned about military policy?

Mr. PATRICK: I certainly do. I happen to represent a point of view different
from a number of the people, in that I joined the air force and was commis-
sioned on September 6, 1939 and served every day of the war and served in the
reserve or in auxiliary capacity up until I retired. I had 20 years’ service after
the war, or something of that order. I naturally have an opinion and I was
anxious to offer it.

I am also a businessman, fundamentally, and my willingness to come before
this Committee was to give you not just my views but the views of a very wide
segment of the business community on this emerging defence policy.

Mr. McINTOsH: On a point of order. The witness was asked whether he was
a taxpayer.

Mr. Patrick, as a member of the Caribbean Investment Company do you pay
Canadian income tax?

Mr. PAaTRICK: I certainly do. All of my income is declared in Canada.

Mr. LANIEL: Your last remark partly answered my next question, in the

sense that this is not only your own personal opinion but the consensus of the
people around you?

Mr. PaTricK: I am speaking for the group of people with whom I am
normally in contact. Presumably this was the opinion that you wanted or I would
not have been invited to appear.

Mr. LanieL: Do you believe that Canadians are concerned about the project
of unification and the accomplishments of our armed forces?
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Mr. PATRICK: I think they are not nearly as interested in it as you may think
they are. My contacts with the Canadian public suggest that they are attracted
by any idea that is going to do a job better for less money.

Mr. LaNIEL: This will be my last question. When you were asked in 1945 to
prepare a paper to deliver here in Ottawa before a triservice meeting of senior
officers, advocating unification as an urgent post-war program, did you get the
impression that you were asked to do so because these people considered you
competent to put forward ideas that could be implemented?

Mr. PATRICK: Yes. Perhaps I might explain that. I happened to have spent
the last year or so of the war working very closely with the Americans on a
whole new concept of guided missiles. Guided missiles had really not been part
of the experience of our side during the last war, although the V-1 and the V-2
certainly were nuisances. My job called for me to have a fairly wide knowledge
of these things at that time.

When I talk about military hardware, I was trying to analyse the impact of
these new weapons. I had a story to tell; I had slides; and I even had an airplane
with a television camera in it—something unheard of in those days—to demon-
strate that things had to change.

Mr. LANIEL: And that paper was in favour of unification?

Mr. PaTrIcK: It specifically said that we had to look toward the time when
there would be unification.

Mr. LANIEL: Was it based on emotion?

Mr. PaTricK: No; I think it was based on the new gadgets that were
beginning to emerge.

Mr. LANIEL: Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, I am afraid that time is going to dictate the
extent of the questioning of Group Captain Patrick on his brief. I again apologize
to him for keeping him waitng so long. The fault was almost entirely mine.

I very much appreciate your coming down here, and I am sure this is also
true of the members of this Committee.

Mr. WINCH: Some of us appreciate your comments. Do not be disturbed by
insulting remarks.

The CHAIRMAN: Our next meeting will be at 3.30 on Monday afternoon,
wher_x General Moncel will be present. On Tuesday we will have Air Marshal
Annis at 10 a.m. and Air Vice Marshal Hendrick in the afternoon. Thank you.

{ )
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

MonpAY, February 20, 1967.
(39)

The Standing Committee on National Defence met at 3:40 p.m. this day. The
Chairman, Mr. David W. Groos, presided.

Members present: Messrs. Andras, Brewin, Deachman, Ethier, Forrestall,
Foy, Groos, Harkness, Lambert, Langlois (Chicoutimi), Laniel, Lessard, Loi-
selle, Macaluso, MacLean (Queens), MacRae, Mclntosh, McNulty, Nugent,
Ormiston, Rochon, Stafford and Mr. Winch—(23).

In attendance: Lieutenant-General R. W. Moncel; From the Department of

National Defence: Honourable Léo Cadieux, Associate Minister; Air Marshal F.
R. Sharp, Vice Chief Defence Staff.

The Chairman read the Ninth Report of the Subcommittee on Agenda and
Procedure which is as follows:

SUBCOMMITTEE ON AGENDA AND PROCEDURE

Fripay, February 17, 1967.
NINTH REPORT

Your Subcommittee met to consider the calling of additional wit-

nesses in connection with Bill C-243. Your Subcommittee recommends as
follows:

1. That Lt. Gen. R. W. Moncel; Lt. Gen. F. J. Fleury; Lt. Gen. G.
Walsh; A/M C. Annis and A/V/M M. Hendrick, should be
invited to appear, on a voluntary basis to answer the Com-
mittee’s questions during the week of February 20, 1967.

2. That one of the following, Lt. Gen. Moncel; Lt. Gen. Fleury or
Lt. Gen. Walsh, should be invited to appear on Monday, Feb-
ruary 20, 1957.

3. That A/M Annis and A/V/M Hendrick should be invited to
appear on Tuesday, February 21, 1967.

4. That the remaining two witnesses, if available, should appear
on Wednesday, February 22, 1967.

Your Subcommittee also noted a general agreement that the Com-
mittee should try to complete the questioning of witnesses, including the
Minister and members of the Defence Staff, in time to commence clause
by clause discussion of Bill C-243 on Monday, February 27, 1967.

Following a discussion of the recommendation contained in the Ninth Report

of the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure, the Committee agreed to receive
the Report.
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The Chairman introduced the witness, Lieutenant-General R. W. Moncel,
who was asked to outline his military career. The witness then proceeded to
answer questions from the members of the Committee concerning military
planning and organization, and his views on the implications of Bill C-243.

At 6:05 p.m., with the questioning continuing, the Committee adjourned
until 8:00 p.m. this day.

EVENING SITTING
(40)

The Standing Committee on National Defence met at 8:15 p.m. this day, the
Chairman, Mr. Groos, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Andras, Deachman, Forrestall, Foy, Groos,
Harkness, Hopkins, Lambert, Langlois (Chicoutimi), Laniel, Legault, Lessard,
Loiselle, Macaluso, MacLean (Queens), MacRae, McIntosh, McNulty, Nugent,
Ormiston, Rochon, and Mr.Winch—(22).

Also present: Messrs. Berger, Chatterton, Mackasey, McCleave, Pru-
d’homme, Régimbal, Stanbury, Tolmie, Watson (Assiniboia).

In attendance: Same as at the afternoon sitting.

Lieutenant-General Moncel continued to answer questions posed by the
members of the Committee during the evening sitting, on a variety of defence
matters related to subjects dealt with in Bill C-243.

The questioning was concluded at approximately 10:30 p.m. The Chairman
thanked the witness for his appearance before the Committee. The Committee
adjourned until 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, February 21, 1967 when the witness will
be Air Marshal C. L. Annis.

Hugh R. Stewart,

Clerk of the Committee.




EVIDENCE
(Recorded by Electronic Apparatus)

MonpAy, February 20, 1967.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen before we begin the business of the day I would
like to present the ninth report of the steering committee on agenda and pro-

cedure which met on Friday. The report is as follows. (See Minutes of Pro-
ceedings).

Mr. LAMBERT: This requires the questioning of witnesses.

Mr. MAcLEAN (Queens): I want to make one observation. I thought that
here was a reservation at that time with regard to making definitive recommen-
dations as to when the committee might be prepared to start the detailed
examination of the bill. I thought that it was left fluid to some extent.

The CHAIRMAN: There was nothing nailed down in this connection; it was

brought up, discussed, and it seemed to the chairman and the secretary that there
was general agreement.

Mr. WincH: It set forward an impossible goal—

A hon. MEMBER: —which we hoped we could achieve; that was my under-
standing of it, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. LaMBERT: Well, it is whistling “Dixie”.

Mr. NUGeNT: Mr. Chairman, there is only one point I want to make in
connection with the report. I was wondering why “on a voluntary basis” was
accented. Perhaps some of these gentlemen may have some hesitation in getting
embroiled. I hope that the invitation from the committee, although politely
worded, is couched in such terms that it will be understood by these gentlemen
that an option is not open to them, no matter what their personal feelings are. It
is the feeling of this committee that we must have their advice and, therefore,
they are required.

The CHAIRMAN: I think, Mr. Nugent, that one of the very first things that we
adopted in this committee as a whole, was the principle that witnesses who
attended were attending as voluntary witnesses and that there was no question
of their being required. If the men now are being required, it is something new
to this committee. Is there anything further that we should say about that?

Are you suggesting now that anybody we call is really required to come.

Mr. NUGENT: I should think that if any witnesses have been asked in that
manner—that is, that it is purely voluntary whether or not they want to come—
and should decline, then we will have to reconsider immediately the terms in
which the invitation is put. This committee is interested in getting information;
these gentlemen have information; it is our duty to get it, and no matter how
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politely we express it, I think it should be understood by all that we have the
power to call them, and require them.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not think that there is any doubt that the committee, if
it wished to actually put a motion and take a vote, would have the power;
whether they would want to exercise this power, is another matter.

Mr. McNuLTyY: Mr. Chairman, this was discussed in the steering committee,
as you will recall. Some of the witnesses who had been asked earlier declined to
come and then they were asked again at the request of two members of the
steering committee, at which time it was emphasized that we would like to hear
their testimony. However, I think that it was decided that we should not bring
any one here under duress.

The CHAIRMAN: “Compulsion” I think, was the word. The reason that “In a
voluntary basis” was emphasized was that there was some question whether a
person who is still on retirement leave would want to come on a voluntary basis
inasmuch as, technically, he is still in the service, and might have some reserva-
tion about this.

Mr. LAMBERT: I think most of the people that might be invited to attend
would take a responsible position in this regard. I agree with Mr. Nugent that
th@s might be something that might be considered at some time if the case should
arise.

The CHAIRMAN: If the case arises, but not otherwise.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): Mr. Chairman, I think that everyone here is famil-
iar with the fact that in the case of many committees, organizations, and even
individuals write, asking for the privilege to appear before the committee.
H¢_>wever, as I understand it, in this case the initiative in respect of most of the
witnesses, must come from the committee rather than from the witness, and as
long as that is understood, I think that meets our requirement.

The CHAIRMAN: I think that is so. Although people have indicated to the
committee that they would like to appear, in actual fact the initiative has come
from the committee itself.

. Mr. HARKNESS: Mr. Chairman, I trust that the report you read does not
indicate that the steering committee came to any decision that no other witnesses
would be called in addition to the ones which you outlined. To begin with, Mr.
Deachman, I think was insistant that one other witness be called, and I think
that there are some other witnesses whom we probably should hear also. I was
not able to be here on Friday but I read in the newspapers that Admiral Rayner
had asked to be heard. I would hope that there is no thought that this would
exhaust, say, witnesses that the committee would hear.

The CHATRMAN: That is something, of course, that the committee itself will
have to decide upon.

Mr. ANDRAS: Mr. Chairman, being a member of that steering commitee, it
was agreed on two or three occasions at the meeting Monday that our objective
would be to deal and finish with the witnesses this week, including the return of
the Minister and the senior members of the serving defence staff and then start
on clause by clause consideration of the bill a week from today. I believe that
was established quite emphatically.
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Mr. NUGeENT: That is not even in the report. I do not know how you can say
it is established.

Mr. ANDRAS: It certainly was discussed.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): My understanding is that the steering committee
decided that would be an objective, but that no firm decision could be taken
until the next meeting of the steering committee.

The CHAIRMAN: We did not nail it down to the floor but the secretary and I
felt that this was the general feeling of the committee and that is the reason it
was put in the report. I think we should now hear and question the present
witness and then perhaps we could get together and establish something more
definite in regard to our routine from here on.

Mr. LamBeRT: I will repeat again, Mr. Chairman, that in my book this
committee has responsibilities within the ambit of the work of other committees
and of the House and that it is sheer utter nonsense to try to say that you are
going to work from Monday afternoon right through Friday afternoon attempt-

ing to ram these witnesses through, and I certainly will not have any part of
that.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lambert, you did bring this matter up and I appreciate
your concern; we had a general agreement among the committee last week that
we would try to cut down on this five day a week series of meetings. This is what
we try to do but unfortunately, we were caught up by events of the committee’s
own wishes. I would like to do something about it this week and perhaps if we
get together on this, we might be able to do something by Wednesday.

Mr. LaMBERT: Last week, it was a scheduling by the chairman and the
secretary, not the steering committee or anybody else. Let us have that clear.

The CHAIRMAN: No; I accept that.

Mr. LAMBERT: That is all I am going to say about it. I categorically refuse to
ram witnesses through on this basis.

Mr. MacaLuso: Mr. Chairman, Mr. Lambert was not here last week as he
does not know whether or not witnesses were rammed through. I suggest the
opposite was the case. I just want that clarified on the record.

The CHAIRMAN: It is a matter of interpretation.

Mr. MAcaLuso: However, I would suggest Mr. Chairman—if I still have the
floor—that perhaps you can get together with the steering committee at our

adjournment at 6 o’clock and discuss this so that we can come to some decision
on this matter by this evening.

Mr. McInTosH: Let us get the record straight. Mr. Macaluso said that the
witnesses were not rushed through. The record will reveal that I had other
questions to ask Admiral Landymore, which I did not have the opportunity to
ask because of certain circumstances, and I am not saying that we had anything
to do with those. However, I will deal with this subject in a different manner. 1
want assurance now from you, as chairman, that the witnesses, whoever they are
or however few they are, are not going to be rushed, and that we are going to be

given the opportunity to ask them all questions to our satisfaction, whether the
other side wants it or not.
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The CHAIRMAN: I hope you will agree that I am doing my best.

Mr. McINTosH: I agree, but I want the assurance that we can question these
witnesses as much as we want, with no restrictions on our questions.

The CHAIRMAN: I think the record will show that there has been pretty
generous, opportunity for questioning.

Mr. McInTosH: In connection with what was said about Admiral Lan-
dymore, Mr, Macaluso was not here at the time.

Mr. MAcALUSO: You must not have been here because I was here throughout
the whole meeting. Do not make remarks like that in my presence.

An hon. MEMBER: That remark was pretty strong there, Mr. Macaluso.
The CHAIRMAN: Order. Mr. Macaluso, gentlemen, Mr. Brewin has a question.

Mr. BREWIN: I can understand Mr. Lambert’s point, that we do not want to
ram any witnesses through, but I wondered if we had some degree of clarity or
unanimity as to witnesses we were going to call. It seems to me that before we
do any planning, we should hear fairly soon from the members of this committee
as a whole, whether there are other witnesses, in addition to those that you
named, that they believe we ought to call. I do not mean that we then shut the
door if some new person appears whose evidence is absolutely essential, but I
think it would be helpful if we knew how many witnesses, quite apart from the
question of how long they are going to be examined, will be coming.

The CHAIRMAN: It seemed to me from discussions in the steering committee
and from conversations that I have had directly with some members from all
sides, that there are a number of questions that have been raised by witnesses
already to which we need answers which can be given only by the Minister, and
when the Minister gives these answers, it may cut down on the amount of
questioning that has to take place before the committee as a whole.

Mr. FORRESTALL: Mr. Chairman, if you are finished with the report of the
steering committee could I ask whether or not my understanding is correct, that
a telegram was directed to the committee from Rear Admiral Landymore dealing
with_ certain statements that he made based on information he allegedly
received from Admiral Welland. I have a copy of this telegram in my office.

The CHAIRMAN: I have not received one. Have you?

.Mr. FoRRESTALL: Apparently I received the copy before you received the
original telegram.

An hon. MEMBER: That sounds logical.
The CHAIRMAN: No, I do not have this.

Dgr. FoRRESTALL: I thought it could be tabled and included as part of the
record.

The CH.I_AIRMA}N: Of course it can. I just left my office a moment ago and I
had not received it, and the secretary tells me he has not received it.
Mr. FORRESTALL: My copy arrived an hour ago, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: What is your wish in respect of this report of the subcom-
mittee on agenda and procedure. You have heard the comments that have been
made by the committee on the report.
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Mr. LAMBERT: I move that we receive the report of the committee.

The CHAIRMAN: There does not seem to be anything in here that requires
specific adoption. What we have agreed to recommend in respect to inviting
witnesses to attend is now in the process of being done, so until such time as we
are able to get together we will just receive it.

I would now like to ask General Moncel, who has been invited to appear
before us, to join me at the table.

It was the wish of the committee, General Moncel, that you should be
invited to appear here before us to answer questions and we are pleased that you
were able to accept. Do you have a brief that you wish to present. If not—

Mr. WincH: Is there some statement you would like to make prior to
questioning?

Lieutenant General R. W. MonNcEL: No.

Mr. HARKNESS: Mr. Chairman, possibly General Moncel might briefly outline
his past service to us because it has been customary to do that.

The CHAIRMAN: That is agreeable. A number of witnesses have done this.

Mr. MonNceL: Very well, if you like. I joined the Militia as a private soldier
in 1934, was granted my commission as a second lieutenant and went through all
the officer ranks to my present rank. I commanded at platoon, company, battal-
lion, brigade, division, army command level; I held staff appointments at the
third grade level in an armoured brigade. I was Brigade Major, First Armoured
Brigade, G2, Fifth Armoured Division; GSO 1 (operations) at 2 Canadian Corps;
Director of the Armoured Corps, Director of Military Training, Deputy Chief of
the General Staff in those days, Quartermaster General and Commander,
Eastern Command. I served as Senior Canadian Army Liaison officer in London
and Military Adviser to the High Commissioner. I headed the military compon-
ent of the International Control Commission in Viet Nam; I was Controller
General to the Forces and, finally, Vice Chief of Defence Forces.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. McIntosh?

Mr. McINTosH: Mr. Chairman, since there is no brief presented by the
General, I would like to question him on evidence that already been given to the
Committee. As he was very close to the Minister in his position as Vice Chief, 1
have several lists of questions on different evidence and I was wondering if you
were restricting us to a period of time in our questions and if you say “yes”. If so,
and you give me my time, that will determine which evidence I start on.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, I do not have a long list of questioners at the moment

before me and I think that if you care to start off, I will play it by ear. I certainly
will not limit you to less than 15 minutes.

Mr. McIntosH: The first question, General, is on Admiral Landymore’s
testimony. Then, Mr. Chairman, I will pause and ask if I am being too long.

General, in Admiral Landymore’s testimony he suggested to the Committee
that we endeavour to obtain further evidence as to the results and futility of the
unification program. As a former member of the General Staff, could you first
tell us anything about the present emergency defence and mobilization plan of
the departments or the plans, as they were, when you left.
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Mr. MonceL: Is that in Viet Nam?
Mr. McInTOSH: Yes.
Mr. MoNcCEL: I can, but I do not think I should.

Mr. McINTOsH: Were you satisfied with the emergency defence plans and the
mobilization plan as they were when you were Vice Chief.

The CHAIRMAN: Could you tell us when you retired?

Mr. MoncEL: July. No; I do not think that anybody is ever satisfied with a
plan. Obviously they are constantly being updated and new factors constantly
come to light. I do not think anybody at any time can ever say that he is truly
satisfied with any plan?

Mr. McInTosH: I agree with you; you cannot at any time say that you are
truly satisfied. However, at the time when, you left could you say if the services
were able to respond effectively to the demands placed on them?

Mr. MoncEL: It depends on the demands. We were meeting the daily
demands. Whether we could have met all the demands that might have been
made on us is of course a very different thing and I simply do not know. I would
have to know what the demands were.

Mr. McInTosH: Did you agree with the mobilization plans and the emergen-
cy defence plans at that time?

Mr. MonNcEL: I wrote them.
Mr. McInTosH: Under the direction of the Minister or of your own accord?
Mr. MoNcEL: It was my job to produce these.

Mr. McINTosH: Did the mobilization plans at that time entertain the idea of
compulsory military service or conscription?

Mr. MonNcEL: No.
Mr. McInTosH: Did you contemplate that they would in the near future?
Mr. MoNcEL: I never did.

Mr. McINTOosH: Since you left the position as Vice Chief, Genex:al, the
information that we have is that recruiting has been gradually falling pff.
Knowing the problems that you had with recruiting when you were Vice Chief,
would you say that it would be necessary for Canada, if this plan of unification
was implemented, to resort to compulsory military service or conscription to get
recruits?

Mr. MoncEL: I would genuinely hope not.

Mr. McINTOSH: Admiral Landymore suggested that we get information from
the official report on the result of FALLEX, I think he said it was, and he further
suggested that it would give us “a shock or two”. What was the exercise
FALLEX?

Mr. MonceL: T could but I think it would be much more appropriate if
somebody who was actually in the business these days told you about that. I had
a lot to do with it at the time but because T was not there when the exercise took
place, I am not an expert witness. .
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Mr. McINTOSH: You may not be an expert witness on this, but I understand
that this took place when you were Vice Chief—

Mr. MoNcEeL: No; after I left.
Mr. McINTosH: It was after you left. Did you plan it?
Mr. MonceL: I had to do with it, yes.

Mr. McInTosH: Did you at any time see the official report on this exercise?
Mr. MonceL: No.

Mr. McINTosH: So then, you can contribute nothing to what Admiral Lan-

dymore was getting at when he said that “this Committee would be shocked as
a result of that report”?

Mr. MonceL: I am afraid I was not here when he got at whatever he was

getting at. All I read in the newspaper was one paragraph and it did not seem
that he could have said what was stated.

Mr. McINTosH: Well, this was part of his brief to the Committee and it was
clearly stated in his report. t

He further suggested that we call Admiral Burchell and, “Ask him for his
findings in relation to the failures of the materiel organization”. Vice Chief, can
you give us any information as to what these failures were?

Mr. MonceL: I could possibly give you some information on what I think the
potential failures might be, but I think for a specific word you would be far

better off to ask Burchell, who was indeed involved in a much more direct way
than I was.

Mr. McINTosH: You heard the Chairman’s remarks; it is doubtful whether
we are going to have him as a witness before us. I think it would be valuable to
the Committee if we get all the information we can on this particular subject. If
you have any information that you can give us, we would appreciate it.

Mr. MoNCEL: In my time, Materiel Command was in a very embryonic stage
and essentially the old system was operating. We had just made the first
faltering steps of putting this thing together and from the point of view of
where I sat, Materiel Command did not fail.

Mr. McINTosH: You would say that there were no evident failures, as far as
you are concerned?

Mr. MonNceL: No.

Mr. McINTOSH: Admiral Landymore further stated, “Our country’s defence
is more important than partisan politics.” He also said, “Our defence must not
be prejudiced by stubborn, blind adherence to a party line, and our servicemen

must not become fodder for political cannon.” Do you agree with those state-
ments of Admiral Landymore?

Mr. MoNceL: Could I have them again a little more slowly?
Mr. McINTosH: He said first,

Our country’s defence is more important than partisan politics.
Mr. MonceL: I would think this was a fair statement.
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Mr. McInTosH: The second statement he made is,
Our defence must not be prejudiced by stubborn, blind adherence to a
party line,—

Mr. MonNceL: This is like motherhood in early spring, I suppose.

Mr. McInTosH: He also said,
—and our servicemen must not become fodder for political cannon.

Mr. MONCEL: Amen.

Mr. McInTosH: I take it you agree with those statements.

Was it because you subscribe to such principles as outlined here that you left
your position as Vice Chief of Defence Staff?

Mr. MonNceL: No.
Mr. McInTosH: It had nothing to do with it?
Mr. MonNcEL: I never thought of those three things.

Mr. McInTosH: Would you tell the Committee, General, why then you made
the decision to leave your position as Vice Chief?

Mr. MoNcEL:Yes. I left essentially because I did not feel that under the then
conditions and the conditions which I suspected were about to materialize that I
could continue loyally to carry out my instructions.

Mr. McInTosH: And what were those conditions, General?

Mr. MoNcEL: The conditions, which I specifically refer to are as follows. At
this stage of the operation, the lines were pretty well drawn and it was abun-
dantly clear to me that we were going to force ahead with this process of
unification which, to me, appeared to be moving on an uncharted course at a
very, very high speed toward a very, very dim destination, and I did not think
that I could produce the staff work necessary at that speed to keep the thing
on the rails.

Mr. McINTosH: You said, this “appeared” to you. Could you give us a
definition of what your interpretation of the word “unification” means?

Mr. MonceL: I understand it to mean a single Canadian defence force with
: o‘xilame and a title and a disappearance of these three services as we know them
ay.

Mr. McInTosH: Might I also ask you, General, if you had not been retired
at that time, how much longer could you have served before the regular retire-
ment age?

Mr. MONCEL: I was not retired. I retired. I could have gone on, I suppose,
another six years.

Mr. McINTosH: Now I refer back to Admiral Landymore’s evidence: He said:
Uniﬂcation‘ has very little, if any, merit. It is a change for the sake of
change. It is unnecessary and expensive, It is oriented politically and not

militarily. It is, and will continue to be destructive of morale. It is riddled
with inconsistencies and with impractical and unrealistic promises.

Are you in disagreement with any of those statements?
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Mr. MonNceL: Oh, I think I would have put them in slightly different terms.
Again, if you want me to comment on them, I would like to know a little more of
the context in which he said those things.

Mr. McInTosH: Well I will pick out an example. He said,
1t is, and will continue to be destructive of morale.

Do you feel that this policy of unification or this plan of unification will be
destructive to morale?

Mr. MonceL: Not with a change of commitments.
Mr. McInTosH: And what do you mean by “a change of commitments’?

Mr. MonceL: In the light of the commitments that are undertaken and
which indeed are spelled for us in the White Paper, a unified force has no place.
Now if you want to change the commitments to a commitment—I could write
one for you if you want—which would call for a unified force then unification
per se is obviously a good thing, if you change your commitments; but if you do
change your commitments and produce a unified force to meet these much
reduced commitments, then you should bear in mrind that you are never again

going to have a commitment that might call for something other than a unified
force. I think this is the key to the whole thing.

Mr. McInTosH: By “commitments”, do you mean our commitments to such
alliances as NATO, NORAD and so on?

Mr. MoNcEL: Precisely.

Mr. McInTosH: I also have some questions to ask you on General Foulkes
evidence, when I come to it. I think that he said that an airborne brigade, as

explained by the Minister, was useless. Do you believe that—with its own air-
craft and so on?

Mr. MonceL: I do not know in what context General Foulkes said this. I can
write you a scenario which would show that it was useless. I wrote one which I
thought showed that it was essential.

Mr. McInTosH: Well, I will continue on with Admiral Landymore, and we
will come to that in a moment.

Admiral Landymore also said in his evidence that in Bill No. C-243 which
is now before the Committee, the powers of the Minister of National Defence are
far too sweeping; that he is given a blank cheque.

Did you get that impression from looking over the bill?

Mr. MonceL: I must confess that I did not really look over the bill. All I read
were the explanatory notes, as I believe they are called, on the first page which
says that the object of this exercise is to introduce this bill and that the time is
now considered appropriate so to do. I presume that this is what we are here
for—to discuss whether this is the appropriate time to do this. I know some of
the details of the bill, obviously, because I have worked on, a lot of them—bits
and pieces of them—but I have not gone through the complete bill.

Mr. McInTosH: Did the Minister ever convey to you why he felt it necessary
to have these sweeping powers that have been referred to?

Mr. MoNcEL: About a thousand times.
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Mr. McInTOosH: And what were his reasons, General?

Mr. MonceL: All genuine in his mind, I am certain; but, I think, founded on
a basic belief that this was the right thing, and if you did not believe that this
was the right thing, well, then you were stupid.

Mr. McINTosH: Did you ever agree with him, or encourage him, in any way
that this is what should take place within the Department of National Defence?

Mr. MonNcEL: In the early stages I most certainly did.
Mr. McInTOosH: And when did you disagree with him, then?

Mr. MoNcEL: When it became apparent to me that this bill on unification
‘was going to be brought forward at this time.

Mr. McInTosH: Under the authority granted to the Minister in Bill No.
C-243, could the Minister, in your opinion, commit the Canadian forces any-
where without consulting Parliament?

Mr. MoNcCEL: I cannot believe this.

Mr. McInTOsH: Do you feel that that was the intention at any time?

Mr. MoncEL: Certainly not to my knowledge, sir.

Mr. McInTosH: Do you feel that the Minister's or anyone else’s having
complete unrestricted powers over the military is desirable in a country such as
ours?

I think your answer to that would be obvious.

Mr. MoNceL: Well, if that is so perhaps you would let me answer it.

Obviously, as the responsible minister he must have very sweeping powers
in his department, as in any other department. He is charged, as I understand it,
by the Cabinet and by the government with responsibility for it. He is directly
and personally responsible for it. Patently, if you are going to be responsible you
have got to have authority and power. I do feel that there should be some
restraints built in.

Mr. McINTOSH: More sweeping powers than any previous minister has had,
General?

Mr. MonceL: It is not a question of having more. It is a question of
exercising it.

Mr. McINTOSH: Admiral Landymore further stated that the Committee
should call the commander of Materiel Command and seek from him satisfaction
on whether his command can support the armed forces under emergency condi-
tions. The Admiral said that we would be seriously perturbed at the answer that
we would receive.

Is it your opinion that Materiel Command could, or could not, support the
Canadian armed forces under emergency conditions at the present time?

Mr. MoNCEL: At the present time?

Mr. McINTosH: Yes; or at the time you left office?

Mr. MoNcEL: Well, as I said before, when I left, Materiel Command existed
really in name only. We had put a nominal head in, but the three separate

systems that supported the forces were still intact. At that time I think that we
could have performed. What state they have them in now, I do not know.
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Mr. McInTosH: He also suggested that we call the commander of Maritime
Command and ask the following questions: What he considered were acceptable
limits of unification? How his command will be more efficient and more eco-
nomical? Whether administration has increased or decreased with unification?
How our ships are being manned?

Can you offer any suggestion about what answers we would get if those
questions were asked?

Mr. MonNceL: No; I could not begin to guess at what he might say.

Mr. McInTosH: Well, I understand that you were closely connected with
Maritime Command at one time, General. Could you not give us some indication
of whether you were perturbed about the conditions either while you were com-
mander or after you came to Ottawa on the Defence Staff?

Mr. MonceL: You must be clear about my connection. I think we are
talking of two different commands. I commanded the army, Eastern Command,
which happened to have its headguarters in Halifax, next door to Maritime

Command, which was commanded in my day by Jeffrey Brock, and before that
by Kenneth Dyer.

Mr. McInTosH: What has been your experience, since you came to Ottawa as
part of the Defence Committee, of any problems that were arising there, or that
would arise, in your opinion, if unification were put into effect.

Mr. MonNceL: Problems in Maritime Command?

Mr. McInTosH: Yes; about whether the suggestions put forward under
unification, as you understand it, and as you discussed it with the Minister,
would create any further problems to Maritime Command? Would it be efficient?
Would it be economical?

Mr. MonceL: Well, of course, there are all kinds of problems that we
envisaged could materialize. I suppose the most serious, in my mind, was the

very, very real lack of supervision of the Maritime Commander at headquarters
level.

What you have to understand is that we took a “chap”’—the fellow in
Halifax now, whatever his name is—and we put him in charge of both coasts,
which is the entire navy, as we used to know it, and to his responsibilities we
added Maritime Air Command. We gave to this one man—one man now—the
same responsibilities that at one time were handled by two Admirals, one on the
east coast and one on the west coast, backed by a naval board. It was the job of
the commanders to command, and the job of the naval board to supervise, to
inspire, to instruct, and, if necessary to restrain these men. Now you have given
this wretched “chap” all these responsibilities. You are asking him to run the
thing, to train it, and, if necessary, to fight it, and he is not backed by any real
knowledgeable deepsea-going bedy. You have one sailor of any rank in the
headquarters, who at the moment is Controller General. He happens to be a
seagoing type, but he could just as easily be a paymaster. From a ministerial
point of view this is where your naval control is. It is possible.

Mr. McINTosH: This is my last question on Admiral Landymore’s testimony,

General. He made this statement: “Unification is a mistake”. Do you agree with
that?

25812—2
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Mr. MonceL: I would say that it would be a mistake. You have not done it
yet, I hope.

Mr. McInTosH: It would be a mistake?

Mr. MoNCEL: Yes.

Mr, McInTosH: Do you wish me to continue, Mr. Chairman?

The CHAIRMAN: Well, not if this is a convenient time to stop. You have had
12 minutes.

Mr. McINTOSH: Put me down for the second round.
The CHAIRMAN: I will put you down again. Next we have Mr. MacRae.

Mr. MACRAE: General Moncel, would you be so kind as to explain to me
again, because I did not quite catch all of it the first time, just exactly what you
understand unification to mean in our armed forces today.

Mr. MoNcELL: I do not know if I am going to say precisely what I said last
time, but, as I understand it, unification means the disbanding of the three
services as they exist today and the creation of a single Canadian armed forces, if
that is the term.

Mr. MAacRAE: Would it be correct for me to say that you agreed with the
principle of a certain amount of integration, certainly as far as it had gone when
you were there, or up until just before you left?

Mr. MoNcEL: Oh, one hundred per cent; wholeheartedly, yes.

Mr. MacRAE: But as I understood your testimony, one of the things that
disturbed you was that the unification process was proceeding far too rapidly as
far as you were concerned, from your experience as an officer of the forces.

This is a matter of economics. Is it your opinion that for an equivalent
expenditure in the National Defence budget we will have a more efficient,
better-equipped force after we have become unified, as you understand it, than
we had with the three services? What is your feeling? Have I made myself clear
there?

Mr. MonNceEL: I think so. Within the context of what you are asking the
forces to do, of the White Paper and of the roles and commitments you have
given to them, my answer is no.

Mr. MacRAE: How much value, General Moncel, do you put on morale and
esprit de corps in private units and private service in the matter of ability and
willingness to do a job in this disturbed world?

Mr. MoNCEL: It obviously is a very, very real factor. In a voluntary force
such as ours it is of very real importance.

Mr. MAcRAE: Do you feel that if the Canadian forces are unified morale will
be as high, as you know it in the forces today and as you knew it in the forces
when you left, or will morale suffer under unification?

Mr. MoNcEL: If you change your commitments and are unified properly
there is no reason at all why the morale should drop. If you leave the commit-
ments as they are and proceed with this bill and you attempt to unify under the
system which, as I understand it, they are trying to, I think you are in for very
serious trouble.
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Mr. MacRAE: Thank you.

Mr. NUGeENT: General, it is the circumstances of your leaving that I find most
interesting. Naturally, it must be of considerable concern to the nation that so
many like you, with many valuable years left—perhaps the most valuable
years—have been compulsorily retired so early. Perhaps you will not mind my
prebing a little more deeply into your reasons for leaving.

I believe you said that the essence of the reason for your leaving was that
you felt that you could not do your best to carry out the policies as you
understood them at that time, and that therefore the only honourable course was
to resign?

Mr. MonNcEeL: That is right, yes.

Mr. NuGeNT: If my notes are correct you summarized it by saying that we
were moving on an uncharted course at a very high speed towards an unknown
destination.

Mr. MoNcEL: That is rather good. Did I say that?

Mr. NuGeNT: I thought it was, too. I thought it was very neat. I believe that
my note is correct. Is it an accurate reflection of your feelings about the whole
situation?

Mr. MonceL: Yes, I think so.

Mr. NuGeNT: If I deal with the last part first, the unknown destination, can I
relate that to our commitments, as expressed, however vaguely, in the White
Paper, and to the question of the apparent design of the forces and what they
would be useful for? Was there a conflict, in your mind, therefore, between what
the Minister said in the White Paper and the manner in which he was trying to
redesign our forces?

Mr. MoncCeL: A conflict?

Mr. NUGENT: Yes.

Mr. MonceL: Yes, I think there was. First of all, the White Paper was a
really splendid document, a courageous document, and one that I wish I had
written. It was the first decent sign that I had seen in some thirty odd years that

the role of the forces might be organized in the light of what we had committed
ourselves to.

I wrote, I suppose, three or four parts of other White Papers but they always
came out, after the event, as a neat catalogue of the splendid things we had done,
and really were not worth the paper they were written on.

This was the first time that a White Paper had been produced in advance,
saying “This is what we are going to do”. It was very good.

It is an excellent paper provided people do not try to interpret it as a Holy
Book. The intent was there and I think it was very good—splendid. It was wrong
in about two, principal things, I suppose. First, to translate the White Paper into
the force that it called for required, by all my calculations, a force of 150,000 at a
budget of $2,000,000,064 accruing at 5 per cent. I could never do for less than
that what the White Paper said could be done. Secondly, it grossly over-estimat-

ed the amount of fat that allegedly was there to be trimmed.
25812—2}
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We have not been completely stupid for the last 25 years. There are some
very, very able people in both the civil and military side who are very much
aware of the need for economy in the forces. I think this was the fundamental
flaw in the Paper. You can do all the kinds of fancy footwork you want to and
jump around and say: We will do this and with the same forces we can do this
and that. That is fine, providing nobody calls your bluff and asks you to do two
things at the same time. Then you are in trouble.

.~ Mr. NuGeNT: Perhaps this would be the appropriate time to deal with your
second point of very high speed. In this search for any fat that might exist and to
trim it off, I imagine that at times are going to make a real effort it requires a
certain amount of imagination and a certain amount of appraisal of the an-
ticipated results, and that when it is being done, there must be a careful plan and
a careful appraisal afterwards. Would it be a fair commentary on your statement
about very high speed that there was not sufficient planning, not sufficient care,
or that some or all of these steps were being proceeded with a little too
recklessly?

-Mr. MoncEL: I cquld see my way through the need and the requirement to
move quite quickly into phase one of this the process of integration, where we
had to pull the staff together and get the thing launched. I was quite prepared
for it and quite confident that the staff we had could cope with this, The first
eight months’ work that we did from about 1964 on was really splendid. Spirit
was very high and we had a very, very strong and very, very able staff. In that
eight months we brought off a near-miracle.

What we needed was about five years to digest it. Changing policy is a
cinch. It takes about three “chaps” with pencils to change it. My job always was
to translate that policy into reality. My experience has been that with a force of
about 150,000 odd strong to run a major change through the machine, to get the
result back, and to polish it and refine it and to get it in reasonable shape, takes
about three to four years.

This may seem ponderous, and sound as though we were rather stupid, but
it took about that long to introduce something, particularly if it was geared to
the commitments involved. :

I was well aware of the fact that the White Paper said that unification was
the ultimate end. That was fine. There was nothing wrong with it as an aim.
There was nothing wrong with it all; and it may be that had they been given the
time it might not have taken five years; it ought have taken three or four years
in which a plot could have been evolved and the commitments altered to make
unification fit like a glove without all this nonsense and trouble that we have
had.

One-third of the way through the process of trying to straighten out this
traumatic experience of the rebuilding we suddenly were told, “You have now
got to unify by the end of centennial year,”, or whenever it was. I thought it was
wrong, and did the only thing I could do, having exhausted every other possibili-
ty.

Mr. NUGeNT: I have a point on which I would like clarification. Many have
left. You told us that when this started you had a very good staff, and that the
spirit was high and that morale was high, even in the top echelons. Would you
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say that they were completely loyal and pulling as hard as they could to try to
make the policy work to the best of their ability?

Mr. MonceL: Certainly, certainly; they could not have accomplished the
results they did without this spirit.

What you must understand is that you have a splendid, highly-trained
organization. In fact, if it has a weakness, it is that it is too highly trained and too
obedient. It can, if necessary, write and carry out a plan to destroy itself.

Mr. NUGENT: General, it is that splendid organization that now, for all
practical purposes, has disappeared, is it not?

Mr. MonceL: I did not say that.

Mr. NUGENT: Most of the key personnel that were there at that time h.ave
been displaced and are now out of the services completely or shifted around into
less responsible positions, are they not?

Mr. MoNceL: Not most; some may have been. There is still a very, very able

staff who say in public that they can carry this out, and my constant prayer and
hope is that, if they are going to do it, they can.

Mr. NUuGeNT: Would the members of that staff feel it to be theu' duty, as you
did, to advise the Minister, or to make sure that those responsible are aware, of
their misgivings, or to make known what, boom their own military skill and

judgment, was a basic failure and bring it forward with the hope that it would
be corrected?

Mr. MoNceL: You would have to ask them. I do not know.

Mr. NUGeNT: Well, were you aware at any time among the people you were
dealing with, of any dragging of the feet, or reluctance to discuss the practical
realities of trying to bring this about?

Mr. MonceL: There was no dragging of feet and no reluctance on anybody’s
part.

Mr. NUGENT: Did these people talk quite frankly to you and to the Defence

Staff generally about some of the practical difficulties and day-to-day problems
as they arose?

Mr. MonceL: Of course they did; this is the essence of their business.

Mr. NUuGenNT: I am also interested in your remark abbut moving on an

uncharted course. To me, that has a connotatlon of not sufficient planning.
Would it be fair to say that?

Mr. MoncEL: Yes. As I tried to explain previously, I think we went off into
the first phase of integration with the idea that we were going to produce a
single staff. This I thought we could make work, and I think we did. Then we
were going to look at every conceivable element of the force, and where it made
sense, in the light of our commitments, to combine them into one we were going
to do it. In many cases we did this and these were good things. -

The internal communication system in Canada, for example, needed a
thorough overhaul. We had been trying to overhaul it for 15 years. We suddenly
had our opportunity. We made that into one. This is a good thing. It did not
affect our commitments; in fact, it tied in with our commitments. We were
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progressing quite merrily down this line of approach which I think was sound
and which I thoroughly supported.

Mr. NUGENT: In this attempt to integrate command where you could, and
where there would be an advantage, would there not be some instances where an
integrated command, after a careful review and weighing of all the circumstan-
ces, would decide, “No, this is one place where we cannot have a unified
command”?

Mr. MoNcCEL: Oh, certainly. With whom, for example, are you going to
integrate Air Transport Command? There is nobody to integrate it with.

Mr. NUGeNT: I know that question sounded silly but it bore some relation to
the Minister’s statement that the end result of integration is unification. I wanted
to try to indicate that although integration is a progressive performance, and you
can find many places where it operates, that does not necessarily mean that
integration works everywhere or that it has no other logical end but unification?

Mr. MoONCEL: Precisely; and as I tried to explain to one of the other
inquisitors this depends entirely on your commitments. Give me a pencil and a
scratch pad and I will write you a commitment for the country which will
generate the need for a unified force. It is very simple. But with your current
commitments you do not want one. In fact, it is better that you do not have one.

Mr. NUGENT: The reason for the high morale, the enthusiasm and the
tremendous amount of work done by the staff when you started this was simply
that you were doing those things which you thought made the Canadian armed
forces more suitable for, and better able to carry out, our commitments and
because you were making strides towards reducing costs?

Mr. MoNCEL: Precisely.

Mr. NuUGENT: Your disillusionment began—and correct me if I am
wrong—when you found that the end goal of unification was going to mean that
Canada’s policies or commitments must necessarily be changed to fit the Min-
ister’s idea of unification.

Mr. MoNCEL: No, no, no; that is wrong.
Mr. NUGENT: Or could only work, then, if the commitments were changed.

Mr. MonceL: I became distressed because we were moving too quickly,
without an adequate plan, into the final phase of unification.

Mr. NUGENT: Did you ever hear of a plan of unification?
Mr. MoNcEL: I wrote them,
Mr. NUGENT: When?

Mr. MoncEL: I wrote at least four, I suppose, one of which I liked; and the
one they selected was the one I rejected out of hand.

Mr. NUGENT: I think it was Admiral Landymore—or maybe it was Admiral
Brock,—who said that he got the feeling that the tail was wagging the dog; that,
in other words, you must consider your foreign policy, and therefore, your
defence policy to fit in with it, and then reorganize your forces to carry out that

policy.
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I gather from your testimony, and from the way you have stressed it, that if
you change the commitment you can do it. Are you not saying, in effect, what
Brock has said, that the action of the Minister in moving so precipitously towards

unification is going to necessitate a change in defence policy to make any sense at
all?

Mr. MoncEL: I do not know what Brock said; and I am not a dog. I do not
know how it feels to be wagged by one’s tail.

If you press this thing forward your commitments must obviously vary with
what the force is capable of doing. If you press a unified force through to its
conclusion, you are going to have to drop some commitments, or change them.

Mr. NuGeNT: Well, General, I guess you disagreed with my wording. You
have just agreed with me in principle, anyhow.

Mr. MonNcEeL: I am sorry if I seem to be nit-picking.

Mr. NUGENT: You said that if they unified the force properly there would be
no trouble. When you say “unify properly”, do you mean you should change your

commitment to make sure that your unification fits your commitment, and that
that is the only way to go about it?

Mr. MonNcEL: Yes, essentially that is it; and, having done that, for goodness’
sake do it properly. Do not waltz in with this “wishy-washy” idea, a sort of
Oscar Wildean approach where you are Jack in the country and Ernest in town,

and wear an admiral’s uniform at night and are called a colonel at sea, and this
sort of nonsense.

There are only two ways in which you can possibly do it. You either build
the thing in the form of the army, namely, a system of corps—and this is
possible, providing you change the commitments—or you do it the way the navy

and the air force are organized, where you have a single service which is built
into a series of branches.

The two are really very much alike, except that within the army corps
system you have much more formal recognition of the corps approach. For
example, it would be quite possible to take the Canadian Medical Services and
form them into the Royal Canadian Medical Corps. Dentists have been serving
aboard carriers for years, just as do soldiers. Nobody ever worried about it;
nobody ever liked him any better because of the fact that he was a dentist; but
he was there. This kind of thing you can do.

The alternative is to form a new force—a Canadian force—provided your
commitments will permit of this. Then what you should do, if you are sensible,
is to hitch up with some organization. We cannot go this alone. We have had help
and advice and support, worth millions and millions of dollars to the Canadian
taxpayer, from the British army, the British navy, the British air force, and from
their opposite numbers in the United States. We have lent on these people, far,
far, far more than most people seem to realize; we are a very, very small
organization. In the U.S. they spend more on their retirement pensions for senior
officers than we do in our whole national defence budget. This is a very big
organization, and the amount of assistance, advice, and help, in every sense that
we get from these people is something that you do not want to throw overboard.

Likewise, from our close association with these people—and this may not
sound very Canadian, but I think it is a fact that we should face up to—we have
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drawn a tremendous amount of strength—strength that has sustained us in
battle, and sustained us in organization. These were good things.

I say that if you want to form a wholly Canadian force, that is all right, but
try to link it with something whereby we can continue this extremely useful and
fruitful series discussions on a service-to-service basis with our friends in other
countries.

Mr. NUGENT: General, in view of your remark about how much we have
been leaning on them, would you care to make a comment on the Minister’s
suggestion that now that we are the world leaders they will all get behind and
follow our marvellous system?

Mr. MoNcEL: He keeps saying this. I kept telling them that this was not so;
but he persists in it.

Mr. NUGENT: I will finish in the next round, Mr. Chairman; thank you very
much.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lambert?

Mr. LAMBERT: Mr. Chairman, I want to go back to 1964, to the organization
of the planning staff and your original staff following the passage of Bill No.
C-90. It has been suggested by a number of critics who have commented on the
military situation that the organization at that time was not the proper one; that
the framework of a Commander in Chief vis-a-vis the Minister was the only
contact, and that anyone below, either with a service interest or a branch
interest, had to pass through the Commander in Chief; that, in other words,
there was no Defence Council. No serving officers at the time were asked to
testify how they felt about this organization.

Mr. MoNcEeL: If they said this it is quite wrong. I sat on the Defence Council,
and we heard lots of “chaps” giving vent to their views on it.

Mr. LAMBERT: In the light of your experience of the framework, have you
any comments to make about it?

Mr. MoNcEL: The staff here at headquarters?
- Mr, LAMBERT: Yes?

Mr. MoNcEL: I think the basic structure is about right. You cannot do much
better than have the three basic branches of operations, or general staff, or
whatever you want to call it, and the personnel and the technical sides. I think
any organization you dream up is going to end up with those sort of three pillars.

The comptroller side of it is relatively new, and I will possibly say some-
thing about that later.

I think that the weakness of the system—and I think you have to start at the
top in this—is Defence Council itself. It is not a council. It may be called that.
but it really is not. At the moment it is chaired by the Minister, as chief, with the
vice-chief on the military side, as Associate Minister, the Deputy Minister and
the Chairman of the Defence Research Board, essentially, as members, plus a
representative from External Affairs, and whatever experts you want to bring
into it. 1

~* The weakness of it at the moment is that it is not a real council, and
thousands and thousands of hours are buried. The best possible military argu-
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ments that we can produce are buried in the minutes of that organization under
the phrase: “After some considerable discussion the Minister directed...”

Mr. LAMBERT: May I interrupt? Am I right that the Defence Council does
not have the power of decision; that it is merely an advisory body?

Mr. MonceL: The Defence Council, as such, is in name only. It is the
Minister. Defence council decisions are signed out in the Minister’s name.

Now, if I were going to do it, and I am not—it is wonderful when you are
not really responsible; you can come forthwith all kinds of wild ideas—but if I
were going to do it, I think that I would increase the military advice on the
Defence Council. I would have a Defence Council; that would be essential. I
would crganize it along this line: I would have a chief, as they have now, and a
vice-chief; and then I would produce three—and you can invent any name you

want for them—absolute environmental experts—a sailor, a soldier and an
airman.

I would make the Defence Council directly responsible to the cabinet
defence committee. I realize that this is not done in any other government
department, but this is not an ordinary department. I would make this Defence

Council collectively responsible for the well-being and effectiveness of the
Canadian armed forces.

When this Defence Council ran into a problem involving a severe clash
between various elements of it the Council would be instructed to bring its
differences to the cabinet defence committee. Then, if the people who were
dissenting had a chance to say their piece they would then have the same option
as I had—either of coming out of the room smiling, saying “That is the greatest
decision that has ever been made”, or of resigning. But at least they would have
had an opportunity to speak out on these major issues without having to resign,
or before they resigned. That is the first change T would make.

The next change I would make is that I would disband the comptroller
general’s organization. This is a military anachronism. I would put a civilian in
charge; in fact, I would put the deputy minister in charge of this. As comntroller
general you have all the controls of money and manpower that you possibly
need. At the moment there is complete duplication between the deputy minister’s
office and the comptroller general’s office. All the deputy minister’s office did in
my day, when I was Comptroller General, was to generate work for me. It was
not productive. We maintained two sets of books, and two sets of everything. We
were administrated out of our wits. You have an awful 1ot of soldiers, sailors and
airmen—highly trained “chaps”—wasting their time on this business.

That is roughly what I would do.

Mr. LAMBERT: To continue, there followed the planning of, bringing in and
setting up of the different branches—that is, the functional command-—and then
there were the changes in command. From your experience, where did the
machine tend to go out of step? I use that phrase advisedly, because both you
and your successor in office as comptroller general, General Fleury, have told us
that integration would require three, perhaps five years really to shake down
into the efficient type of machine that you wanted. Where did any of these partl
of the machine start to get get out of step?

Mr. MonceL: It got out of step in the one critical and vital area. The way
you run the military is that you tell the chief what you want; the chief in turn
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tells his staff to crank it out; and the staff and the chief in turn tell the
commanders. The key to telling people is that you must know what you are
talking about and you must never lie to them. There has to be, and there always
has been, complete confidence between the commanders in the field and the staff
and officers. Nobody wants to come to Ottawa; I think one would much rather be
out in the field; but it has to be done.

Where it broke down was, when communication with our commanders was
taken out of our hands. We began to read policy in the newspapers. We had a
fellow called a defence spokesman—I do not know whether he is called that or
not—who did information services—a fellow called Bourgeois, a first class chap.
I suppose on 50 occasions I called him as a result of some statement in the
newspapers about what we were going to do. I would say: “Bourgeois, who said
it?, and he said “I do not know”. We were then put in the position that you
would speak to a commander one day and tell him something with the best
possible intention, and you would be denied in print the next. After a few
months of this we became gun-shy. The result was that you did not speak to the
commanders; you did not dare tell them anything because you did not know.
When Landymore, as somebody told me, said that communications broke down
and he thought the Defence Staff had lost their heads, I do not blame him. Had I
been a commander in the field at that time I would have quit long ago.

They destroyed this fundamental piece of communication. They destroyed
the confidence of the commanders in their staffs, and, God knows, we lost
confidence in ourselves. That is where it went wrong.

Mr. LAMBERT: You had been comptroller general. Were you satisfied, as a
result of the planning, that you were saving in personnel, and that you were
saving in cost with your new command structures? You have far more expert
knowledge in this matter than any of us. Can you tell us where you feel that
there was saving or where there was not?

Mr. MoncEL: There are obvious savings as you reduce personnel. The combi-
nation of personnel and overhead constitutes your principal costs. Obviously, if
you reduce personnel you save money. All the savings we made, really, were
because the personnel ran out too fast; hence, we had money to burn.

Mr. LAMBERT: When you say the personnel ran out too fast, do you mean
that they left or that they transferred out to the field?

Mr. MonceL: No; I mean that they left the service.
Mr. LAMBERT: I see.

o ool:)(r. MonceL: We were supposed to drop 10,000, I believe, and we dropped

Mr. LAMBERT: And that is how you saved money?

Mr. MoNcEL: Yes; it is as simple as that.

Mr. LAMBERT: It has been said—and this may be right or it may be wrong,
but I want to see whether you were aware of it, or of any similar type
thinx—tha.t with a field commander such as Maritime Command, dealing with,
say, Training Command, there was a great deal of excessive running back and

forth and no direct line of communication. As an example, prior to integration
some 17 people were in charge of naval training at headquarters, and now, under
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Training Command, there are 65, and there are still some people at heasiqugr-
ters. Is this an unfair assessment, or are you aware of other things of this kind
having crept into this type of organization?

Mr. MoNceL: You have got to be careful with this. The navy was a very
different organization from the other two, and there is no doubt that it did
things in an extraordinarily economic way. It was likened by some people—and
the sailors would shoot me for this—to sort of a corner grocery store compared to
Steinberg’s. They did a tremendous amount of things with one “chap”. You
wore about 17 hats. It was extraordinarily effective, and very efficient. I
think they were more upset by this sort of a switch than were the other people.

I think they had the right idea in Training Command, but here again, as
with so many other things, it got out of hand. The original plot was that there
was probably a very, very good case to be made for taking the raw input from
civilian street and having some form of a joint, unified, training system for his ab
initio, or basic, training. This is probably a very good thing, and there are
demonstrable economies that could be effected this way.

I think that for the next few years it should have stayed just like that. But
suddenly—boom—off it went, and generated into what is apt to become a
monster if you are not careful, in that you lose the intimate supervision of the
training class by the people who are going to receive the output.

I do not think that there is any lack of communication between the two
commands at all, but I think that there are bound to be a certain number of
growing pains, and I think this ought to be taken into consideration.

Mr. LAMBERT: To come down to my last question: Looking at the forces as
they stand today, and accepting our commitments as they are, what, in your
considered opinion, is the time that we should take to test this framework that
we now have before going further?

Mr. MoncEL: I do not think it would be fair to put a time limit on it. It
depends entirely on your commitments. As your commitments change so will
your force; and, of course, force-requirements are going to change.

The planning heads have got to keep their wits about them and stay on top
of this. It must be a progressive thing all the time, towards the most effective
Canadian defence force. This is the object of the exercise; it is not unification.
Surely the object must be to have the most effective Canadian defence force.

If, in the process of this system, you can prove—and I do not think that—
we can at the moment—that the most effective way is to unify in relation
to your commitments, then that is the time; so long as you understand that you
are not going to be able to destroy the independent ability of the force to
operate, and so long as you understand at that stage that you are not going to
suddenly generate a requirement for an un-integrated force, or an un-unified
force; because once you have unified it you are not going to un-unify it.

Mr. LamserT: Is it fair to say that a unified force, with that limited
objective, in the end becomes more rigid—

Mr. MoNcCEL: Of course they must.
Mr. LAMBERT: —than what we now have?
Mr. MoNCEL: Absolutely; it must.
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Mr. LAMBERT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. MacLean?

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): Some of the questions that I propose to ask have
been asked in part. I will try to avoid repetition, but I am afraid I will not be
able to do that entirely.

In your opinion, sir, up to the point at which you left the service do you
think that there was sufficient advance planning of the desired end in each case
of the stages of integration so that the services were able to retain a posture
which would allow them to react to an emergency if one arose—some unex-
pected thing? Or was there, in your judgment, a military risk involved, whether
great or small, which was perhaps unacceptable from a military point of view,
if such a situation suddenly arose?

: Mr. MonceL: I do not think it is fair to suggest that these risks were taken
or were tolerated. We were obviously very, very conscious of this possibility, and
took elaborate steps, to make sure that we did not expose ourselves to this. We
were equally conscious of the fact that the climate, internationally, and so on, did
not look too bad from the point of view that if you were going to do it this was a
good time. But the risks we took were very, very marginal indeed, and I think
they were quite justified.

Mr. MAacLEAN (Queens): Whether or not the climate at the present time is a
safe time to take the risk—if I can use that contradiction, and so phrase
it—would be a political decision rather than a military one, would it not?

; Mr. MoncEL: Ultimately, they all are; I think that this was a considered,
military thing.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): With regard to Materiel Command, the unified
supply system, I understood you to say that the three old supply systems were
still functioning up to at least some point in time. How long will it take for the
combined Materiel Command to reach the point at which it will be completely
dependable for the purposes of the services generally?

Mr. MoNcEL: I do not think that as it is currently set up and currently
organized you will ever get it to that stage.

Mr. MAcLEAN (Queens): Well, to an acceptable stage?

Mr. MoncEeL: I do not think that you will ever get it to an acceptable stage. I
will tell you why. It sounds great, when you say it quickly, to have one
co-ordinated logistics system. If you look at the quantitative side of the holdings,
numerically there are a great number of common items. When you analyse what
these common items are, they are boots, shoelaces, socks, underwear and non-
sense like that. If you take a look at the dollar value, very little is common. They
have nothing in common with ships’ turbines, aircraft engines, and tanks.
Numerically these are relatively small in your holdings, but in a dollar value
these are the bulk of your holdings. What you have got to ensure, all through
the piece, is that you do not lose the expert management of the environmental
items.

Now, as I understand it, at the moment you have a soldier in charge of
technical services. I know him well—and he is a dear “chap”: and you have a
soldier in charge of Material Command-—also a dear “chap’”. They are both
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splendid soldiers, with splendid records, but they know as much about ships as I
know about being an astronaut. You do not have a high enough level of
specialized technical advice built into it to give you decent advice. Your technical
advice used to be there in very strong technical branches. Now they are destroy-
ing this.

This is why I say that under the current system, it will not work.

We went through exactly the same thing—fortunately we saw it quickly
enough to stop it—on my side of the house, the operational side. We went
through a most agonizing period of about four months when the whole theme of
the thing—and it looked great, too; in any room you went into there were three
people—you had a soldier, a sailor, and an airman, and everybody shouting
together—and this looked splendid; but I suddenly found, to my horror, that
soldier staff officers, who knew a great deal about the army, were staying awake
hours at night trying to learn something about an air force problem to brief me
on it. We had sailors trying to brief me on army problems, and we had airmen
trying to brief me on some other problems. This became patent nonsense.

I am always reminded of when we took over from the British a military
academy in one of these newly-emergent countries some years ago. The com-
mandant of this academy was to be a member of the newly emergent nation.
This was a good thing. He had watched his British forerunner very very closely
for years, and he knew that every morning at a quarter to nine this chap used to
arrive at the office, immaculately dressed, with a stick under his left arm. He
went into the office, and at a quarter past twelve sharp, every day, he came out
of the office, went into the mess and had a pink gin. He had lunch, read the
newspaper, and at a quarter past two he went back to the office; and at half past
four he left. '

Now, this new chap, from this newly emergent nation, had this drill down
absolutely cold. He arrived precisely at a quarter to nine, with a stick under his
arm, and he walked into the office. He came out at a quarter past twelve, went
into the mess, and had a pink gin, and so on. He followed that ritual perfectly,
but he did not know what to do inside the office. He never saw what the “chap”
did when he got the door closed. He was lost.

In precisely the same way we wasted hours, so we finally changed it and put
it on the much more rational basis where a soldier dealt with military problems
in the army sense; when you wanted some naval advice you got hold of a sailor.
Everybody was much relieved, got some sleep, and were back on ground that
they understood.

Now, I am saying that roughly the same thing can happen in a mixed
materiel service if you are not careful.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): This leads me to another brief question. What is
your opinion on whether or not there has been a waste of energy in manpower
in the way that the re-organization, which has been required up until now has
been done? Was the optimum time allotted for it with a view to doing it as
efficiently as possible, or were there cases where the time allotted was too short,
and in the end there was wasted effort because of a crash program?

Mr. MonceL: No, I do not think it would be fair to say that, up to the time I
left. Of course, all planners would like to have more time, and I think it is
necessary for the people in charge occasionally to apply the lash and say, “Get on
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u_rith it”, and get it done. Up to the stage that I left, essentially we were given
time to do what we were doing.

Mr. MacLEAN (Queens): In your judgment do you believe that a unified
force, compared to three forces each in their own element, can as readily meet
our commitments, working with our allies in NATO and NORAD, and so on?
With a unified force will the meshing of the Canadian contribution be done as
easily as if the organization were on the same basis as are our allies?

Mr. MoNcCEL: Actually, it is much easier if it is on the same basis as that of
our allies, if you have these commitments to work with them.

Mr. MACLEAN (Queens): Yes.

Mr. MoNcEL: If you do not have commitments to work with them then there
is no need to set up that kind of a force, If you want a unified force that somehow
is going to call up a need for a seagoing element that is essentially a transport
element, that it fine—write your commitments accordingly; but do not then turn
around and say that you want a fighting, deep-sea navy next week because you
will not get it.

What people have got to understand is that in the fighting portion of the
force—and this is the core of the thing—you cannot hire commanders off the
street. You cannot put an ad in the Financial Post and say “I would like
somebody to command a destroyer squadron”, no matter how much money you
put out. You have got to grow these people; you have got to train them; and_ it
takes a very long time. We have very slim resources in this regard—very slim
indeed. The thought of Brock and Landymore mucking around with cows and
lobster traps down in Mahone Bay, Nova Scotia, just fills me with despair. You
have spent millions of dollars on these men—millions—and you cannot buy
them. There are too few resources. You can hire doctors, lawyers, dentists,
architects—you can get them off the street—but you cannot hire fighting officers.
You have to grow them; and grow them to that stage and then lob them

off—well. ..

Mr. MacLEAN (Queens): Do you believe that our opportunity to -gain fro{n
the experience and resources of our allies, which you mentioned some time ago in
reply to a previous question—chiefly, Great Britain and the United States——.wﬂl
be lessened if we have an entirely different organization in the form of a unified

force?

Mr. MonceL: Of course, it will. I will give you an example. When I was
vice-chief there was a large and important conference down in the United States,
which the vice-chief of the air staff would normally have attended. I went off
and I was greeted extremely politely by the U.S. Air Force. I knew a lot of them
by name, but we could not talk business.

Now, if I had not gone myself, as the vice-chief, who was I going to send?
My next available senior air force officer was an air commodore and he would
not have cut much ice in that league.

There is an association that has been built up between the Defence Staff and
between Navy here, the RN, and the USN—and the same applies in all three
services—where you have grown up with these people all your lives; you know
them all on a first-name basis. You are going to lose that very quickly.

Another meeting that I did not go to—and I deliberately did not go—was an
army conference in the United Kingdom, which, again, the vice chief of the
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general staff would normally have gone to. I said that I would not go, because I
might have been an airman and it would be stupid to send an airman or the vice
chief might be an airman—and indeed the vice chief was an airman. Therefore,
we had to look for somebody senior enough to go. We had to go out into the
commands where we found a general, and sent him—a very able fellow—but he
was the wrong man. He was a “chap” who was busy training troops in the field.
He was not au fait with the policy work that was being done here.

We had to drag him in and give him forced briefings sort of over night, and
we sent him off, looking a little harried, to go and represent us at an army
conference.

You see, it becomes silly. If you carry on this way you are bound to lose
these contacts, because you no longer go to school together and you no longer
attend exercises together; and you cannot get the level up unless you produce
some form of environmental expertise. This is what I mentioned previously to
Mr. Lambert: Get three environmental experts on the defence staff and then you
have people who you can hope will maintain this contact for you.

Mr. MacLEAN (Queens): I have a question related to this, which I jotted
down, with special reference to Maritime Command. Do you believe that the
Maritime forces under unification will have an opportunity to have their needs,

and their experience and their resources adequately expressed and considered at
command headquarters?

Mr. MonceL: I would like to have that again. I am sure you have a point but
I am not getting it.

Mr. MacLEAN (Queens): Is there a sufficiently clear channel of communica-
tion from what would be Maritime Command—in effect, the entire Navy plus
part of the Air Force—on the experience they gain as they go along, from new
developments and so forth, and with regard to their needs and their general
requirements for equipment and so on? Can communication be sufficient be-
tween Maritime Command and Defence Headquarters if you do not have in
Defence Headquarters a senior officer who is an expert in that environment?

Mr. MonceL: Yes; the communication could not be simpler. It is straight
forward. The Commander of Maritime Command talks directly to the Defence
Staff. The problem at the other end is to interpret what he is saying.

Mr. MAcCLEAN (Queens): Well, that is my question.

Mr. MoncEL: You have not got this under the present system. I do not think
that you have sufficient talent to really interpret what he is trying to say. If you
want to get expert advice you have to go away down, and you are putting

“chaps” of the major level against “chaps” of the general level. It is very
difficult.

Mr. MacLEaN (Queens): This is my final question, sir. I, as you, do not
agree that integration has only one possible place to end, which is complete
unification—I do not go along with that at all—but if complete unification comes
about, and it is then found to be completely, or partially, unsuited to our
commitments, is this process of unification easily reversed?

Mr. MoNCEL: No, sir. You are in dire troub’e if you start this. I have tried to
make this point on three occasions now. If you want a unified force you tailor
your commitments to fit it, and, having done so, do not then go and change your
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commitments in a hurry, because you cannot do it. It is a very long process, and
during this unifying period—and I do not know how long it is going to last, if it
does—you are not going to be training anybody for the other roles. There is no
need to train people. In a time like this, when the military are working under
these conditions it is not good for the military at all, and when you are so
conscious of trying to save everything you are inclined to lose sight of what you
are training for and you tend to organize towards efficient peacetime administra-
tion. This is a most extravagant and uneconomical business. There is no profit in
it. If there was, General Motors would run it.

This is not a profit-making organization, believe me. It is a very extrava-
gant organization. What you have to constantly bear in mind is that you organize
and train to fight—nothing else. If you train for anything else you are finished.

We very nearly ruined the army about six or ten years ago when we had
this rush of blood to the head on national survival. The whole object of this
exercise was a type of role where we were going to go and dig my Aunt Millie
out of the Nova Scotia Hotel. We very nearly ruined the force because we started
to train for something other than to fight. Fortunately, we caught it in time and
we did not.

This is what you have to be careful of. If you start to train for some highly
specialized role you become quite expert in it, but you cannot do anything else.
You should never overlook this basic principle: The forces are there to fight—
nothing else.

Now, if you do not want forces, that is fine, and this whole argument
becomes useless, If you want forces, and if you have them for anything else but
to fight, you are making a mistake. They must be trained this way and organ-
ized this way, and they must be commanded, not managed.

Mr. BREWIN: General Moncel, I wanted to ask you to elaborate a little on the
White Paper. I think you said that it had two major defects, as you saw it, and I
wonder if I understood at least one of them, correctly. The White Paper contem-
plated the maintenance of the existing commitments that Canada was involved
in, or, the existing roles—I think that is a better word than “commitments”.
“Commitments” implies that you have agreed to do it indefinitely; a “role” is
something that you are doing. Now, as I understand it, the White Paper proposed
the maintenance of a series of existing commitments—the brigade, the air
division, the anti-submarine forces, the air defence, and so on; and it proposed
continuing those without any apparent change and certainly with no early, or
definite change. It also proposed, as I understand it, the creation of a mobile
force, this intervention force, or whatever you want to call it.

Do I correctly understand you to say that if we are going to do all of these
things this would involve a budget in excess of two billion dollars a year?

Mr. MoNCEL: Yes, sir.

Mr, BREWIN: So that if you are going to accept a ceiling on the budget of,
say, what we have now, which is approximately $1.5 billion, something has to
give?

Mr. MoNCEL: Precisely.

Mr. BREWIN: You have to make a choice on whether you are going to expand
your mobile role or cut out some of the other roles. Is that correct?
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Mr. MonceL: Yes. This is the alternative.

Mr. BREWIN: Am I not right in my assumption from what you have said so
far that this White Paper policy is still being continued by the Minister, or by the

government, namely, the maintenance of existing roles plus the development of
this intervention force?

Mr. MonceL: I am not up to date now. I am six or seven months out of date.
I think this is something that you had better ask the Minister. These roles, as I
understood them at the time the White Paper was written, were the sum-total of
the commitments plus this new and desired role. In short, we were going to do

everything that we had been doing before, plus. This is why I say, you require
more forces rather than fewer.

Whether or not the government is continuing with these commitments, or is
not negotiating, is not for me to say. I do not know.

Mr. BREwIN: No; I appreciate that.

May I put it to you this way: As I understand it, it is your view that
unification of the services makes no sense as long as we continue with the roles
that we have at the present time.

Mr. MonNcEL: That is right.

Mr. BREWIN: For example, if I may draw you out with a few examples, if,
you have an army brigade group in Europe as it is now integration is meaning-
less, or, indeed, harmful, because it creates disturbance in that it does not make
any useful contribution to what we are doing in our brigade group now?

Mr. MoncEeL: Not “integration”.

Mr. BREWIN: I meant to say “unification”. I am sorry.

Mr. MonceL: Yes. Who are you going to unify it with?

Mr. BREWIN: Precisely; and is not the same true of the air division?
Mr. MoNcEL: Precisely.

Mr. BREwWIN: I suppose one could go through some of the other roles. The

anti-submarine role of the Navy—how are you going to integrate that when it is
basically a naval role?

Mr. MonNceL: That is right. I just do not know the answer to it. This is why I
fault it here.

Mr. BREwiN: But I understand you also to say that if for various reasons,
partly political and partly military, you decide that it is necessary to concentrate
on this sort of intervention force then unification begins to make some sense?

Mr. MONCEL: Yes.

Mr. BREWIN: Therefore, the real choice that we have to make, as a nation,
and that we are responsible for making in Parliament, in the matter of making
sense out of unification, is whether we are going to continue the roles that we
have or concentrate on this mobile intervention force?

Mr. MONCEL: Yes.

Mr. BRewIN: I understand you to say that you think there is a great risk

involved in concentrating on the mobile force because you contemplate the
25812—3
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possibility that at some later date we might want to switch back to do some of
the things we have done previously, and this would be virtually impossible.

Mr. MoncEL: Yes. My job used to be to try and hedge the bets, and every
time I was told we were not going to have any commitments for the next five
years, as I think my book shows, almost invariably, within six months, I was sort
of just sent somewhere else. This is what you have to be careful of. You have to
be careful of this peacekeeping role, per se. The types whom you are possibly
going to have to go and intervene between are a far cry from the bare-bottomed
“chaps” that we used to go and chase around. These new, emerging countries are
equipped on a scale that makes us toe the line.

Mr. BREWIN: We would have to be prepared, I presume—

Mr. MoncEL: That is right. Do not look at it from the point of view of having
an easy run.

Mr. BREWIN: —to use pretty vigorous methods. It would not be just a case
of waving a flag in their faces.

Mr. MoNcEL: That is right.
Mr. LANIEL: Could I ask a supplementary question?

Mr. BREWIN: Yes; although, I hope you do not interfere with my line of
thought.

Mr, LANIEL: General, from what you have just said I imagine that you do
not agree with Admiral Brock. . .

Mr. MoNcEL: It would not be the first time.

Mr. LANIEL: ...that the Canadian soldiers in Gaza, Cyprus and other trou-
bled spots in the world have not done a good job in quelling insurrections, or
things like that.

Mr. MoncEL: I cannot believe that he said that.

Mr. LANIEL: He is dealing with the merits of the peacekeeping role, and on
page 3 of this document that he prepared for some group he says that:
The past performance of the United Nations in reducing world ten-
sions, in confining areas of world conflict or in quel'ing national insurrec-
tions of potential danger has not been, too distinguished.

Mr. MonceL: I would agree 100 percent with him. I do not think this
suggests for a moment that our soldiers have not been doing their job.

Mr, BREWIN: May I go back to this question of the different roles? Would
you agree, General Moncel—in fact, I think you already have—that this is partly
a political consideration.

Mr. MoNcEL: Entirely a political consideration.

Mr. BREWIN: It necessitates, for example, trying to assess what sort of wars
or disturbances are most likely to occur.

Mr. MoNCEL: Yes.

Mr. BREWIN: It also involves, I suggest to you, consideration of what our
allies are equipped to do and are likely to do. Do you agree that there is not
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much point in our re-enforcing something that they can do very well already? Is
this not part of the consideration?

Mr. MonceL: Of course it must be. I have been told that you have a lovely
line of questioning that runs on and on and when you come to the climax, and

after I have said yes to everything, you ask me another question. I would like to
know what you are after?

Mr. BREwIN: I am afraid I am not in a position to tell you what I am after. I
will go back once again to this question of the role. Do you not have to look
across the whole defence spectrum, if I may use that expression, and find out
what a country in Canada’s position is most likely to be required to do and what
it can most usefully do within its resources.

Mr. MonceL: This is the constant job of the planners. We have this under
constant review.

Mr. BRewin: It is a job, I suggest, that has to take into account political
considerations as well as Canada’s resources.

Mr. MonNcEL: And very elaborate machinery exists to ensure that this is
done.

Mr. BREWIN: I am afraid that perhaps I have not asked the question that you
anticipated.

Mr. MonceL: I am disappointed; I was wondering what it was going to be.

Mr. DEaAcHMAN: General Moncel, I brought along a copy of the Canadian
Army Staff College Journal called Snow Owl—not a bad name for a day like

this—1965-66, which has in it an article by you entitled “Integration”. Do you
remember this article?

Mr. MoNcEL: They published it, did they?

Mr. DEACHMAN: I might say that they not only published it but they have it

as the first article in the book and it is accompanied by a very fine picture of
yourself. '

Mr. MonceL: Thank you. I wish they had sent me a copy of it.

Mr. DeaceMaN: I want to ask some questions and review with you some of
the things that you said in this article in the light of the circumstances as we find
them today.

Early in the article you said:

It is important that we understand the significance of what has
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